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PART I

Item 1. Business.



Deluxe Corporation was incorporated under the laws of the State of Minnesota in 1920. From 1920 until 1988 our company was named Deluxe Check Printers, Incorporated. Our
principal corporate offices are located at 3680 Victoria Street North, Shoreview, Minnesota 55126-2966. Our main telephone number is (651) 483-7111.

COMPANY OVERVIEW

We provide a wide range of personalized printed products and services to small businesses, financial institutions and consumers. Our two largest product groups are checks and
business forms.

We are the largest provider of checks in the United States, both in terms of revenue and the number of checks produced. We provide check printing and related services for
approximately 8,000 financial institution clients, as well as providing personalized checks, related accessories and fraud prevention services directly to consumers and small
businesses.

We are also a leading provider of printed forms to small businesses, providing products to more than six million customers. Printed forms include billing forms, work orders,
job proposals, purchase orders, invoices and personnel forms. We produce computer forms compatible with most accounting software packages commonly used by small
businesses. We also provide stationery, letterhead, envelopes and business cards in a variety of formats and ink colors. These items are designed to provide small business owners
with customized documents necessary to efficiently manage their business. We also provide promotional printed items designed to fulfill a variety of selling and marketing needs.

‘We use direct response marketing, financial institution referrals, sales representatives, independent distributors and the Internet to market and sell our products and services.

ACQUISITION OF NEW ENGLAND BUSINESS SERVICE, INC.

On June 25, 2004, we completed our acquisition of New England Business Service, Inc. (NEBS) for $639.8 million. NEBS is a leading provider of products and services to
small businesses. NEBS offerings include checks, forms, packaging supplies, embossed foil anniversary seals, promotional products and other printed material and payroll services
which are marketed through direct response marketing, financial institution referrals, independent distributors, sales representatives and the Internet. Strategically, we both serve
small business customers, and the acquisition expands our product offerings, customer base and non-check revenue. With this acquisition, we added established brands to our
business and created opportunities for productivity improvements and cost synergies. For a more detailed description of the NEBS acquisition and related financing, see the caption
“Note 4: Acquisition of New England Business Service, Inc.” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Part II of this report.

The acquisition of NEBS brought several brand names to Deluxe. These include NEBS®, Safeguard®, McBee®, Chiswick®, Histacount®, SYCOM®, Bags & Bows®, Main
Street® and Holiday Expressions®.

Following the acquisition of NEBS and a review of our combined strategic approach, we decided to sell NEBS’ European businesses and PremiumWear, which provides
specialty apparel products. Historical

results related to PremiumWear and Europe are presented as discontinued operations in our consolidated financial statements. For a more detailed description of these discontinued
operations, see the caption “Note 5: Discontinued operations” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Part II of this report.

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

Our business segments subsequent to the NEBS acquisition consist of the following: Small Business Services, Financial Services and Direct Checks. Our businesses are
generally organized by type of customer and reflect the way we manage the company. Additional information concerning our segments appears under the caption “Note 15:
Business segment information” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Part II of this report.

Small Business Services

Small Business Services (SBS) is comprised of the newly acquired NEBS business and our former Business Services segment. This segment is our largest in terms of revenue,
and we intend to concentrate on growth in this segment. SBS endeavors to be the leading resource of business products to small businesses by integrating existing products and
distribution channels and by adding new ones. We currently sell business checks, forms and related printed products to more than six million small businesses and home offices. We
also distribute packaging, shipping and warehouse supplies, advertising specialties and other business products. We provide payroll services to small businesses in the United States
and Canada.

The majority of SBS products are distributed through more than one channel. Our primary channel is direct mail, in which promotional advertising offering our products is
delivered by mail to small businesses. These efforts are supplemented by the prospecting and account development efforts of an outbound telemarketing group. We also utilize a
field sales organization which calls on small businesses, mainly under the McBee and Chiswick brand names. A third channel of distribution is our network of independent local
dealers and distributors. We also utilize financial institution referrals and the Internet to market and distribute our products. Customer service for initial order support, product
reorders and routine service is provided by a network of representatives located throughout the United States and Canada.

As we concentrate on growing this segment, we will focus on the following:

. Expand sales to new and existing customers — With our broader portfolio of products and services, as well as refinements in our selling techniques, we
anticipate increasing our revenue per customer.

. Increase new customer acquisition — We will focus on increasing customer acquisition through all of our distribution channels, especially our financial
institution referral channel. This channel is a less expensive method of new customer acquisition and provides access to small business customers in

their start-up stage.

. Provide excellent customer service — We strive to retain customers by consistently meeting our customers’ needs in a manner that is efficient and easy.



We continue to focus on integrating the operations of NEBS to lower costs and improve efficiencies. We closed one NEBS printing facility in 2004 and have announced plans
to close two additional printing facilities. We also continue to eliminate redundancies between the two companies and will seek other means to further lower our cost structure.

Financial Services

Financial Services is the leading supplier of checks and check-related products and services to financial institutions. Additionally, we offer enhanced services to our financial
institution clients, such as customized reporting, file management, expedited account conversion support and fraud prevention. Our relationships with specific financial institutions
are usually formalized through supply contracts averaging

three to five years in duration. Consumers and small businesses typically submit their check orders to their financial institution, which then submits the orders to us. We then process
the orders and ship them directly to the consumers and small businesses. Financial Services produces a wide range of check designs, with many consumers preferring one of the
dozens of licensed designs we offer, including Disney®, Warner Brothers®, NASCAR®, Harley-Davidson®, Coca-Cola® and Laura Ashley®. We are committed to our financial
institution relationships and seek to strengthen and expand them by emphasizing the breadth and value of our checks and related products and services.

In 2004 we launched Deluxe ID TheftBlock™ and DeluxeCard™ Visa® gift card. ID TheftBlock is an advanced suite of monitoring and protection services which we offer to
consumers on behalf of our financial institution clients. ID TheftBlock enhances traditional identity protection tools by adding check order screening, daily credit monitoring, access
to fraud resolution assistance and a comprehensive membership kit. The DeluxeCard Visa gift card is an open-system prepaid card that allows financial institutions to meet growing
consumer demand for a versatile payment tool and universal gift solution.

Our DeluxeSelectS™ program provides financial institution customers with more information regarding check and check-related products as they interact directly with our
professional sales associates, our voice response system or our website when placing an order. We actively promote our broad product offerings during both the new account
opening and check re-ordering processes by engaging consumers through our call centers, advanced Internet ordering capabilities and point-of-sale marketing support at financial
institution branch offices. The benefits of this program include: 1) increased financial institution customer satisfaction from selecting a check style that reflects their personal
interests and taste; 2) increased revenue and enhanced profitability for our financial institution clients as they realize the value of our merchandising and check ordering process; 3)
lower costs for financial institutions because we perform this work on their behalf; and 4) increased accuracy. As of the end of 2004, over 5,000 clients had enrolled in
DeluxeSelect.

We have continued to expand our Knowledge Exchange Series where we host knowledge exchange expos, conduct web seminars and host special industry conference calls, as
well as offer specialized publications. These events allow knowledge to be shared with and among our financial institution clients to help financial leaders develop ways to improve
customer experiences. We believe that a leading concern for financial institutions is finding innovative ways to satisfy customers. Our Knowledge Exchange Series represents a new
approach to identify areas of opportunity and develop strategies to transform financial transactions into compelling and memorable interactions for customers.

Direct Checks

Direct Checks is the nation’s leading direct-to-consumer check supplier, selling under the Checks Unlimited® and Designer® Checks brand names. Through these two brands,
we sell personal and business checks, as well as related products, using direct response marketing and the Internet. We believe the direct-to-consumer personal check printing
portion of the payments industry accounts for approximately 20% of all personal checks sold.

We use a variety of direct marketing techniques to acquire new customers, including freestanding inserts in newspapers, in-package advertising, statement stuffers and co-op
advertising. We also use e-commerce strategies to direct traffic to our websites which include: www.checksunlimited.com, www.designerchecks.com and www.checks.com. Our
direct-to-consumer focus has resulted in us having a customer base of over 40 million lifetime customers, the highest brand awareness, as well as the most advertising impressions
in the direct-to-consumer marketplace.

‘We compete primarily on price and design. Although pricing is roughly equal within the direct-to-consumer segment, pricing is generally lower than in the financial institution
segment. We also compete on design by seeking to offer the most attractive selection of images with high consumer appeal, many of which are acquired or licensed from well-
known photographers, artists, and organizations such as Disney, Thomas Kinkade, and NASCAR.

MANUFACTURING

‘We continue to invest in areas of the business where we can reduce costs and increase productivity. We continue to use a lean and cellular approach in our manufacturing
facilities. Within the lean and cellular manufacturing environment, a group of employees works together to produce products, rather than those same employees working on
individual tasks in a linear fashion. Because employees assume more ownership of the end product, the results are improvements in quality and service levels and reductions in
costs. We closed six check printing facilities in 2004. The expertise we have developed in logistics, productivity and inventory management, as well as the decline in check usage
due to the use of alternative payment methods, allows us to reduce the number of production facilities while still meeting client requirements. We have announced our intention to
utilize a shared services approach to manufacturing. We are currently organizing our printing operations by region to enhance our focus on creating centers of operational excellence
with a culture of continuous improvement. This means that we will be able to create blended sites which can serve a variety of brands. As a result, we will be able to reduce costs
and improve performance by using our assets and printing technology more efficiently and by enabling employees to better leverage their capabilities and talents.

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Checks



Checks are the largest single non-cash payment type in the United States. According to a Federal Reserve study released in December 2004, approximately 37 billion checks
are processed annually. This currently comprises about 45% of the total payment transactions in the United States. However the use of checks is declining. The combined total of
alternative payment methods (which include credit cards, electronic payment methods, the use of direct deposit, etc.) only recently has become more heavily used than checks. We
expect this trend to continue. The sale of checks continues to be our predominant revenue stream.

Small Business Customers

The Small Business Administration’s Office of Advocacy defines a small business as an independent business having fewer than 500 employees. In 2003, the most recent date
for which information is available, it was estimated that there were approximately 23.7 million small businesses in the United States. This represents 99.7% of all employer firms.
Small businesses employ half of all private sector employees and generated 60% to 80% of net new jobs annually over the last decade.

The small business market is impacted by economic conditions and the rate of small business formations. Currently, small business growth is strong, which parallels the growth
in the overall economy and recent Federal Reserve surveys which have noted an increase in small business loans. According to the National Federation of Independent Business
(NFIB), small business optimism was at record highs

during 2004. In addition, spending and hiring plans are at historically high levels and profit trends support small businesses’ ability to deliver on capital spending and expansion
plans.

The small business customer is an integral part of our business. We design, produce and distribute business checks, forms, envelopes, industrial packaging and related products.
Some of the products we sell, such as manual and computer forms are in decline. New technologies have provided small business customers with alternative means to enact and
record business transactions. To date, we have been able to offset these declines by increasing our customer base and through growth opportunities in packaging supplies,
promotional products and payroll services. The use of checks among small businesses has thus far not been impacted significantly by the use of alternative payment methods. This
market is impacted more significantly by economic conditions and the rate of small business formations.

Financial Institution Clients

Checks are most commonly ordered by customers through their financial institution. Currently we believe about 80% of all check sales to individuals are made in this manner.
Financial institutions include banks, credit unions and other financial services companies. Several developments related to financial institutions have affected the industry:

. Financial institutions seek to retain the profitability of checks, despite the decline in check usage. This has put significant pricing pressure on check printers.

. Financial institutions continue to consolidate through mergers and acquisitions. Normally, the newly combined entity seeks to have its checks provided at the
lowest price either entity was able to obtain pre-combination. In addition, the combined entity may elect to have only one preferred check provider and will often
seek higher discounts due to the higher order volumes expected post-combination. These factors result in check providers competing intensely on price in order to
retain not only their previous business with the financial institution, but also to gain the business of the other party in the merger/acquisition.

. Financial institution mergers and acquisitions can also impact the duration of our contracts. Normally, the average length of our contracts with financial
institutions is between three and five years. However, the term can be affected when contracts are renegotiated due to a consolidation of financial institutions.

. Historically, only larger regional and national banks would require a pre-paid product discount, made in the form of cash incentives, paid at the beginning of a
contract. Recently, this trend has become more common with smaller institutions as well. These contract acquisition payments negatively impact check
producers’ cash flows in the short-term.

Competition

In the check printing portion of the payments industry, we face considerable competition from several other check printers, and we expect competition to intensify as this
portion of the payments industry continues to decline. As we expand our e-commerce presence, we face competition from check printing software vendors and from Internet-based
sellers of checks and related products. We also face competition from alternative payment methods, including automated teller machines, credit cards, debit cards and electronic
payment systems, such as pre-authorized payments and electronic bill presentment and payment.

In the check printing business, the principal factors on which we compete are product and service breadth, price, convenience, quality and program management. From time to
time, some of our check printing competitors have reduced the prices of their products in an attempt to gain greater volume. The corresponding pricing pressure placed on us has
resulted in reduced profit margins and some loss of business due to our refusal to meet competitor pricing that fell below our profitability targets. Continuing pressure could result in
additional margin compression. Additionally, product discounts in the form of cash incentives payable upon financial institution contract execution have been a practice within the
industry since the late 1990s. However, beginning in 2001 as competitive pressure intensified, both the number of financial institution clients requiring these payments and the size
of the payments have increased. These up-front payments negatively impact the industry’s cash flows in the short-term and may result in additional

pricing pressure when the financial institution also negotiates for greater product discount levels throughout the term of the contract.

The small business forms and supplies industries are highly competitive. We believe we are well positioned in these markets by having a broad customer base, comprehensive
small business product and service offerings, multiple distribution channels, established relationships with our financial institution clients, reasonable prices, high quality and
dependable service.



In the small business forms and supplies industry, the competitive factors influencing a customer’s purchase decision are product guarantees, breadth of product line, speed of
delivery, product quality, price, convenience and customer service. Our primary competitors for printed products are local printers, business form dealers, contract stationers and
office product superstores. Local printers provide personalization and customization, but can be limited on the variety of products and services, as well as the level of printing
sophistication. Office superstores offer a variety of products at competitive prices, but can only provide limited personalization or customization, if any. In addition, at present, we
are aware of more than twenty major independent companies or divisions of companies offering printed products and business supplies to small businesses through direct mail,
distributors or a direct sales force.

Raw Materials and Supplies

The principal raw materials used in producing our main products are paper, ink and cartons, which we purchase from various sources. We also purchase stock business forms
produced by third parties. We believe that we will be able to obtain an adequate supply of materials from current or alternative suppliers. We also utilize a paper printing plate
material that is available from only a limited number of sources. We believe we have a reliable source of supply for this material and that we maintain an inventory sufficient to
avoid any production disruptions in the event of an interruption of its supply.

Governmental Regulation

We are subject to regulations implementing the privacy and information security requirements of the federal financial modernization law known as the Gramm-Leach-Bliley
Act (the Act) and other federal regulation and state law on the same subject. These laws and regulations require us to develop and implement policies to protect the security and
confidentiality of consumers’ nonpublic personal information and to disclose these policies to consumers before a customer relationship is established and annually thereafter.

The regulations require some of our businesses to provide a notice to consumers to allow them the opportunity to have their nonpublic personal information removed from our
files before we share their information with certain third parties. The regulations, including the above provision, may limit our ability to use our direct-to-consumer data in our
businesses. However, the regulations do allow us to transfer consumer information to process a transaction that a consumer requests, as well as to protect the confidentiality of a
consumer’s records or to protect against or prevent actual or potential fraud, unauthorized transactions, claims or other liabilities. We are also allowed to transfer consumer
information for required institutional risk control and for resolving customer disputes or inquiries. We may also contribute consumer information to a consumer-reporting agency
under the Fair Credit Reporting Act. Our financial institution clients request various contractual provisions in our agreements that are intended to comply with their obligations
under the Act.

Congress and many states have passed and are considering additional laws or regulations that, among other things, restrict the use, purchase, sale or sharing of nonpublic
personal information about consumers and business customers. For example, legislation has been introduced in Congress to further restrict the sharing of consumer information by
financial institutions, as well as to require that a consumer opt-in prior to a financial institution’s use of his or her data in its marketing programs.

Laws and regulations may be adopted in the future with respect to the Internet, e-commerce or marketing practices generally relating to consumer privacy. Such laws or
regulations may impede the growth of the Internet and/or use of other sales or marketing vehicles. For example, new privacy laws could decrease traffic to our websites, decrease
telemarketing opportunities and decrease the demand for our

products and services. Additionally, the applicability to the Internet of existing laws governing property ownership, taxation and personal privacy is uncertain and may remain
uncertain for a considerable length of time.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of trademark and copyright laws, trade secret protection and confidentiality and license agreements to protect our trademarks, software and know-
how. However, intellectual property laws afford limited protection. Third parties may infringe or misappropriate our intellectual property or otherwise independently develop
substantially equivalent products or services. In addition, designs licensed from third parties account for an increasing portion of our revenue. Typically, such license agreements are
effective for a two- to three-year period. There can be no guarantee that such licenses will be renewed or will continue to be available on terms that would allow us to continue to be
profitable with these products.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2004, we employed 8,610 employees in the United States and 345 employees in Canada. None of our employees are represented by labor unions, and we
consider our employee relations to be good.

AVAILABILITY OF COMMISSION FILINGS

We make available through our website, www.deluxe.com, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K as soon as
reasonably practicable after these items are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). These reports can also be accessed via the SEC
website, www.sec.gov, or via the SEC’s Public Reference Room located at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. Information concerning the operation of the SEC’s
Public Reference Room can be obtained by calling 1-800-SEC-0330.

A copy of this report may be obtained without charge by calling 1-888-359-6397 (1-888-DLX-NEWS) or by sending a written request to Investor Relations, Deluxe
Corporation, P.O. Box 64235, St. Paul, Minnesota 55164-0235.

CODE OF ETHICS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE GUIDELINES

We have adopted a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct which applies to all of our employees and our board of directors. The Code of Ethics and Business Conduct is
available on our website, www.deluxe.com, and also can be obtained free of charge upon written request to the attention of Investor Relations, Deluxe Corporation, P.O. Box 64235,
St. Paul, Minnesota 55164-0235. Any changes or waivers of the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct will be disclosed on our website. In addition, our Corporate Governance



Guidelines and the charters of the Audit, Compensation, Corporate Governance and Finance Committees of our board of directors are available on our website or upon written
request.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Our executive officers are elected by the board of directors each year. The following summarizes our executive officers and their positions.

Executive
Name Age Present Position Officer Since
Lawrence J. Mosner 63 Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer 1995
Ronald E. Eilers 57 President and Chief Operating Officer 1996
Guy C. Feltz 49 Senior Vice President, President — Financial Services and Direct 2000
Checks
Anthony C. Scarfone 43 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary 2000
Warner F. Schlais 52 Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer 2000
Richard L. Schulte 48 Senior Vice President, President — Small Business Services 2000
Douglas J. Treff 47 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 2000
Stuart Alexander 55 Vice President, Investor Relations and Public Affairs 2003
Katherine L. Miller* 51 Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer 2003
Luann Widener 47 Senior Vice President, Human Resources 2003

Lawrence J. Mosner has served as chairman of the board and chief executive officer of Deluxe since December 2000. Prior to this position, Mr. Mosner served as vice
chairman, a position he assumed in August 1999.

Ronald E. Eilers has served as president and chief operating officer of Deluxe since December 2000. From August 1997 to December 2000, Mr. Eilers was a senior vice
president of Deluxe and managed our former Paper Payment Systems business.

Guy C. Feltz was named a senior vice president of Deluxe in December 2000 and has served as president of our Financial Services segment since July 2000 and our Direct
Checks segment since July 2004. He was also a vice president of Deluxe from July to December 2000. From August 1999 to July 2000, Mr. Feltz served as senior vice president of
sales and marketing for our financial institution check printing business.

Anthony C. Scarfone joined us in September 2000 as senior vice president, general counsel and secretary and became an executive officer of Deluxe in December 2000. Prior
to joining Deluxe, Mr. Scarfone served as vice president, general counsel and secretary of Dahlberg, Inc., a worldwide manufacturer, distributor and retailer of electronic hearing
devices, a position he held from November 1993 to November 1999.

Warner F. Schlais has served as senior vice president and chief information officer since November 1999 and became an executive officer of Deluxe in December 2000.

Richard L. Schulte was named a senior vice president of Deluxe in December 2000 and has served as president of our Small Business Services segment since July 2000.
From May 1999 to July 2000, Mr. Schulte was our senior vice president of supply chain and operations.

Douglas J. Treff joined us in October 2000 as senior vice president and chief financial officer and became an executive officer of Deluxe in December 2000. From February
1993 until Mr. Treff joined us, he served as vice president, finance, of Wilsons the Leather Experts, Inc. (Wilsons), a leather specialty apparel retailer. He was also appointed chief
financial officer of Wilsons in May 1996.

Stuart Alexander was named an executive officer of Deluxe in January 2003. He has served as vice president, investor relations and public affairs since May 1988.

Katherine L. Miller was named chief accounting officer and an executive officer of Deluxe in January 2003 and has served as vice president and controller since January
2001. Ms. Miller joined us in February 1999 and held several finance director positions prior to assuming her vice president and controller responsibilities.

Luann Widener was named senior vice president, human resources and an executive officer of Deluxe in June 2003. From July 2000 to June 2003, Ms. Widener served as
vice president of manufacturing operations for our Financial Services segment. From October 1997 to June 2000, Ms. Widener was vice president of process improvement for our
Financial Services segment.



* Effective March 17, 2005, Ms. Miller will be resigning for personal reasons from her position as vice president, controller and chief accounting officer. Terry D. Peterson, 40,
will become Deluxe’s vice president, controller and chief accounting officer effective as of Ms. Miller's resignation. Mr. Peterson joined us in September 2004 as director of internal
audit. From August 2002 until August 2004, Mr. Peterson was vice president and controller of the GCS Services Division of Ecolab, Inc., a worldwide developer and marketer of
premium cleaning and sanitation products. Before joining Ecolab, Inc., Mr. Peterson held executive finance positions with Provell, Inc. (formerly Damark International, Inc.), a
developer of customized marketing programs and services, including corporate controller from March 1999 to September 2001 and acting chief financial officer and controller from
September 2001 to August 2002.

Item 2. Properties.

Our principal executive office is located in Shoreview, Minnesota. We own or lease a number of other properties, mainly in the United States and Canada, where printing, call
center, distribution, administration, and sales and marketing functions are performed. We believe that our properties are adequate and suitable for our business needs as presently
conducted and are adequately maintained. The following provides a summary of our properties as of December 31, 2004:

Approximate Owned or lease

Location square feet expiration date Function

Lenexa, Kansas 318,000 Owned Printing

(2 locations)

Shoreview, MN 313,000 Owned Administration, marketing, sales, call

(2 locations) center and headquarters

Colorado Springs, CO 282,000 Owned Printing, administration, marketing and
call center

Des Plaines, IL 192,000 Owned Printing

Midland, Ontario, Canada 130,000 Owned Printing, distribution, call center

Groton, MA 126,000 Owned Administration, call center

Thorofare, NJ 124,000 Owned Printing, administration, call center

Townsend, MA 123,000 Owned Printing

Streetsboro, OH 115,000 Owned Printing

Maryville, MO 98,000 Owned Printing

Salt Lake City, UT 95,000 Owned Printing

Lancaster, CA 69,000 Owned Printing, call center and mail center

Mountain Lakes, NJ 63,000 Owned Printing

Greensboro, NC 44,000 Owned Printing

Flagstaff, AZ 25,000 Owned Call center

Athens, OH 215,000 May 2008 Printing, distribution, call center,
administration

Sudbury, MA 142,000 March 2007 Distribution, call center

Lithia Springs, GA 110,000 August 2006 Distribution

Commerce, CA 92,000 June 2005 Printing

Shoreview, MN 67,000 September 2006 Administration

Greensboro, NC 65,000 September 2005 Call center




Santa Fe Springs, CA 60,000 June 2006 Printing

Fort Washington, PA 51,000 June 2005 Administration
Syracuse, NY 47,000 December 2006 Call center
Phoenix, AZ 42,000 December 2006 Call center
North Wales, PA 40,000 June 2010 Distribution
Dallas, TX 36,000 February 2006 Distribution
Shoreview, MN 34,000 September 2009 Administration
Crystal Lake, IL 22,000 May 2006 Printing
Harleysville, PA 18,000 August 2006 Administration
Crystal Lake, IL 13,000 May 2006 Administration
Chatsworth, CA 11,000 May 2006 Administration
St. Laurent, Quebec, Canada 2,000 September 2007 Call center
Various — U.S. and 25,000 Various Sales offices

Canada
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are involved in routine litigation incidental to our business, but there are no material pending legal proceedings to which we are a party or to which any of our property is

subject.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

None.

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol DLX. During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, we declared dividends of $0.37
per share during each quarterly period. In January 2005, we increased our quarterly dividend payment to $0.40 per share. Dividends are declared by our board of directors on a

PART II

current basis and therefore, may be subject to change in the future, although we currently expect no such changes to our dividend amount. As of December 31, 2004, the number of

shareholders of record was 9,321. The table below shows the per share closing price ranges of our common stock for the past two fiscal years as quoted on the New York Stock

Exchange.

Quarter-end

Stock price High Low close
2004
Quarter 4 $ 42.20 36.02 37.33
Quarter 3 45.09 39.95 41.02
Quarter 2 43.60 40.05 43.50
Quarter 1 4291 38.47 40.10
2003
Quarter 4 $ 42.21 38.51 41.33
Quarter 3 48.10 39.89 40.14
Quarter 2 48.46 40.00 44.80
Quarter 1 42.52 35.14 40.13

During the fourth quarter of 2004, we did not purchase any of our own equity securities. In August 2003, our board of directors approved an authorization to purchase up to 10

million shares of our common stock. This authorization has no expiration date and 7.9 million shares remain available for purchase under this authorization. We do not intend to

repurchase a significant number of additional shares in the near future, as we intend to focus on paying off a portion of our outstanding debt. However, we have not terminated this

share repurchase authorization, and we may purchase additional shares under this authorization in the future.



Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Statement of Income Data:
Revenue(!) $1,567,015  $1,242,141  $1,283983  $1278,375  $1,262,712
As a percentage of revenue:

Gross profit 65.8% 65.7% 66.1% 64.5% 64.1%

Selling, general and administrative expense 43.6% 39.6% 39.2% 40.2% 41.0%

Operating income(! @) 22.2% 25.7% 26.9% 23.6% 22.1%
Operating income(! 2) $ 347,912 § 318921 $ 344931 $ 301,938 $ 278,934
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and

amortization of intangibles and goodwill
(EBITDA) (D) 3) 442210 378,334 403,331 374,732 348,682

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)() @ () 348,354 318,252 345,126 300,750 280,112
Income from continuing operations(!) ) 198,648 192,472 214,274 185,900 169,472

Per share — basic 3.96 3.53 341 2.72 2.34

Per share — diluted 3.93 3.49 3.36 2.69 2.34
Cash dividends per share 1.48 1.48 1.48 1.48 1.48
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and marketable securities 15,492 2,968 124,855 9,571 99,190
Return on average assets 19.2% 31.2% 35.5% 31.1% 20.5%
Total assets $1,499,079 $ 562,960 $ 668,973 $ 537,721 $ 656,274
Long-term debt 980,207 381,694 308,199 11,465 110,873
Total debt 1,244,207 594,944 308,199 161,465 110,873
Statement of Cash Flows Data:
Net cash provided by operating activities of

continuing operations 307,591 181,467 257,139 270,623 253,572
Free cash flow(®) 189,472 78,980 123,491 140,075 97,894
Purchases of capital assets 43,817 22,034 40,708 28,775 48,483
Payments for common shares repurchased 26,637 507,126 172,803 345,399 —
Total debt to EBITDA®) 2.8 1.6 0.8 04 03
Total debt to net income 6.3 3.1 1.4 0.9 0.7
EBIT® to interest expense 10.6 16.5 68.0 53.9 245
Net income to interest expense 6.0 10.0 422 333 14.2
Free cash flow'® to total debt 15.2% 13.3% 40.1% 86.8% 88.3%
Net cash provided by operating activities of

continuing operations to total debt 24.7% 30.5% 83.4% 167.6% 228.7%
Other Data as of Year-end (continuing

operations):
Units® (millions) 83.65 89.10 92.64 96.24 97.09
Number of employees 8,955 5,805 6,195 6,840 7,800
Number of printing facilities 16 14 14 14 14
Number of call center facilities 13 7 7 7 7
13

(1) Our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2004 were impacted by the acquisition of New England Business Service, Inc. on June 25, 2004. In 2004, NEBS contributed revenue of $363.2 million, operating

)

3)

income of $22.7 million and income from continuing operations of $12.4 million. These results include only NEBS results of operations. They do not include the additional interest expense incurred by Deluxe to finance the
acquisition.

Our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2004 were impacted by the adoption of the fair value method of accounting for stock-based compensation outlined in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. Expense recognized for stock-based compensation in each year was as follows: 2004 — $12,248; 2003 — $954; 2002 — $3,102; 2001 — $4,083; 2000 — $3,213.

Our results of operations for the three years ended December 31, 2004 were impacted by the adoption of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Under this statement, goodwill is not amortized, but is subject to
impairment testing on at least an annual basis. Thus, we recorded no goodwill amortization expense during the past three years. Goodwill amortization expense for the preceding two years was as follows: 2001 — $6,188; 2000
— $5,201.

EBITDA is not a measure of financial performance under generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). We disclose EBITDA because it can be used to analyze profitability between companies and industries by eliminating
the effects of financing (i.e., interest) and capital investments (i.e., depreciation and amortization). We continually evaluate EBITDA, as we believe that an increasing EBITDA depicts increased ability to attract financing and
increases the valuation of our business. We do not consider EBITDA to be a substitute for performance measures calculated in accordance with GAAP. Instead, we believe that EBITDA is a useful performance measure which
should be considered in addition to those measures reported in accordance with GAAP. The ratio of total debt to EBITDA illustrates to what degree we have borrowed against earnings. EBITDA is derived from net income as
follows:

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000




Net income S 197,991 $ 192472 $ 214274 $ 185900 $ 161,936
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax 657 — — — 7,536
Provision for income taxes 118,225 106,908 126,448 111,634 103,957
Interest expense, net 31,481 18,872 4,404 3,216 6,683
Depreciation 27,330 22,773 23,953 30,605 33,375
Amortization of intangibles 66,526 37,309 34,252 37,189 29,994
Amortization of goodwill — — 6,188 5,201

EBITDA $ 442210 $ 378,334 $ 403,331 $ 374,732 $ 348,682

(4)  EBIT is not a measure of financial performance under GAAP. By excluding interest and income taxes, this measure of profitability can indicate whether a company’s earnings are adequate to pay its debts. We monitor this
measure on an ongoing basis, as we believe it illustrates our operating performance without regard to financing methods, capital structure or income taxes. We do not consider EBIT to be a substitute for performance measures
calculated in accordance with GAAP. Instead, we believe that EBIT is a useful performance measure which should be considered in addition to those measures reported in accordance with GAAP. The measure of EBIT to interest
expense illustrates how many times the current year’s EBIT covers the current year’s interest expense. Our committed lines of credit contain covenants requiring a minimum EBIT to interest expense ratio. EBIT is derived from
net income as follows:

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Net income $ 197,991 $ 192,472 $ 214,274 $ 185900 $ 161,936
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax 657 — — 7,536
Provision for income taxes 118,225 106,908 126,448 111,634 103,957
Interest expense, net 31,481 18,872 4,404 3,216 6,683
EBIT $ 348,354 $ 318,252 $ 345,126 $ 300,750 $ 280,112

(5)  Free cash flow is not a measure of financial performance under GAAP. We monitor free cash flow on an ongoing basis, as it measures the amount of cash generated from our operating performance after investment initiatives and
the payment of dividends. It represents the amount of cash available for interest payments, debt service, general corporate purposes and strategic initiatives. We do not consider free cash flow to be a substitute for performance
measures calculated in accordance with GAAP. Instead, we believe that free cash flow is a useful liquidity measure which should be considered in addition to those measures reported in accordance with GAAP. The measure of
free cash flow to total debt is a liquidity measure which illustrates to what degree our free cash flow covers our existing debt. Free cash flow is derived from net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations as
follows:

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Net cash provided by operating activities of
continuing operations $ 307,591 $ 181,467 $ 257,139 $ 270,623 $ 253,572
Purchases of capital assets (43,817) (22,034) (40,708) (28,775) (48,483)
Cash dividends paid to shareholders (74,302) (80,453) (92,940) (101,773) (107,195)
Free cash flow $ 189,472 $ 78,980 $ 123,491 $ 140,075 $ 97,894

(6)  Units represent an equivalent quantity of checks sold calculated across all check-related product lines. This information excludes New England Business Service, Inc., which was acquired in June 2004.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

We are the largest provider of checks in the United States, both in terms of revenue and number of checks produced. We design, manufacture and distribute a comprehensive
line of printed checks. In addition to checks, we also offer other personalized printed items (e.g., business forms, business cards, stationery, greeting cards, labels, and shipping and
packaging supplies), promotional products and merchandising materials, fraud prevention services and customer retention programs.

On June 25, 2004, we acquired New England Business Service, Inc. (NEBS). NEBS is a leading provider of products and services to small businesses. Accordingly, our
consolidated results of operations include the results of NEBS from the acquisition date. We believe NEBS is a strategic fit, as we both serve small business customers, and the
acquisition expands our product offerings, customer base and non-check revenue.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
2004 Highlights

. We completed the acquisition of NEBS on June 25, 2004.

. On January 1, 2004, we began recording expense for all stock-based compensation in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.

Excluding NEBS, units()) were down 6.1% and revenue per unit was up 2.6%.

. Six printing facilities were closed.
. Our European operations were sold on December 31, 2004.
. We announced plans to sell our apparel business during 2005.

M Units represent an equivalent quantity of checks sold calculated across all check-related product lines.

2004 Consolidated Results of Operations

. Revenue was $1,567.0 million, up $324.9 million from 2003. NEBS contributed revenue of $363.2 million.

. Gross margin was 65.8%, flat compared to 2003. NEBS results decreased our gross margin by 1.1 percentage points, offsetting the savings from manufacturing
efficiencies. NEBS has historically had lower gross margins than our other businesses because of its non-check product mix.

. Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expense was 43.6% of revenue, compared to 39.7% in 2003. NEBS results increased our SG&A percentage by 3.7 percentage
points. NEBS has historically had a higher SG&A percentage than our other businesses because NEBS relies to a greater degree on direct mail and a direct sales force to
acquire and retain customers. Additionally, NEBS results included $19.1 million of additional acquisition-related amortization expense for certain intangible assets and
$7.1 million of integration costs. Further information concerning the NEBS intangible assets acquired can be found under the caption “Note 2: Supplementary balance



sheet and cash flow information” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Part II of this report. Additionally, our SG&A expense increased $10.3
million because of our change in accounting for stock-based compensation.

. Operating income was $347.9 million, an increase of $29.0 million from 2003. NEBS contributed operating income of $22.7 million.

. Operating margin was 22.2% compared to 25.7% in 2003. NEBS results, including acquisition-related amortization expense, decreased our operating margin by 4.8
percentage points. Due to its business model, NEBS has historically had lower margins than our other businesses. Additionally, the impact of acquisition-related
amortization expense contributed 1.2 of the 4.8 percentage point decrease attributable to NEBS.

. Interest expense was $32.9 million, up $13.6 million from 2003 primarily due to the notes issued to finance the NEBS acquisition.

. Net income was $198.0 million, or $3.92 per diluted share, compared to $192.5 million, or $3.49 per diluted share in 2003. Diluted earnings per share increased $0.34
because our average shares outstanding were lower. NEBS operations contributed $11.7 million, or $0.23 per share. NEBS contribution to earnings per share includes only
NEBS results of operations. It does not include the additional interest expense incurred by Deluxe to finance the acquisition.

2004 Cash Flow/Financial Condition

. Cash flow provided by operating activities of continuing operations was $307.6 million, up $126.1 million from 2003. The increase was due primarily to our cost
management initiatives and productivity improvements, as well as lower contract acquisition payments.

. Proceeds from short-term and long-term debt were $646.3 million and were used primarily to fund the acquisition of NEBS.

. Share repurchases were suspended during the second quarter of 2004, as we utilized our resources to complete the acquisition of NEBS.

. Total assets increased by $936.1 million in 2004. We acquired $991.9 million of assets with the NEBS acquisition.

. Long-term debt increased $598.5 million in 2004, primarily because we issued notes to finance the acquisition of NEBS.

. Shareholder’s deficit decreased by $119.6 million in 2004, primarily because we generated net income of $198.0 million which was partially offset by cash dividends of
$74.3 million.

CONSOLIDATED OVERVIEW

Following the acquisition of NEBS, we re-defined our business segments to include the following: Small Business Services, Financial Services and Direct Checks. Small
Business Services is comprised of the newly acquired NEBS business and our former Business Services segment. This segment sells checks, forms and related products to more
than six million small businesses and home offices through direct response marketing, financial institution referrals, independent distributors, sales representatives and the Internet.
Financial Services sells personal and business checks, related products and check merchandising services to approximately 8,000 financial institution clients nationwide, including
banks, credit unions and financial services companies. Direct Checks is the nation’s leading direct-to-consumer check supplier, selling under the Checks Unlimited® and Designer®
Checks brands. Through these two brands, Direct Checks sells personal and business checks, as well as related products, using direct response marketing and the Internet. We
operate only in North America.

Although we are not in a high-growth industry, we continue to generate strong cash flows. We generated operating cash flows of $307.6 million during 2004 and $181.5
million during 2003. We believe our stable cash flows and our focus on cost management and operational excellence will allow us to maintain our leadership position in the check
printing portion of the payments industry and to expand our presence in the small business arena. Our strong cash flows enabled us to realize the debt capacity needed to complete
the NEBS acquisition during the second quarter of 2004. We have also utilized our debt capacity to repurchase common shares over the past several years. During 2003 and 2004,
we repurchased 12.9 million shares for a total of $533.8 million. We have continued to pay dividends at an annual rate of $1.48 per share, resulting in a dividend yield of 4.0%
based on our December 31, 2004 closing stock price. During the first quarter of 2005, we increased our quarterly dividend to $0.40 per share, up $0.03 per share from our previous
dividend level. We were able to increase the dividend for two reasons: (1) synergies realized from the NEBS integration are exceeding our expectations, and (2) we expect year-
over-year growth from our Small Business Services segment to offset declines in our core check businesses beginning in 2006. We believe we have sufficient financial resources to
pursue additional acquisitions that leverage our core competencies and are accretive to earnings and cash flow, to strengthen our leading position in the markets in which we
compete and to expand into closely related or adjacent products and services.



Major challenges in our business are as follows. Two of our largest product groups, checks and business forms, are mature products and their use has been declining in the
marketplace. According to our estimates, the total number of personal, business and government checks written in the United States has been in decline since the mid-1990s as a
result of alternative payment methods such as debit cards, smart cards, electronic and other bill paying services and Internet-based payment services. Because check usage is
declining, we have also been encountering significant pricing pressure when negotiating contracts with our financial institution clients. Our relationships with specific financial
institutions are usually formalized through supply contracts averaging three to five years in duration. As we compete with other check printing companies to retain and obtain
business in the face of declining volume, the resulting pricing pressure has reduced our profit margins, and we expect this trend to continue.

A 2004 Federal Reserve study reported that the check is still Americans’ largest single non-cash payment type, accounting for approximately 45% of all non-cash payments.
This is, however, a decrease from the previous Federal Reserve Study published in 2002 which reported that checks comprised approximately 60% of all non-cash payments. The
report does note that this measure excludes checks written which are converted into electronic transactions at the point of sale. The Federal Reserve Study also indicated that
consumer checks are declining faster than business checks. This study was completed prior to the implementation of Check 21 legislation in October 2004. This banking legislation
became effective on October 28 and affects how checks can be processed. The new law states that an electronic or paper reproduction of a check is the legal equivalent of the
original check. This permits financial institutions to submit these “substitute” checks for processing and clearing. We believe this legislation supports the use of checks by creating a
more efficient processing system which is less costly and will allow financial

institutions to detect fraud earlier. It remains to be seen what, if any, impact this legislation will have on consumers’ use of checks.

Business forms products have also reached maturity. Continual technological improvements have provided small business customers with alternative means to enact and record
business transactions. For example, the price and performance capabilities of personal computers and related printers now provide a cost effective means to print low quality
versions of business forms on plain paper. Additionally, electronic transaction systems and off-the-shelf business software applications have been designed to automate several of
the functions performed by business forms products.

Our Direct Checks segment and portions of our Small Business Services segment have been impacted by reduced customer response rates to direct mail advertisements. We
believe that the decline in customer response rates is attributable to the decline in check usage, the gradual obsolescence of our standardized forms products and an overall increase
in direct mail solicitations received by our target customers. Because each advertisement is resulting in fewer new customers, the cost to acquire each new customer has increased.
We have also been impacted by a lengthening of the check reorder cycle due to the decline in check usage and the multi-box promotional strategies which are standard practice for
direct mail sellers of checks.

To offset these challenges, we have focused on increasing revenue per order by improving our selling techniques, as well as introducing new product offerings.

. In Small Business Services, we have provided extensive training to our sales associates to transition that organization from a service to a selling environment. We
have also partnered with our financial institution clients to increase the use of our financial institution referral program. Under this program, our financial institution
clients refer their small business customers to us at the time of new account opening. This allows us direct interaction with the small business customer. Additionally,
through the NEBS acquisition, we now have more products we can offer small business customers, and we have more channels through which to serve them.

In Financial Services, we have implemented the DeluxeSelectSM program. This program allows us to interact directly with the customers of financial institutions and
to leverage our extensive market research and knowledge of consumer behaviors and preferences. As of December 31, 2004, approximately 5,000 financial
institutions have enrolled in DeluxeSelect. Our Financial Services segment intends to target financial institution clients that understand the value we provide. We
provide high quality products, superior service, enhanced customer satisfaction and the check program management skills that lead to improved revenue and
profitability for financial institutions.

. In Direct Checks, we have encouraged consumers to place their orders by phone, where our sales associates have the opportunity to interact with the consumer.
Typically, phone orders result in higher revenue per order than other order channels. During the fourth quarter of 2004, 31% of first-time customers placed their
orders via the telephone, as compared to 24% in 2003.

All of these efforts have led to increased sales of premium-priced licensed and specialty check designs and additional value-added products and services such as fraud
prevention and express delivery.

We continue to focus on cost management and operational excellence. In 2004, we closed six printing facilities. We have also implemented other employee reductions over the
past year and have announced our intention to close two additional printing facilities. The application of lean principles in our manufacturing area has resulted in increased
efficiencies, and we are applying these principles throughout the rest of the company. We continue to closely manage spending and seek additional cost saving opportunities
wherever possible. Additionally, in integrating NEBS, we plan to realize cost synergies of at least $25 million annually beginning in 2005. These synergies represent reduced costs
in relation to NEBS historical results of operations. We expect to realize these synergies through eliminating redundancies, leveraging our shared services environment and
enhancing productivity by implementing lean principles and sharing best practices.

Recent economic indicators have been promising, and our 2004 results were not impacted by economic conditions as they were in 2003. An important measure for our Small
Business Services segment

is small business confidence. All trends in this area are positive. The National Federation of Independent Business (NFIB) reported that small business sales levels, employment and
capital spending are all trending upwards, as is the NFIB’s measure of small business optimism. Our Financial Services and Direct Checks segments are primarily impacted by
consumer spending and employment levels. Consumer spending began improving in the second half of 2003 and continued to improve through 2004. Additionally, the employment
growth that began in the first quarter of 2004 continued through the end of the year, with an average of 186,000 jobs created per month in 2004. There is a correlation between
employment and the rate at which consumers open checking accounts. Thus, the employment rate is a key factor for the check printing portion of the payments industry. Our early
outlook indicates that on a total company basis, the economy will have a neutral impact on our business in 2005.



One of our main focuses during 2005 will be the continued integration of NEBS. Small Business Services provides one of the most comprehensive product and service
offerings for small businesses. This provides the basis for us to increase sales to existing customers, as well as to pursue new customers. The NEBS acquisition also provides a
positive impact on our product mix by increasing our non-check revenue. Based on the success of the integration thus far, we expect that we will realize both the cost synergies and

growth we expected when we acquired NEBS. We anticipate that growth in our Small Business Services segment will offset the decline in our core check businesses as we move
into 2006.

RESTRUCTURING CHARGES, ASSET IMPAIRMENTS AND OTHER DEVELOPMENTS

Over the past three years, we have recorded charges and credits for restructurings, asset impairments and other developments. The significant items disclosed in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Part II of this report are as follows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002

Net restructuring charges $ 4,441 $ 11,353 $ 1,271
Change in accounting for inventory (2,230) — —
Asset impairment losses — 5,289 —
Post-retirement benefit curtailment gain — (4,000) —

Net pre-tax charges $ 2,211 $ 12,642 $ 1,271
Reversal of income tax contingencies $ (125) $  (7,300) $  (12,853)
Deferred income tax valuation allowance — 360 12,228

Net credits to provision for income taxes $ (125) $  (6,940) $ (625)

The above pre-tax items are reflected in the consolidated statements of income as follows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Cost of goods sold $ (247) $ 3,608 $ 581
Selling, general and administrative expense 2,458 3,745 690
Asset impairment and net disposition losses — 5,289 —
Net pre-tax charges $ 2,211 $ 12,642 $ 1,271

Net restructuring charges — During 2004, we recorded restructuring charges of $5.7 million for employee severance related to the closing of our Financial Services check
printing facility located in Dallas, Texas and our Direct Checks check printing facility located in Anniston, Alabama, as well as reductions in various functional areas primarily
within our Direct Checks and Financial Services segments. The closure of the Dallas facility was primarily due to the loss of a major financial institution client whose contract
expired at the end of 2004. The other reductions were a result of the continuing decline in check usage, as well as increased productivity. Both the Dallas and Anniston facilities
were closed during the fourth quarter of 2004. We expect the other employee reductions to be substantially completed during the first half of 2005. The restructuring charges
included estimated severance benefits for 483 employees. The related severance payments are being funded by cash from operations. Also during 2004, we reversed $1.3 million of
previously recorded restructuring accruals due to fewer employees receiving severance benefits than originally estimated. These restructuring charges and reversals are reflected as
cost of goods sold of $2.0 million and SG&A expense of $2.4 million in our 2004 consolidated statement of income.

During 2003, we recorded restructuring charges of $11.8 million for employee severance related to the closing of three of our Financial Services check printing facilities and
other reductions in employees within Financial Services and our corporate support group. We were able to close the three check printing facilities because of the expertise we have
developed in logistics, productivity and inventory management, as well as the decline in check usage. The other employee reductions were the result of our ongoing cost
management efforts. All three check printing facilities were closed during 2004, and the other employee reductions were also substantially completed during 2004. In total, 573
employees received a total of $10.7 million in severance payments, which were funded by cash from operations. During 2003, we also reversed $0.4 million of previously
established restructuring accruals due to fewer employees receiving severance benefits than originally estimated. These restructuring charges and reversals are reflected in our 2003
consolidated statement of income as cost of goods sold of $5.0 million and SG&A expense of $6.4 million.

As a result of the five facility closings and other employee reductions, we realized net cost savings of approximately $5 million in cost of goods sold and $17 million in SG&A
expense in 2004, in comparison to our 2003 results of operations. In 2005, we anticipate net cost savings of approximately $20 million in cost of goods sold and $7 million in
SG&A expense, in comparison to our 2004 results of operations. Reduced costs consist primarily of labor and facility expenses such as insurance, taxes, depreciation and
maintenance. In addition to a total of $16 million of severance payments, we also incurred other costs related to the closing of facilities, including equipment moves, training and
travel. These costs were expensed as incurred, primarily as cost of goods sold, and totaled $2.1 million. Of this amount, $1.8 million was expensed in 2004 and $0.3 million was
expensed in 2003. We are also improving our remaining check printing facilities to allow them to handle the increased volume. These improvements, which are expected to total

approximately $5 million, are capitalized and depreciated, primarily as cost of goods sold, over their estimated useful lives. During 2004, $3.3 million was spent on these
improvements and $1.4 million was spent in 2003.

During 2002, we recorded restructuring charges of $1.5 million for employee severance related primarily to manufacturing employees within our Financial Services segment
and various functional areas within our Direct Checks segment. These reductions were the result of our ongoing cost management efforts and were completed during 2003. In total,
121 employees received $1.5 million in severance payments. During 2002, we also reversed $0.2 million of previously established restructuring accruals. These restructuring
charges and reversals are reflected in our 2002 consolidated statement of income as cost of goods sold of $0.6 million and SG&A expense of $0.7 million.
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Further information regarding our restructuring accruals can be found under the caption “Note 6: Restructuring accruals” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
appearing in Part IT of this report.

Change in accounting for inventory — On July 1, 2004, we changed the method of accounting for a portion of our inventories. Inventories previously accounted for under the
last-in, first-out (LIFO) method are now accounted for using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. This change resulted in a decrease in cost of goods sold of $2.2 million, primarily
in our Financial Services segment. This equates to an increase in net income of $1.4 million, or $0.03 per diluted share. The effect of this accounting change on prior periods was
immaterial, as was the effect on the current period. As such, we did not restate prior period financial statements to reflect this change. We consider the FIFO method to be
preferable. The recently acquired NEBS business also utilized the FIFO method, and now we have a consistent accounting methodology across the company. Additionally, the effect
on net income of utilizing the FIFO method is not significantly different than the results that would be obtained using the LIFO method.

Asset impairment losses — During 2003, we recorded asset impairment losses of $5.3 million, primarily in the Financial Services segment. The impaired assets consisted of
both manufacturing technologies and software. We had been intending to implement the manufacturing technologies during 2003. However, having already realized many
efficiencies in our manufacturing function as a result of other initiatives, including the implementation of lean manufacturing, the incremental benefits expected from these
technologies no longer warranted their implementation. The impaired software was intended to replace several of our existing systems and bring various areas of the company onto
one platform. However, based on our continuing evaluation of investment initiatives, we determined that the costs to implement the system and the timeline for implementation did
not result in an adequate return on our investment. The majority of the impaired assets had no alternative uses and could not be sold to third parties. Thus, these assets were written
down to a carrying value of zero. Certain related hardware was sold to third parties and was written down to its fair value less costs to sell. Of the total asset impairment losses, $3.6
million related to property, plant and equipment and $1.7 million related to intangible assets.

Post-retirement benefit curtailment gain — During the fourth quarter of 2003, we amended our retiree health care plan to limit the number of employees eligible for benefits
under the plan. In order to receive the current level of benefits, employees must reach 20 years of service and 75 points (total of age and years of service) prior to January 1, 2006.
Employees reaching 20 years of service and 75 points between January 1, 2006 and December 31, 2008 are eligible for the current level of benefits; however, their premiums will
not be reduced once they become eligible for Medicare as is currently the case. Employees reaching 20 years of service and 75 points after December 31, 2008 must pay the full
cost of coverage if they elect to participate in our health care plan. As a result of this plan change, we recognized a curtailment gain of $4.0 million during the fourth quarter of
2003. This gain is reflected as a reduction of cost of goods sold of $1.4 million and a reduction of SG&A expense of $2.6 million in our 2003 consolidated statement of income.
This plan change resulted in a $2.5 million decrease in our 2004 post-retirement benefit expense.

Adjustments to provision for income taxes — During 2003, we reversed $7.3 million of previously established income tax reserves. A prior year federal audit period was closed
due to the expiration of the statute of limitations, and we reached agreements with two states to favorably settle proposed income tax audit assessments. As a result, the related
reserves were no longer required. Also during 2003, we recorded a $0.4 million charge for a valuation allowance related to our deferred tax asset for capital loss carryforwards
which expired in 2003.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) completed its review of our income tax returns for 1996 through 1998. As a result, we reversed $12.9
million of previously established income tax reserves. Certain IRS rules were clarified in a manner favorable to us, and the related reserves were no longer required. Substantially
offsetting these reversals in 2002 was a $12.2 million charge for a valuation allowance related to our deferred tax asset for capital loss carryforwards. At December 31, 2002, we had
capital loss carryforwards of approximately $33.0 million which expired in 2003. By the fourth quarter of 2002, the predominance of negative evidence indicated that it was more
likely than not that the tax benefits associated with a majority of the capital loss carryforwards would not be realized as certain tax planning strategies upon which we intended to
rely were no longer considered to be prudent or feasible.
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STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

On January 1, 2004, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. We are reporting this change in accounting
principle using the modified prospective method of adoption described in SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure. Beginning in
2004, our results of operations reflect compensation expense for all employee stock-based compensation, including the unvested portion of stock options granted prior to 2004. This
method results in the same amount of compensation expense which would have been recognized had the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 been applied from its
original effective date. Prior to 2004, we accounted for our employee stock-based compensation in accordance with Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Under this method of accounting, no compensation expense was recognized for stock options or for our employee stock purchase plan.

During 2004, we implemented changes to our long-term compensation strategy. Rather than using stock options as the exclusive form of long-term incentive, we now utilize a
combination of stock options, performance shares and restricted stock. All such awards are granted under our shareholder-approved stock incentive plan. The level of shares earned
under the performance share component is contingent upon the attainment of specific performance targets over a three-year period. The fair value of the performance shares granted
is equal to the market price of our stock at the date of grant. Compensation expense is recorded over the three-year performance period based on our estimate of the number of
shares which will be earned by the award recipients. In addition, during the second quarter of 2004, we issued 40,404 restricted shares to employees. The fair value of these awards
is equal to the market price of our stock at the date of grant. Compensation expense is recorded over the three year vesting period.

Total stock-based compensation expense was $12.2 million for 2004. This expense is reflected as cost of goods sold of $0.9 million and SG&A expense of $11.3 million in our
consolidated statement of income. Total stock-based compensation expense was $1.0 million in 2003 and $3.1 million in 2002. These amounts are reflected in SG&A expense in our
consolidated statements of income for those years.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued a revision to SFAS No. 123. The new statement is referred to as SFAS
No. 123(R) and is entitled Share-Based Payment. The new statement requires companies to recognize expense for stock-based compensation in the statement of income. We do not
expect the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) to result in a significant change in the compensation expense we currently recognize in our statements of income.



CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

(dollars and shares in thousands, except per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002

Income from continuing operations $ 198,648 $ 192,472 § 214,274
Loss from discontinued operations (657) — —
Net income $ 197,991 $ 192,472 $ 214,274

Net income per share:

Basic $ 3.95 $ 353 8§ 3.41

Diluted 3.92 3.49 3.36
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding:

Basic 50,126 54,523 62,823

Diluted (includes common stock equivalents) 50,549 55,228 63,747

Income from continuing operations — The increase in income from continuing operations in 2004, as compared to 2003, was primarily due to the acquisition of NEBS,
manufacturing productivity
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improvements and other cost management efforts, partially offset by higher interest expense in 2004 due to financing associated with the NEBS acquisition and the reversal of
income tax reserves in 2003.

The decrease in income from continuing operations in 2003, as compared to 2002, was primarily due to a decline in unit volume, higher interest expense due to financing
share repurchases and an increase in net pre-tax charges discussed earlier under Restructuring Charges, Asset Impairments and Other Developments, partially offset by the reversal
of income tax reserves in 2003.

During 2003 and 2002, we accounted for our employee-stock based compensation in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.
Accordingly, our 2003 and 2002 results of operations do not include compensation expense for stock options or for our current employee stock purchase plan. Had this expense
been included in our results, diluted earnings per share would have been $0.07 lower for 2003 and $0.04 lower for 2002. This pro forma impact of stock-based compensation was
calculated utilizing the method disclosed under the caption “Note 1: Significant accounting policies” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Part II of this
report.

Loss from discontinued operations — Discontinued operations includes the results of the European operations acquired from NEBS, which were sold on December 31, 2004,
as well as the apparel business acquired from NEBS, which we plan to sell during 2005.

Diluted earnings per share — In addition to the increase in income from continuing operations in 2004, as compared to 2003, diluted earnings per share increased due to the
decrease in average shares outstanding resulting from our share repurchase programs. During 2003, we purchased 12.2 million shares and during 2004, we purchased 0.6 million
shares. The change in average shares outstanding resulting from share repurchases, partially offset by the impact of shares issued under employee stock purchase and stock incentive
plans, resulted in a $0.34 increase in earnings per share for 2004 as compared to 2003.

Despite the decrease in income from continuing operations in 2003, as compared to 2002, diluted earnings per share increased because average shares outstanding were lower
due to our share repurchase programs. During 2002, we purchased 3.9 million shares and during 2003, we purchased 12.2 million shares. The change in average shares outstanding
resulting from share repurchases, partially offset by the impact of shares issued under employee stock purchase and stock incentive plans, resulted in a $0.47 increase in earnings
per share for 2003 as compared to 2002.

Consolidated Revenue

(dollars in thousands, except per unit amounts) 2004 2003 2002
Revenue $ 1,567,015 $ 1,242,141 $ 1,283,983
Excluding NEBS:
Units (millions) 83.65 89.10 92.64
Revenue per unit $ 1430y  $ 13.94 $ 13.86

(' Excludes $7.7 million of revenue in 2004 related to a contract buy-out.

The acquisition of NEBS contributed revenue of $363.2 million in 2004. The $38.3 million decrease in revenue for our other businesses compared to 2003 was due to a 6.1%
decrease in units because of an overall decline in the number of checks being written as a result of the increasing use of alternative payment methods. Our Direct Checks segment
was also impacted by lower direct mail consumer response rates, longer reorder cycles due to promotional strategies for multi-box orders and lower customer retention. These
decreases in unit volume were partially offset by increased financial institution referrals for our Small Business Services segment. Partially offsetting the volume decline was a 2.6%
increase in revenue per unit as compared to 2003 due to continued strength in selling premium-priced licensed and specialty check designs and additional value-added products and
services such as express delivery and fraud prevention, price increases in our Direct Checks and Small Business Services segments and a $7.7 million contract buy-
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out payment from a former financial institution client in the third quarter of 2004. These increases were partially offset by increased competitive pricing pressure within our
Financial Services segment.

The decrease in revenue in 2003, as compared to 2002, was due to a 3.8% decrease in units resulting primarily from an overall decline in the number of checks being written
due to the increasing use of alternative payment methods and negative economic conditions. Additionally, lower customer retention, multi-box promotional strategies and lower
direct mail consumer response rates for our Direct Checks segment and the timing of client gains and losses for our Financial Services segment contributed to the volume decline.
Partially offsetting the decreased volume was a 0.6% increase in revenue per unit. The continued strength in selling premium-priced licensed and specialty check designs and
additional value-added products and services such as express delivery and fraud prevention, as well as price increases, were partially offset by increased competitive pricing
pressure within our Financial Services segment.

Supplemental information regarding revenue by product is as follows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Checks and related services $ 1,187,178 $ 1,108,830 $ 1,144,605
Other printed products 116,632 21,276 20,262
Accessories and promotional products 263,205 111,985 119,116
Total revenue $ 1,567,015 $ 1,242,141 $ 1,283,983

Due to the addition of NEBS non-check revenue, the percentage of total revenue derived from the sale of checks and related products decreased to 75.8% in 2004, as compared
to 89.3% in 2003 and 89.1% in 2002. NEBS contributed non-check revenue of $251.8 million in 2004, primarily comprised of forms, envelopes, packaging supplies, holiday cards,
labels, business cards, stationery and other promotional products.

Consolidated Gross Margin

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Gross profit $ 1,031,066 $ 816,176  § 848,189
Gross margin 65.8% 65.7% 66.1%

Gross margin was flat in 2004, as compared to 2003. Higher revenue per unit, as well as continued productivity improvements and on-going cost management efforts,
including the closing of six printing facilities in 2004, were offset by the impact of the lower margin NEBS business and the continued pricing pressure facing our Financial
Services segment. NEBS has historically had lower gross margins than our other businesses because of its non-check product mix.

The decrease in gross margin in 2003, as compared to 2002, was due primarily to pricing pressure within Financial Services, lower unit volume and an increase in net
restructuring charges of $4.4 million, primarily related to the closing of three Financial Services check printing facilities. Partially offsetting these decreases were productivity
improvements, cost management efforts, price increases, the continued strength in selling premium-priced licensed and specialty check designs and additional value-added products
and services and the curtailment gain of $1.4 million discussed earlier under Restructuring Charges, Asset Impairments and Other Developments.

Consolidated Selling, General & Administrative Expense

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Selling, general and administrative expense $ 683,184 $ 492,511 $ 502,961
- as a percentage of revenue 43.6% 39.6% 39.2%
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The increase in SG&A expense in 2004, as compared to 2003, was primarily due to expenses of the acquired NEBS business (including $19.1 million of additional acquisition-
related amortization expense for certain intangible assets and $7.1 million of integration expenses), a $12.7 million increase in performance-based employee compensation due to
our operating performance exceeding planned amounts, a $10.3 million increase in stock-based compensation and a $4.7 million increase in Direct Checks advertising expense due
to new product efforts. In January 2004, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. Further information
concerning this change in accounting principle can be found under Stock-Based Compensation. Partially offsetting these increases were our cost management efforts, including
savings realized from employee reductions, and lower discretionary spending.

SG&A expense as a percentage of revenue increased in 2004, as compared to 2003, primarily as a result of NEBS results. NEBS has historically had a higher SG&A
percentage than our other businesses because NEBS relies to a greater degree on direct mail and a direct sales force to acquire and retain customers. Additionally, as discussed
above, NEBS results included $19.1 million of additional acquisition-related amortization expense and $7.1 million of integration expenses.

The decrease in SG&A expense in 2003, as compared to 2002, was primarily due to a $16.0 million decrease in performance-based employee compensation, lower
discretionary spending and cost management efforts as we managed through the challenging business and economic environments, as well as the curtailment gain of $2.6 million
discussed earlier under Restructuring Charges, Asset Impairments and Other Developments. These decreases were partially offset by a $7.4 million increase in commissions for our
Small Business Services segment and an increase in net restructuring charges of $5.7 million related to reductions in employees within Financial Services and our corporate support

group.
Interest Expense

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Interest expense $ 32,851 $ 19,241 $ 5,079



The increase in interest expense in 2004, as compared to 2003, was due to our higher debt level resulting from the acquisition of NEBS, partially offset by lower interest rates.
During 2004, we had weighted-average debt outstanding of $942.6 million at a weighted-average interest rate of 3.27%. During 2003, we had weighted-average debt outstanding of
$468.4 million at a weighted-average interest rate of 3.67%.

The increase in interest expense in 2003, as compared to 2002, was primarily due to higher interest rates on long-term notes we issued in December 2002, as well as higher
debt levels to fund our share repurchase programs. During 2002, we had weighted-average debt outstanding of $171.8 million at a weighted-average interest rate of 2.13%.

Provision for Income Taxes

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Provision for income taxes $ 118,225 $ 106,908 $ 126,448
Effective tax rate 37.3% 35.7% 37.1%

The increase in our effective tax rate for 2004, as compared to 2003, was primarily due to the reversal of $7.3 million of previously established income tax reserves during
2003. These reversals were discussed earlier under Restructuring Charges, Asset Impairments and Other Developments, and lowered our 2003 effective tax rate by 2.4 points. Our
2004 effective tax rate was positively impacted by refunds received for prior year state income tax credits, as well as an increase in our estimate of 2004 state income tax credits. We
expect our 2005 tax rate to be approximately 38%.
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Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization of Intangibles (EBITDA)

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Net income $ 197,991 $ 192,472 $ 214,274
Discontinued operations 657 — —
Provision for income taxes 118,225 106,908 126,448
Interest expense, net 31,481 18,872 4,404
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 348,354 318,252 345,126
Depreciation 27,330 22,773 23,953
Amortization of intangibles 66,526 37,309 34,252
EBITDA $ 442,210 $ 378,334 $ 403,331
EBITDA as a percentage of revenue 28.2% 30.5% 31.4%

EBIT and EBITDA are not measures of financial performance under generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). We disclose these measures because they can be used
to analyze profitability between companies and industries by eliminating the effects of financing (i.e., interest) and capital investments (i.e., depreciation and amortization). We
believe these measures can indicate whether a company’s earnings are adequate to pay its debts without regard to financing, capital structure or income taxes. We also believe that
increases in these measures depict increased ability to attract financing and increase the valuation of our business. We do not consider these measures to be substitutes for
performance measures calculated in accordance with GAAP. Instead, we believe that these are useful performance measures which should be considered in addition to those
measures reported in accordance with GAAP. Our committed lines of credit contain covenants requiring a minimum EBIT to interest expense ratio.

The increase in these measures in 2004, as compared to 2003, was due to NEBS results of operations, productivity improvements and other cost management efforts. The
decrease in 2003, as compared to 2002, was due primarily to the revenue decline and the increase in net pre-tax charges discussed earlier under Restructuring Charges, Asset
Impairments and Other Developments, partially offset by productivity improvements and other cost management efforts.

EBITDA as a percentage of revenue decreased in 2004, as compared to 2003, due to NEBS lower margin business. NEBS has historically had lower operating margins than
our other businesses because of its non-check product mix and its greater reliance on direct mail and a direct sales force to acquire and retain customers.

ACQUISITION OF NEW ENGLAND BUSINESS SERVICE, INC.

As discussed earlier, on June 25, 2004, we acquired all of the outstanding shares of NEBS for $44 per share and agreed to redeem all outstanding NEBS stock options for $44
per option share less the option exercise price. As of December 31, 2004, substantially all of the direct costs of the acquisition had been paid. The total purchase price for the
acquisition was comprised of the following (dollars in thousands):

Cash payments for NEBS common stock $ 585,351
Cash payments to redeem NEBS stock options 44,087
Direct costs of the acquisition 10,351

Total purchase price $ 639,789
Amount paid through December 31, 2004 $ 638,890

Cash acquired from NEBS (14,031)

Payments for acquisition through December 31,



2004, net of cash acquired $ 624,859
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To finance the acquisition, we utilized $475.0 million of an $800.0 million bridge financing agreement, as well as commercial paper. We re-financed these borrowings in
October 2004 when we issued $600.0 million of long-term debt. Further details concerning this long-term debt can be found in Liguidity, Capital Resources and Financial
Condition.

NEBS operating results are included in our consolidated results of operations from the date of acquisition. In the fourth quarter of 2004, we finalized our allocation of the
purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. This allocation is reflected in our consolidated balance
sheet as of December 31, 2004.

Our allocation of the purchase price reflects $30.2 million of restructuring accruals for NEBS activities which we have decided to exit. These accruals primarily include
severance payments, as well as $2.8 million due under noncancelable operating leases on facilities which have been or will be vacated as we consolidate operations. The severance
accruals include payments due 884 employees. This includes employees in the Tucker, Georgia printing facility which was closed during the fourth quarter of 2004, the Los
Angeles, California facility which we plan to close by the end of 2005 and the Athens, Ohio facility which we will begin closing in 2005 and will be completely closed by mid-
2006. Additionally, the accruals include employees in various functional areas throughout the organization resulting from our shared services approach to manufacturing and certain
SG&A functions. The severance accruals also include amounts due to certain NEBS executives under change of control provisions included in their employment agreements, as we
eliminate redundancies between the two companies. Restructuring payments are expected to be substantially completed by the end of 2006, utilizing cash from operations. As a
result of these facility closures and employee reductions, we expect to realize cost savings of approximately $7 million in cost of goods sold and $18 million in SG&A expense in
2006, in comparison to NEBS historical results of operations.

During the fourth quarter of 2004, we disposed of substantially all of the operations of NEBS European businesses. This disposal reflects our intention to focus on our North
American operations and was completed on December 31, 2004. Net proceeds from the sale were $0.8 million, subject to subsequent adjustment based on an audit of the
companies’ December 31, 2004 balance sheets. No gain or loss was recognized on this disposition as the assets and liabilities were recorded at fair value on the acquisition date.
Also during the fourth quarter of 2004, we announced the planned sale of NEBS apparel business, PremiumWear. This sale will allow us to focus our resources on the many critical
initiatives underway within Small Business Services. We anticipate that this sale will be completed in 2005. The results of operations of these businesses are reflected as
discontinued operations in our 2004 consolidated financial statements.
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The purchase price allocation resulted in goodwill of $498.5 million. We believe that the NEBS acquisition resulted in the recognition of goodwill primarily because of its
industry position, the potential to introduce products across multiple channels and the ability to realize cost synergies. The following illustrates our allocation of the purchase price
to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed (dollars in thousands):

Cash and cash equivalents $ 14,681
Trade accounts receivable 71,563
Inventories and supplies 38,293
Deferred income taxes 26,928
Other current assets 14,483
Long-term investments 2,974
Property, plant and equipment 59,236
Assets held for sale 2,981
Intangibles 253,871
Goodwill 498,503
Other non-current assets 8,420
Accounts payable (30,124)
Accrued liabilities (92,164)
Long-term debt due within one year (10,417)
Long-term debt (155,203)
Deferred income taxes (56,960)
Other non-current liabilities (7,276)

Total purchase price $ 639,789
SEGMENT RESULTS

Additional financial information regarding our business segments appears under the caption “Note 15: Business segment information” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements appearing in Part II of this report.

Small Business Services
Small Business Services is comprised of the newly acquired NEBS business and our former Business Services segment. This segment sells checks, forms and related products

to more than six million small businesses and home offices through direct response marketing, financial institution referrals and via sales representatives, independent distributors
and the Internet. The following table shows the results of this segment for 2004 and 2003 (dollars in thousands):



Increase/(Decrease)

2004 2003 $ %

Revenue $ 616,345 $ 238,625 $ 377,720 158.3%
Operating income 101,910 74,123 27,787 37.5%
% of revenue 16.5% 31.1% — —

28

The NEBS acquisition contributed revenue of $363.2 million in 2004. Additionally, the growth in revenue resulted from higher volume and price increases. Financial
institution referrals increased due to the timing of client gains and losses and due to our focus on expanding the utilization of this program with our financial institution clients.
Partially offsetting these improvements was the overall decline in the number of checks being written due to the increasing use of alternative payment methods.

The increase in operating income was due to the acquisition of NEBS, the revenue growth and lower discretionary spending, partially offset by increased customer care costs in
support of the higher revenue level. The decrease in operating margin was due to NEBS lower margin business. NEBS has historically had lower operating margins than our other

businesses because of its non-check product mix and its greater reliance on direct mail and a direct sales force to acquire and retain customers.

The following table shows the results of this segment for 2003 and 2002 (dollars in thousands):

Increase/(Decrease)

2003 2002 $ %

Revenue $ 238,625 $ 210,726 $ 27,899 13.2%
Operating income 74,123 65,319 8,804 13.5%
% of revenue 31.1% 31.0% — —

The increase in revenue resulted from both higher unit volume and higher revenue per unit. Financial institution referrals increased, and we began to realize the benefit of being
the endorsed supplier of business checks and forms for the Microsoft® Money and Microsoft Business Solutions products. Additionally, revenue per unit increased due to improved
selling techniques and price increases. Partially offsetting these improvements was the overall decline in the number of checks being written due to negative economic conditions
and the increasing use of alternative payment methods.

The increase in operating income was due to the revenue increase, partially offset by higher commissions resulting from increased financial institution referrals and business
alliances, as well as higher employee costs related to transforming our customer care organization from a service to a selling environment.

Financial Services
Financial Services sells personal and business checks, related products and check merchandising services to financial institutions. Additionally, we offer enhanced services to

our financial institution clients, such as customized reporting, file management, expedited account conversion support and fraud prevention. The following table shows the results of
this segment for 2004 and 2003 (dollars in thousands):

Increase/(Decrease)
2004 2003 $ %
Revenue $ 665373 $ 699,250 $ (33,877) (4.8%)

Operating income 159,986 146,711 13,275 9.0%
% of revenue 24.0% 21.0% — —

The decrease in revenue was primarily due to an overall decline in the number of checks being written due to the increasing use of alternative payment methods, as well as
competitive pricing pressure. These revenue decreases were partially offset by increased sales of premium-priced licensed and specialty check designs and additional value-added

services, as well as a $7.7 million contract buy-out in the third quarter of 2004.

The increase in operating income was the result of cost management efforts, including savings realized from employee reductions, productivity improvements and lower
discretionary spending, partially offset by the revenue decline.
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The following table shows the results of this segment for 2003 and 2002 (dollars in thousands):

Increase/(Decrease)
2003 2002 $ %
Revenue $ 699,250 $ 762,391 $ (63,141) (8.3%)

Operating income 146,711 189,151 (42,440) (22.4%)
% of revenue 21.0% 24.8% —



The decrease in revenue was due to continued competitive pricing pressure and lower volume resulting from an overall decline in the number of checks being written due to
the increasing use of alternative payment methods and negative economic conditions. Additionally, the timing of financial institution client gains and losses impacted this segment.
These revenue decreases were partially offset by increased sales of premium-priced licensed and specialty check designs and additional value-added services.

The decrease in operating income was primarily the result of the revenue decline and higher severance and asset impairment charges. Financial Services recorded net
restructuring charges of $11.2 million in 2003, compared to net restructuring charges of $0.8 million in 2002. The 2003 restructuring charges were for employee severance related to
the closing of three check printing facilities, as well as other employee reductions. The restructuring charges recorded in 2002 related to employee reductions in both manufacturing
and SG&A functions. Additionally, Financial Services recorded asset impairment charges of $4.4 million in 2003. The net restructuring and asset impairment charges were
discussed earlier under Restructuring Charges, Asset Impairments and Other Developments. Partially offsetting these decreases in operating income were lower discretionary
spending and cost management efforts lower performance-based employee compensation, production efficiencies and $2.6 million related to the curtailment gain discussed earlier
under Restructuring Charges, Asset Impairments and Other Developments.

Direct Checks

Direct Checks sells checks and related products directly to consumers through direct mail and the Internet. We use a variety of direct marketing techniques to acquire new
customers in the direct-to-consumer channel, including freestanding inserts in newspapers, in-package advertising, statement stuffers and co-op advertising. We also use e-
commerce strategies to direct traffic to our websites. Direct Checks sells under the Checks Unlimited and Designer Checks brand names. The following table shows the results of
this segment for 2004 and 2003 (dollars in thousands):

Increase/(Decrease)
2004 2003 $ %
Revenue $ 285297 $ 304,266 $ (18,969) (6.2%)

Operating income 86,016 98,087 (12,071) (12.3%)
% of revenue 30.1% 32.2% —

The decrease in revenue was due to lower unit volume resulting from an overall decline in the number of checks being written, lower consumer response rates to direct mail
advertisements, longer reorder cycles due to our promotional strategies for multi-box orders and lower customer retention. Partially offsetting the revenue pressures from the
volume decline was an increase in revenue per order due to price increases, the improved effectiveness of our selling techniques and continued strength in selling premium-priced
licensed and specialty check designs and additional value-added products and services.

The decrease in operating income was primarily due to the revenue decline and a $4.7 million increase in advertising expense due to new product efforts, partially offset by
productivity improvements and cost management initiatives, including savings realized from employee reductions.
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The following table shows the results of this segment for 2003 and 2002 (dollars in thousands):

Increase/(Decrease)
2003 2002 $ %
Revenue $ 304,266 $ 310,866 $ (6,600) (2.1%)

Operating income 98,087 90,461 7,626 8.4%
% of revenue 32.2% 29.1% — —

The decrease in revenue was due to lower unit volume resulting from an overall decline in the number of checks being written resulting from the increasing use of alternative
payment methods and negative economic conditions, lower customer retention, lower consumer response rates to direct mail advertisements and longer reorder cycles due to
promotional strategies for multi-box orders. Partially offsetting the revenue pressures from the volume decline was an increase in revenue per order due to continued strength in
selling premium-priced licensed and specialty check designs and additional value-added services, as well as price increases.

The increase in operating income was due to efficiencies within the manufacturing and order entry functions and cost management efforts, which more than offset the revenue
decline.

LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES AND FINANCIAL CONDITION

As of December 31, 2004, we had cash and cash equivalents of $15.5 million. The following table shows our cash flow activity for the last three years and should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated statements of cash flows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Continuing operations:
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 307,591 $ 181,467 $ 257,139
Net cash used by investing activities (670,837) (24,883) (44,149)
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities 369,963 (278,471) (97,706)

Effect of exchange rate change on cash 1,155 — —




Net cash provided (used) by continuing operations 7,872 (121,887) 115,284
Discontinued operations 4,652 — —

Net change in cash and cash equivalents $ 12,524 $(121,887) $ 115,284

The $126.1 million increase in cash provided by operating activities in 2004, as compared to 2003, was due primarily to our cost management initiatives and productivity
improvements, a $32.0 million decrease in contract acquisition payments to financial institution clients within the Financial Services segment, lower Direct Checks advertising
spend in 2004 and a $12.9 million decrease in payments made for profit sharing and pension contributions. Net cash provided by operating activities in 2004 was negatively
impacted $28.2 million due to NEBS severance payments, payments due to executive officers under change of control agreements and profit sharing and pension payments related
to NEBS pre-acquisition results of operations. During 2004, cash inflows generated from net income less non-cash expenses were utilized primarily to make income tax payments
of $108.4 million, voluntary employee beneficiary association (VEBA) trust contributions of $40.5 million, employee profit sharing and pension contributions of $26.7 million,
interest payments of $28.4 million and contract acquisition payments to financial institution clients of $15.8 million.

The $75.7 million decrease in cash provided by operating activities in 2003, as compared to 2002, was due primarily to the lower earnings discussed earlier under Consolidated
Results of Operations, changes in accounts payable, the amount and timing of advertising spending within our Direct Checks segment and a $12.8 million increase in contract
acquisition payments to financial institution clients within the Financial Services segment. During 2003, cash inflows generated from net income less non-cash expenses were
utilized primarily to make income tax payments of $110.5 million, contract acquisition
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payments to financial institution clients of $47.7 million, employee profit sharing and pension contributions of $39.6 million and VEBA trust contributions of $32.0 million. During
2002, cash inflows generated from net income less non-cash expenses were utilized to fund income tax payments of $116.5 million, employee profit sharing and pension
contributions of $40.6 million, contract acquisition payments to financial institution clients of $34.9 million and VEBA trust contributions of $25.5 million.

Significant cash inflows for each year were as follows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Net proceeds from short-term and long-term debt $ 646,286 § 288,050 § 145,722
Net cash provided by operating activities of
continuing operations 307,591 181,467 257,139
Proceeds from shares issued under employee plans 18,923 23,869 30,869

Significant cash outflows for each year were as follows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Payments for acquisition, net of cash acquired $ 624859 $ — 8 —
Payments on long-term debt 167,050 1,743 1,723
Cash dividends paid to shareholders 74,302 80,453 92,940
Purchases of capital assets 43,817 22,034 40,708
Payments for common shares repurchased 26,637 507,126 172,803
Settlement of interest rate lock agreements 23,564 — 4,026

‘We believe that important measures of our financial strength are the ratio of EBIT to interest expense, and the ratio of free cash flow'D to total debt.

EBIT to interest expense was 10.6 times for 2004, 16.5 times for 2003 and 68.0 times for 2002. Our committed lines of credit contain covenants requiring a minimum EBIT to
interest expense ratio on a four-quarter trailing basis of 3.0 times. The decrease in 2004 was primarily due to higher interest expense resulting from higher debt levels to fund the
acquisition of NEBS and to fund share repurchases earlier in the year. This ratio will continue to decrease through the first three quarters of 2005 due to re-financing of a portion of
our short-term debt with higher rate long-term debt and also higher debt levels. Nonetheless, we believe the risk of violating our financial covenants is low as we expect solid
profitability and cash flow to continue. The decrease in 2003, as compared to 2002, was primarily due to higher interest expense resulting from higher interest rates and debt levels
primarily due to the issuance of $300.0 million of long-term notes in December 2002. The comparable ratio of net income to interest expense was 6.0 times for 2004, 10.0 times for
2003 and 42.2 times for 2002. Further information regarding EBIT was provided earlier under Consolidated Results of Operations.

(1) Free cash flow is not a measure of financial performance under GAAP. We monitor free cash flow on an ongoing basis, as it measures the amount of cash generated from our operating performance after investment initiatives and
the payment of dividends. It represents the amount of cash available for interest payments, debt service, general corporate purposes and strategic initiatives. We do not consider free cash flow to be a substitute for performance
measures calculated in accordance with GAAP. Instead, we believe that free cash flow is a useful liquidity measure which should be considered in addition to those measures reported in accordance with GAAP. The measure of
free cash flow to total debt is a liquidity measure which illustrates to what degree our free cash flow covers our existing debt. Free cash flow is derived from net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations as
follows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Net cash provided by operating activities of
continuing operations $ 307,591 $ 181,467 $ 257,139
Purchases of capital assets (43,817) (22,034) (40,708)
Cash dividends paid to shareholders (74,302) (80,453) (92,940)

Free cash flow $ 189,472 $ 78,980 $ 123,491
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Free cash flow to total debt was 15.2% for 2004, 13.3% for 2003 and 40.1% for 2002. We calculate free cash flow as cash provided by operating activities less purchases of
capital assets and dividends paid to shareholders. The increase in 2004, as compared to 2003, was primarily due to the increase in operating cash flow discussed earlier. This impact
was partially offset by the higher debt level as of December 31, 2004, due to financing required for the NEBS acquisition. The decrease in 2003, as compared to 2002, was due to
the higher level of debt outstanding as of December 31, 2003, which was utilized to fund share repurchases, as well as the decrease in cash provided by operating activities
discussed earlier. These decreases were partially offset by the lower level of capital asset purchases in 2003 as we reduced discretionary spending and the lower level of dividends
paid due to fewer shares outstanding. The comparable ratio of net cash provided by operating activities to total debt was 24.7% for 2004, 30.5% for 2003 and 83.4% for 2002.

Total debt outstanding was comprised of the following (dollars in thousands):

December 31,

2004

3.5% senior, unsecured notes due October 1, 2007, net of discount $ 324815 §$ —
5.0% senior, unsecured notes due December 15, 2012, net of discount 298,494 298,304
5.125% senior, unsecured notes due October 1, 2014, net of discount 274,399 —
2.75% senior, unsecured notes due September 15, 2006 50,000 50,000
Variable rate senior, unsecured notes due November 4, 2005 — 25,000
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations 6,140 7,316
Long-term portion of debt 953,848 380,620
Commercial paper 264,000 213,250
Variable rate senior, unsecured notes due November 4, 2005 25,000 —
Capital lease obligations due within one year 1,359 1,074
Total debt $1,244207 $ 594,944

In October 2004, we issued $325.0 million of 3.5% senior, unsecured notes maturing on October 1, 2007 and $275.0 million of 5.125% senior, unsecured notes maturing on
October 1, 2014. The notes were issued via a private placement under Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 1933. These notes were subsequently registered with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) via a registration statement which became effective on November 23, 2004. Interest payments are due each April and October. Principal redemptions
on the three-year notes may not be made prior to their stated maturity. The notes include covenants that place restrictions on the issuance of additional debt that would be senior to
the notes and the execution of certain sale-leaseback agreements. The notes were issued at a discount from par value. The resulting discount of $0.8 million is being amortized
ratably as an increase to interest expense over the terms of the notes. Proceeds from the offering, net of offering costs, were $595.5 million. These proceeds were used to pay off
commercial paper borrowings used for the acquisition of NEBS. The fair value of these notes was $582.4 million as of December 31, 2004, based on quoted market prices.

In December 2002, we issued $300.0 million of 5.0% senior, unsecured notes maturing on December 15, 2012. These notes were issued under our shelf registration statement
covering up to $300.0 million in medium-term notes, thereby exhausting that registration statement. Interest payments are due each June and December. Principal redemptions may
be made at our election prior to their stated maturity. The notes include covenants that place restrictions on the issuance of additional debt that would be senior to the notes and the
execution of certain sale-leaseback agreements. The notes were issued at 99.369% of par value. The resulting discount of $1.9 million is being amortized ratably as an increase to
interest expense over the ten-
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year term of the notes. Proceeds from the offering, net of offering costs, were $295.7 million. These proceeds were used for general corporate purposes, including funding share
repurchases, capital asset purchases and working capital. The fair value of these notes was $295.6 million as of December 31, 2004, based on quoted market prices.

In September 2003, we issued $50.0 million of 2.75% senior, unsecured notes maturing on September 15, 2006. The notes were issued under a shelf registration statement
which became effective on July 8, 2003 and allows for the issuance of debt securities, from time to time, up to an aggregate of $500.0 million. Interest payments are due each March
and September. Principal redemptions may be made at our election prior to their stated maturity. The notes include covenants that place restrictions on the issuance of additional
debt that would be senior to the notes and the execution of certain sale-leaseback agreements. Proceeds from the offering, net of offering costs, were $49.8 million. These proceeds
were used for general corporate purposes, including funding share repurchases, capital asset purchases and working capital. The fair value of these notes was $49.4 million as of
December 31, 2004, based on quoted market prices.

In November 2003, we issued $25.0 million of variable rate senior, unsecured notes maturing on November 4, 2005. The notes were issued under the July 8, 2003 shelf
registration statement. Interest payments are due each February, May, August and November at an annual interest rate equal to the 3-month London InterBank Offered Rate
(LIBOR) plus .05%. This interest rate is reset on a quarterly basis. Principal redemptions may be made at our election prior to their stated maturity. The notes include covenants that
place restrictions on the issuance of additional debt that would be senior to the notes and the execution of certain sale-leaseback agreements. Proceeds from the offering were $25.0
million. These proceeds were used for general corporate purposes, including funding share repurchases, capital asset purchases and working capital. The fair value of these notes
was estimated to be $24.8 million as of December 31, 2004, based on a broker quote.

During 2004, we entered into $450.0 million of forward starting interest rate swaps to hedge, or lock-in, the interest rate on a portion of the $600.0 million debt we issued in
October 2004. The termination of the lock agreements yielded a deferred pre-tax loss of $23.6 million. This loss is reflected, net of tax, in accumulated other comprehensive loss in
our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004 and is being reclassified ratably to our statements of income as an increase to interest expense over the term of the related
debt.

During 2002, we entered into two forward rate lock agreements to effectively hedge, or lock-in, the annual interest rate on $150.0 million of the $300.0 million notes we issued
in December 2002. Upon issuance of the notes, these lock agreements were terminated, yielding a deferred pre-tax loss of $4.0 million, which is reflected in accumulated other
comprehensive loss in our consolidated balance sheets and is being reclassified ratably to our statements of income as an increase to interest expense over the ten-year term of the
notes.



We currently have a $500.0 million commercial paper program in place which carries a credit rating of A2/P2. This credit rating was downgraded from A1/P1 during the
second quarter of 2004 due to the additional debt we issued in conjunction with the acquisition of NEBS. If for any reason we were unable to access the commercial paper markets,
we would rely on our committed lines of credit for liquidity. The daily average amount of commercial paper outstanding during 2004 was $344.7 million at a weighted-average
interest rate of 1.59%. As of December 31, 2004, $264.0 million was outstanding at a weighted-average interest rate of 2.45%. The daily average amount of commercial paper
outstanding during 2003 was $149.4 million at a weighted-average interest rate of 1.15%. As of December 31, 2003, $213.3 million was outstanding at a weighted-average interest
rate of 1.11%.

During 2004, we also utilized a bridge financing agreement to initially fund a portion of the NEBS acquisition. The daily average amount outstanding under this bridge
financing agreement during 2004 was $62.3 million at a weighted-average interest rate of 2.07%. During the third quarter of 2004, we utilized commercial paper borrowings to pay-
off the bridge financing agreement. This agreement was terminated during the fourth quarter of 2004.

We also have committed lines of credit which primarily support our commercial paper program. We have a 364-day line of credit for $100.0 million which expires in July 2005

and carries a commitment fee of ten basis points (.10%). We also have two five-year lines of credit. One five-year line of credit is for $175.0 million and expires in August 2007.
The other line of credit is for $225.0 million and expires in July 2009.
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Both five-year lines of credit carry commitment fees of 12.5 basis points (.125%). The credit agreements governing the lines of credit contain customary covenants regarding the
ratio of EBIT to interest expense and levels of subsidiary indebtedness. No amounts were drawn on these lines of credit during 2004 or during 2003, and no amounts were
outstanding under these lines of credit as of December 31, 2004.

To the extent not needed to support outstanding commercial paper or letters of credit, we may borrow funds under our committed lines of credit. As of December 31, 2004,
$232.0 million was available under our committed lines of credit for borrowing or for support of additional commercial paper, as follows (dollars in thousands):

Total Expiration
available date

364-day line of credit $ 100,000 July 2005
Five year line of credit 175,000 August 2007
Five year line of credit 225,000 July 2009

Total committed lines of credit 500,000
Commercial paper outstanding (264,000)
Letters of credit outstanding (3,989)

Net available for borrowing as of

December 31, 2004 $ 232,011

We also have an uncommitted bank line of credit for $50.0 million available at variable interest rates. No amounts were drawn on this line of credit during 2004 or during
2003, and no amounts were outstanding under this line of credit as of December 31, 2004.

Absent certain defined events of default under our committed credit facilities, there are no significant contractual restrictions on our ability to pay cash dividends.
In August 2003, our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to 10 million shares of our common stock. As of December 31, 2004, we had repurchased 2.1 million
shares under this authorization. Although this authorization remains in place, we will most likely not repurchase a significant number of additional shares in the near future. Instead,

we intend to focus on paying down the debt we issued to complete the NEBS acquisition.

Changes in financial condition — The table included earlier under Acquisition of New England Business Service, Inc. illustrates the allocation of the NEBS purchase price to
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The acquisition of NEBS explains most of the significant changes in our balance sheet from December 31, 2003.
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Contract acquisition costs of our Financial Services segment decreased $12.3 million from December 31, 2003. These costs are recorded as non-current assets upon contract
execution and are amortized, generally on the straight-line basis, as reductions of revenue over the related contract term. Changes in contract acquisition costs during 2004 were as
follows (dollars in thousands):

Balance, December 31, 2003 $ 96,085
Cash payments 15,778
Change in accruals 6,490
Amortization (34,528)

Balance, December 31, 2004 $ 83,825

The number of checks being written has been in decline since the mid-1990s, which has contributed to increased competitive pressure when attempting to retain or obtain
clients. Beginning in 2001, as competitive pressure intensified, both the number of financial institution clients requiring contract acquisition payments and the amount of the



payments increased. Although we anticipate that we will continue to make contract acquisition payments, we cannot quantify future amounts with certainty. The amount paid is
dependent on numerous factors such as the number and timing of contract executions and renewals, the actions of our competitors, overall product discount levels and the structure
of up-front product discount payments versus providing higher discount levels throughout the term of the contract. We anticipate that these payments will continue to be a
significant use of cash. When the overall discount level provided for in a contract is unchanged, contract acquisition costs do not result in lower net revenue. The impact of these
costs is the timing of cash flows. An up-front cash payment is made as opposed to providing higher product discount levels throughout the term of the contract. Based on the
contract acquisition cost balance as of December 31, 2004, estimated amortization for each of the next five years ending December 31 is as follows (dollars in thousands):

2005 $ 27,523
2006 25,107
2007 15,673
2008 11,349
2009 4,033

Shareholders’ deficit was $178.5 million as of December 31, 2004. We are in a deficit position due to the required accounting treatment for share repurchases. Share
repurchases during the past three years were as follows (dollars and shares in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Dollar amount $ 25,520 $ 508,243 $ 172,803
Number of shares 634 12,239 3,898

Given the strength of our financial position, as reflected in our cash flow and coverage ratios such as EBIT to interest expense and free cash flow to total debt, we do not expect
our shareholders’ deficit position to result in any adverse reaction from rating agencies or others that would negatively affect our liquidity or financial condition.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

As of December 31, 2004, our contractual obligations were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Less One to Three More
than one three to five than five

Total year years years years
Long-term debt and related interest $ 1,273,118 $ 67,149 §$ 457,313 § 58,188 $ 690,468
Commercial paper 264,000 264,000 — — —

Capital lease obligations and

related interest 9,520 2,067 3,946 3,507 —
Operating lease obligations 22,300 10,571 9,893 1,559 277
Purchase obligations 284,097 81,168 59,275 43,704 99,950
Other long-term liabilities 85,197 33,346 30,248 16,786 4,817
Total $ 1,938,232  $ 458,301 $ 560,675  $123,744 $ 795,512

Long-term debt consists of the senior, unsecured notes discussed earlier under Liquidity, Capital Resources and Financial Condition. The amounts presented in the table above
for long-term debt include both principal and interest payments, using the current interest rate of 2.26% for the $25.0 million variable rate notes.

We currently have commitments under both operating and capital leases. Our capital lease obligations bear interest at rates of 7.2% to 10.4% and are due through 2009. We
have also entered into operating leases on certain facilities and equipment.

Purchase obligations include amounts due under contracts with third party service providers. These contracts are primarily for information technology services related to
network servers, personal computers, telecommunications, software development and support and help desk services. Additionally, purchase obligations include amounts due under
Direct Checks direct mail advertising agreements and royalty agreements. We routinely issue purchase orders to numerous vendors for the purchase of inventory and other supplies.
These purchase orders are generally cancelable with reasonable notice to the vendor. As such, these purchase orders are not included in the purchase obligations presented here.
Certain of the contracts with third party service providers allow for early termination upon the payment of specified penalties. If we were to terminate these agreements, we would
incur penalties of $66.2 million as of December 31, 2004.

Other long-term liabilities consist primarily of amounts due for contract acquisition costs, workers’ compensation and deferred officers’ compensation. Of the $66.5 million
reported as long-term liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004, $14.7 million is excluded from the payments shown in the table above. The excluded
amounts include the following:

— A portion of the amount due under our deferred officers” compensation plan — Under this plan, employees begin receiving payments upon the termination of
employment or disability, and we cannot predict when these events will occur.

— Environmental remediation costs — During 2002, we purchased an environmental insurance policy which covers pre-existing conditions from third-party claims
and cost overruns for 30 years at owned, leased and divested sites, as well as any new conditions discovered at currently owned or leased sites for ten years. As a



result, we expect to receive reimbursements from the insurance company for environmental remediation costs we incur. The related receivables from the
insurance company are reflected in other current assets and other non-current assets in our consolidated balance sheets in amounts equal to our environmental
liabilities.
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— Items which will not be paid in cash, such as a deferred gain resulting from a 1999 sale-leaseback transaction with an unaffiliated third party.

Total contractual obligations do not include the following:

— Payments to our defined contribution pension and 401(k) plans — The amounts payable under our defined contribution pension plans and our 401(k) plans are
dependent on the number of employees providing services throughout the year, their wage rates and in the case of the 401(k) plans, whether employees elect to
participate in the plans.

— Payments to the Canadian pension plan — This plan is fully funded by a trust which we have established for this purpose. Trust assets can only be utilized to fund
pension payments. The assets of the trust have been invested. If these investments do not perform as expected, we may be required to provide further funding to
the trust. However, we cannot predict when, or if, further funding will be required. The projected benefit obligation for this plan was $4.9 million as of December
31, 2004.

— Profit sharing payments — The amounts payable under our profit sharing plans are dependent on the financial performance of the company.

— Payments for our retiree health care plans — Benefits paid under our retiree health care plan are dependent on the level of medical costs incurred by plan
participants. Additionally, we have contributed funds to a trust for the purpose of funding our retiree health care plan. Trust assets can be utilized only to pay
medical costs of plan participants. Thus, we have the option of paying retiree medical costs from the trust or from the general assets of the company.

— Income tax payments which will be remitted on our earnings, or

— Contributions which may be made to the VEBA trust which we use to fund employee and retiree medical and severance payments.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS/CONTINGENT COMMITMENTS

It has not been our practice to enter into off-balance sheet arrangements. In the normal course of business we periodically enter into agreements that incorporate general
indemnification language. These indemnifications encompass such items as intellectual property rights, governmental regulations and/or employment-related matters. Performance
under these indemnities would generally be triggered by a breach of terms of the contract or by a third-party claim. There have historically been no material losses related to such
indemnifications, and we do not expect any material adverse claims in the future. We have established a formal contract review process to assist in identifying significant
indemnification clauses.

We are not engaged in any transactions, arrangements or other relationships with unconsolidated entities or other third parties that are reasonably likely to have a material effect
on our liquidity, or on our access to, or requirements for capital resources. In addition, we have not established any special purpose entities.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

‘We have entered into no significant related party transactions during the past three years.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. We review the accounting policies used in reporting our financial results on a regular
basis. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the
related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our
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estimates, including those related to goodwill and indefinite-lived trade names, income taxes, restructuring accruals and post-retirement benefits. We base our estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the result of which forms the basis for making judgments about the carrying
value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Results may differ from these estimates due to actual outcomes being different from those on which
we based our assumptions. The estimates and judgments utilized are reviewed by management on an ongoing basis and by the audit committee of our board of directors at the end
of each quarter prior to the public release of our financial results. We implemented one significant change to our accounting policies during 2004. On January 1, 2004, we adopted
the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. This change in accounting principle is discussed in further detail under Stock-
Based Compensation.



APPLICATION OF CRITICALACCOUNTING POLICIES

Goodwill and indefinite-lived trade names — As of December 31, 2004, we had goodwill of $580.7 million, comprised of $498.5 million from the acquisition of NEBS and
$82.2 million related to our Direct Checks segment’s acquisition of Designer Checks in 2000. Goodwill is tested for impairment on at least an annual basis and between annual
evaluations if events or circumstances occur which could indicate that an impairment has occurred. As discussed earlier under Segment Results, our Direct Checks segment has been
impacted by the decline in check usage, lower consumer response rates to direct mail advertisements, longer re-order cycles due to multi-box promotional strategies and lower
customer retention rates. To date, we have been able to offset the impact of the resulting volume decline through improved selling techniques, price increases and cost management
efforts. However, eventually we may no longer be able to offset the impact of continuing volume declines. Assuming the business conditions for Direct Checks remain as they are
and we are unable to offset the impact of continuing volume declines, eventually the goodwill associated with the Designer Checks acquisition will be impaired, and we will be
required to reflect the impairment charge in our results of operations.

We also have indefinite-lived trade names of $59.4 million as of December 31, 2004, resulting from the acquisition of NEBS. We will continually evaluate the remaining useful
lives of these assets to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life. If we subsequently determine that one or more of these assets have
a finite useful life, we will first test the asset for impairment and then amortize the asset over its estimated remaining useful life.

The evaluation of asset impairment requires us to make assumptions about future cash flows over the life of the asset being evaluated. These assumptions require significant
judgment and actual results may differ from assumed or estimated amounts.

Income taxes — When preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to estimate our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This
process involves estimating our actual current tax obligations based on expected income, statutory tax rates and tax planning opportunities in the various jurisdictions in which we
operate. In the event there is a significant unusual or one-time item recognized in our results of operations, the tax attributable to that item would be separately calculated and
recorded in the period the unusual or one-time item occurred.

Tax law requires certain items to be included in our tax return at different times than the items are reflected in our results of operations. As a result, the annual effective tax rate
reflected in our results of
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operations is different than that reported on our tax return (i.e., our cash tax rate). Some of these differences are permanent, such as expenses that are not deductible in our tax
return, and some differences reverse over time, such as depreciation expense on capital assets. These timing differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are
included within our consolidated balance sheets. Deferred tax assets generally represent items that can be used as a tax deduction or credit in our tax return in future years for which
we have already recorded the expense in our statements of income. We must assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income, and to
the extent we believe that recovery is not likely, we must establish a valuation allowance against those deferred tax assets. Deferred tax liabilities generally represent items for
which we have already taken a deduction in our tax return but we have not yet recognized the items as expense in our results of operations. Significant judgment is required in
evaluating our tax positions, and in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against our net deferred
tax assets.

We establish reserves when, despite our belief that the tax return positions are fully supportable, certain positions are likely to be challenged and we may ultimately not prevail
in defending those positions. We adjust these reserves in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the closing of a tax audit. The effective tax rate includes the impact of
reserve provisions and changes to reserves that are considered appropriate, as well as related interest. Our reserves for contingent tax liabilities totaled $17.6 million as of December
31,2004, and are included in accrued liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. These reserves relate to various tax years subject to audit by taxing authorities. We believe that
our current tax reserves are adequate, and reflect the most probable outcome of known tax contingencies. However, the ultimate outcome may differ from our estimates and
assumptions and could impact the provision for income taxes reflected in our consolidated statements of income. Unfavorable settlement of any particular issue would require the
use of cash. Favorable resolution could result in reduced income tax expense in our consolidated statements of income in the future.

During 2003, we reversed $7.3 million of previously established income tax reserves. A prior year federal audit period was closed due to the expiration of the statute of
limitations, and we reached agreements with two states to favorably settle proposed income tax audit assessments. As a result, the related reserves were no longer required.

During 2002, we reversed $12.9 million of previously established income tax reserves. During the fourth quarter of 2002, the IRS completed its review of our income tax
returns for 1996 through 1998. Certain IRS rules were clarified in a manner favorable to us, and the related reserves were no longer required. Substantially offsetting these reversals
in 2002 was a $12.2 million charge for a valuation allowance related to our deferred tax asset for capital loss carryforwards which expired in 2003. By the fourth quarter of 2002,
the predominance of negative evidence indicated that it was more likely than not that the tax benefits associated with a majority of the capital loss carryforwards would not be
realized as certain tax planning strategies upon which we intended to rely were no longer considered to be prudent or feasible.

Restructuring accruals — Over the past several years, we have recorded restructuring accruals as a result of facility closings and other cost management efforts. Cost
management is one of our strategic objectives and we are continually seeking ways to lower our cost structure. The acquisition of NEBS has resulted in even larger restructuring
accruals as we combine the two companies and exit certain activities. These accruals primarily consist of employee termination benefits payable under our ongoing severance
benefit plan. We record accruals for employee termination benefits when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the liability is reasonably estimable. As
such, judgment is involved in determining when it is appropriate to record restructuring accruals. Additionally, we are required to make estimates and assumptions in calculating the
restructuring accruals, as many times employees choose to voluntarily leave the company prior to their termination date or they secure another position within the company. In these
situations, the employees do not receive termination benefits. To the extent our assumptions and estimates differ from actual employee behavior, subsequent adjustments to
restructuring accruals have been and will be required.

With regards to our 2003 employee reduction initiatives, we subsequently reversed $1.3 million of the original restructuring accruals as a result of fewer employees receiving
severance benefits than
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originally estimated. No significant adjustments were made to the accruals related to our 2004 or 2002 employee reduction initiatives.



Post-retirement benefits — Our net post-retirement benefit expense was $5.1 million in 2004, $6.7 million in 2003 and $5.6 million in 2002. Our business segments record
post-retirement benefit expense in cost of goods sold or SG&A expense, based on the composition of their workforces. Our post-retirement benefit expense and liability are
calculated utilizing various actuarial assumptions and methodologies. These assumptions include, but are not limited to, the discount rate, the expected long-term rate of return on
plan assets and the expected health care cost trend rate. The discount rate assumption is based on the rates of return on high-quality, fixed-income instruments currently available
whose cash flows match the timing and amount of expected benefit payments. The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets and the health care cost trend rate are based upon
an evaluation of our historical trends and experience, taking into account current and expected market conditions. The long-term rate of return on plan assets reflects the average
rate of earnings expected on the funds invested or to be invested to provide for expected benefit payments. The health care cost trend rate represents the expected annual rate of
change in the cost of health care benefits currently provided due to factors other than changes in the demographics of plan participants. If the assumptions utilized in determining
our post-retirement benefit expense and liability differ from actual events, our results of operations for future periods could be impacted.

In measuring the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2004, we assumed a discount rate of 5.75%. A 0.25 point change in the discount rate
would increase or decrease our annual post-retirement benefit expense by $0.4 million. In measuring the net post-retirement benefit expense for 2004, we assumed an expected
long-term rate of return on plan assets of 8.75%. A 0.25 point change in this assumption would increase or decrease our annual post-retirement benefit expense by $0.2 million.

In measuring the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2004, our initial health care inflation rate for 2005 was assumed to be 10.75% and our
ultimate health care inflation rate for 2011 and beyond was assumed to be 5.25%. A one percentage point increase in the health care inflation rate for each year would increase the
accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation by $15.9 million and the service and interest cost components of our annual post-retirement benefit expense by $0.9 million. A one
percentage point decrease in the health care inflation rate for each year would decrease the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation by $14.1 million and the service and
interest cost components of our annual post-retirement benefit expense by $0.9 million.

When actual events differ from our assumptions or when we change the assumptions used, an unrecognized actuarial gain or loss results. Unrecognized gains and losses are
reflected in post-retirement benefit expense over the average remaining service life of employees expected to receive benefits under the plan, which is currently nine years. As of
December 31, 2004, our unrecognized net actuarial loss was $92.5 million. Of this amount, $31.5 million resulted from changes in the discount rate assumption. During each of the
last three years we have lowered our discount rate assumption due to decreases in interest rates. As of December 31, 2004, $28.8 million of the unrecognized net actuarial loss
resulted from changes in our assumed health care cost trend rate. In recent years we have increased our heath care cost trend rate assumption to reflect the current trend of increasing
medical costs. Also as of December 31, 2004, $21.0 million of the unrecognized net actuarial loss resulted from differences between our expected long-term rate of return on plan
assets and the actual return on plan assets. Since this assumption takes a long-term view of investment returns, there may be differences between the expected rate of return and the
actual rate of return on plan assets in the short-term. The remainder of the net actuarial loss amount primarily related to differences between our assumed medical costs and actual
experience and changes in the employee population.

During the fourth quarter of 2003, we amended our retiree health care plan to limit the number of employees eligible for benefits under the plan. This change was discussed
earlier under Restructuring Charges, Asset Impairments and Other Developments and resulted in a curtailment gain of $4.0 million in 2003. This gain is reflected as a reduction of
cost of goods sold of $1.4 million and a reduction of SG&A expense of $2.6 million in our 2003 consolidated statement of income. This plan change resulted in a $2.5 million
decrease in our 2004 post-retirement benefit expense.
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NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In May 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. FAS 106-2, Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement
and Modernization Act of 2003. This FSP outlines the appropriate accounting treatment for the effects of the new Medicare law, including the required financial statement
disclosures, and supersedes the previous guidance issued by the FASB in January 2004. The new Medicare law introduces a prescription drug benefit under Medicare, as well as a
federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to the Medicare plan. Our retiree medical plans do provide
prescription drug coverage which is at least actuarially equivalent to the Medicare plan. Effective April 1, 2004, we elected to adopt the accounting treatment required by FSP No.
FAS 106-2 utilizing the retroactive application method. In accordance with this accounting guidance, we completed a re-measurement of our plan assets and liabilities as of
December 31, 2003. The federal subsidy provided for under the new Medicare law resulted in a $9.5 million reduction in our accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation as of
December 31, 2003 and resulted in a $1.0 million reduction in our post-retirement benefit expense for 2004.

In November 2004, the FASB ratified a consensus reached by the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) regarding Issue No. 03-13, Applying the Conditions in Paragraph 42 of
FASB Statement No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets, in Determining Whether to Report Discontinued Operations. This issue provides
additional guidance concerning situations when the disposal of a component of a business should be reported as discontinued operations in a company’s financial statements. We
applied the guidance contained in this issue when analyzing the businesses reported as discontinued operations in our 2004 consolidated financial statements, as discussed earlier
under Acquisition of New England Business Service, Inc.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 109-1, Application of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production
Activities Provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004. This FSP states that the tax deduction provided for under the new law should be recorded as a special deduction and
not as a reduction in the tax rate. Thus, the tax benefit of the deduction is recognized in the periods the deduction is reported on the tax return. Deferred tax assets and liabilities do
not reflect the deductions to be taken in future years. Since the deduction is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2004, there was no impact on our 2004
provision for income taxes.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 109-2, Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs
Creation Act of 2004. This FSP allows additional time for companies to determine how the new law affects a company’s accounting for deferred tax liabilities on unremitted foreign
earnings. The new law provides for a special one-time deduction of 85% of certain foreign earnings that are repatriated and which meet certain requirements. We are currently
evaluating whether any of the earnings of our Canadian operations will be repatriated in accordance with the terms of this law. The maximum amount of earnings that could be
repatriated is approximately $34 million, which would result in tax expense of approximately $3.5 million. We expect our evaluation to be completed in the second quarter of 2005.

In December 2004, the FASB issued a revision to SFAS No. 123. The new statement is referred to as SFAS No. 123(R) and is entitled Share-Based Payment. This new
statement was discussed earlier under Stock-Based Compensation.

OUTLOOK



We expect that 2005 revenue will be up from 2004, while operating income will be down. The full-year impact of the NEBS acquisition and continued growth in revenues from
our Small Business Services business referral program will partially offset the decline in our other two business segments. Within Small Business Services, we have provided
extensive training to our sales associates to transition that organization from a service to a selling environment. We have also continued to partner with our financial institution
clients to increase their participation in our business referral program. Additionally, the acquisition of NEBS expands our
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product offerings, customer base and non-check revenue. Financial Services revenue is expected to decrease approximately $110 million and operating margin is expected to
decrease approximately four percentage points due to the loss of a major financial institution client and continued pricing pressure. Our operating margin is also expected to
decrease as a full year of NEBS results of operations will be included in our consolidated results. NEBS has historically had lower margins than our other businesses because of
their business model. Additionally, NEBS results of operations are expected to include $37 million of additional acquisition-related amortization expense. As discussed earlier under
Restructuring Charges, Asset Impairments and Other Developments, we expect to realize approximately $27 million of net cost savings in 2005 from the closing of check printing
facilities and other employee reductions. These savings are in comparison to our 2004 results of operations. However, it is becoming increasingly difficult to offset all of the revenue
loss in the Financial Services and Direct Checks segments through our cost management efforts. We expect diluted earnings per share to be between $0.75 and $0.79 for the first
quarter of 2005 and approximately $3.30 for the full year.

We anticipate that operating cash flow will exceed $265 million in 2005, compared to $307.6 million in 2004. The decrease is due primarily to an expected increase in contract
acquisition payments to financial institution clients and higher payments in early 2005 for performance-based employee compensation related to our 2004 operating performance.
For 2005, we expect NEBS to contribute approximately $45 to $60 million of operating cash flow after the increased interest payments resulting from financing the acquisition.

We expect to spend approximately $45 million on purchases of capital assets during 2005. Approximately $20 million is projected to be devoted to maintaining our business
and integration projects, with the remainder targeted primarily for information technology initiatives.

Our strong cash flows allowed us to increase our quarterly dividend payment from $0.37 per share to $0.40 per share in the first quarter of 2005. Although dividends are
subject to board of director approval on an ongoing basis, we currently expect no further changes to our dividend payment level. The 10 million share repurchase authorization
approved by our board of directors in August 2003 remains in place. We do not intend to repurchase a significant number of additional shares in the near future, but intend to focus
on paying down the debt issued to complete the acquisition of NEBS. We expect to pay down approximately $180 million of debt during 2005.

We intend to continue seeking cost saving opportunities throughout the company. One example is the planned installation of the SAP® sales and distribution module in our
order processing and call center operations. This new system will reduce redundancy while standardizing systems and processes. This project, which currently excludes the newly
acquired NEBS business, is expected to be completed by the end of 2005.

In addition, we will continue to focus over the next several months on the successful integration of NEBS. We have announced our intention to utilize a shared services
approach for both manufacturing and certain SG&A functions. As a result of this strategy, we closed the Tucker, Georgia facility in December 2004 and announced other reductions
in employees across functional areas. We also intend to close the facility in Los Angeles, California by the end of 2005 and we plan to close the facility in Athens, Ohio by mid-
2006. Our shared services approach will likely result in the exit of further activities. To ensure that we continue to meet customer expectations, significant analysis is required
before additional plans can be finalized. With the exit of these facilities and by taking advantage of other operational synergies, we estimate that we will be able to eliminate at least
$25 million of costs annually beginning in 2005, in comparison to NEBS historical results of operations.

Beginning in 2006, we expect that the success of our Small Business Services segment will offset the declines in our other two business segments. We anticipate growth in our
Small Business Services segment due to our larger customer base, expanded products and services, and additional cost synergies.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the Reform Act) provides a “safe harbor” for forward-looking statements to encourage companies to provide prospective
information. We are filing this cautionary statement in connection with the Reform Act. When we use the words or phrases “should result,”
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“believe,” “intend,” “plan,” “are expected to,” “targeted,” “will continue,” “will approximate,” “is anticipated,” “estimate,” “project” or similar expressions in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, in future filings with the SEC, in our press releases and in oral statements made by our representatives, they indicate forward-looking statements within the meaning of
the Reform Act.

” 2 <. 2 < ”

‘We want to caution you that any forward-looking statements made by us or on our behalf are subject to uncertainties and other factors that could cause them to be wrong. Some
of these uncertainties and other factors are discussed below under Certain Factors That May Affect Future Results (many of which have been discussed in prior filings with the
SEC). Although we have attempted to compile a comprehensive list of these important factors, we want to caution you that other factors may prove to be important in affecting
future operating results. New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all of these factors, nor can we assess the impact each factor or combination of
factors may have on our business.

You are further cautioned not to place undue reliance on those forward-looking statements because they speak only of our views as of the date the statements were made. We
undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

CERTAIN FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

The check printing portion of the payments industry is mature and, if it declines faster than expected, it could have a materially adverse impact on our operating results.



Check printing is, and is expected to continue to be, an essential part of our business and the principal source of our operating income. We primarily sell checks for personal
and small business use and believe that there will continue to be a substantial demand for these checks for the foreseeable future. However, according to our estimates, the total
number of checks written by individuals and small businesses continued to decline slightly in 2004, and the total number of personal, business and government checks written in the
United States has been in decline since the mid-1990s. We believe that the number of checks written will continue to decline due to the increasing use of alternative payment
methods, including credit cards, debit cards, smart cards, automated teller machines, direct deposit, electronic and other bill paying services, home banking applications and
Internet-based payment services. However, the rate and the extent to which alternative payment methods will achieve consumer acceptance and replace checks, whether as a result
of legislative developments, personal preference or otherwise, cannot be predicted with certainty. A surge in the popularity of any of these alternative payment methods could have a
material, adverse effect on the demand for checks and a material, adverse effect on our business, results of operations and prospects.

We face intense competition in all areas of our business.

Although we are the leading check printer in the United States, we face considerable competition. In addition to competition from alternative payment systems, we also face
intense competition from other check printers in our traditional financial institution sales channel, from direct mail sellers of checks, from sellers of business checks and forms, from
check printing software vendors and, increasingly, from Internet-based sellers of checks to individuals and small businesses. Additionally, low-price, high volume office supply
chain stores offer standardized business forms, checks and related products to small businesses. The corresponding pricing pressure placed on us has been significant and has
resulted in reduced profit margins. We expect these pricing pressures to continue to impact our results of operations. We cannot assure you that we will be able to compete
effectively against current and future competitors. Continued competition could result in additional price reductions, reduced profit margins, loss of customers and an increase in up-
front cash payments to financial institutions upon contract execution or renewal.

Continuing softness in direct mail response rates could have an adverse impact on our operating results.
Our Direct Checks segment and portions of our Small Business Services segment have experienced declines in response and retention rates related to direct mail promotional

materials. We believe that these declines are attributable to a number of factors, including the decline in check usage, the overall increase in direct mail solicitations received by our
target customers, the gradual obsolescence of our standardized forms
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products and in the case of our direct-to-consumer check business, the multi-box promotional strategies employed by us and our competitors. To offset these impacts, we may have
to modify and/or increase our marketing and sales efforts, which could result in increased expense.

The profitability of our Direct Checks segment depends in large part on our ability to secure adequate advertising media placements at acceptable rates, as well as the consumer
response rates generated by such advertising, and there can be no assurances regarding the future cost, effectiveness and/or availability of suitable advertising media. Competitive
pressure may inhibit our ability to reflect any of these increased costs in the prices of our products. We can provide no assurance that we will be able to sustain our current levels of
profitability in this situation.

Consolidation among financial institutions may adversely affect our ability to sell our products.

The number of financial institutions has declined due to large-scale consolidation in the last few years. In recent months, financial institution consolidation activities have
begun to increase once again. Margin pressures arise from such consolidation as merged entities seek not only the most favorable prices formerly offered to the predecessor
institutions, but also additional discounts due to the greater volume represented by the combined entity. This concentration greatly increases the importance of retaining our major
financial institution clients and attracting significant additional clients in an increasingly competitive environment. The increase in general negotiating leverage possessed by such
consolidated entities also presents a risk that new and/or renewed contracts with these institutions may not be secured on terms as favorable as those historically negotiated with
these clients. Although we devote considerable efforts toward the development of a competitively priced, high quality suite of products and services for the financial services
industry, there can be no assurance that significant financial institution clients will be retained or that the loss of a significant client can be counterbalanced through the addition of
new clients or by expanded sales to our remaining clients.

Standardized business forms and related products face technological obsolescence and changing customer preferences.

Continual technological improvements have provided small business customers with alternative means to enact and record business transactions. For example, the price and
performance capabilities of personal computers and related printers now provide a cost effective means to print low quality versions of business forms on plain paper. Additionally,
electronic transaction systems and off-the-shelf business software applications have been designed to automate several of the functions performed by business forms products. If we
are unable to develop new products and services with comparable profit margins, our results of operations could be adversely affected.

We face uncertainty with respect to recent and future acquisitions.

We acquired NEBS in June 2004 and have stated that we expect to eliminate at least $25 million of NEBS historical operating costs in 2005 as we integrate the two companies.
We have also stated that, beginning in 2006, we expect the growth of our Small Business Services segment to offset the impact of pricing pressure and declining personal check
usage in our other segments. The integration of any acquisition involves numerous risks, including, among others, difficulties in assimilating operations and products, diversion of
management’s attention from other business concerns, potential loss of our key employees or key employees of acquired businesses, potential exposure to unknown liabilities and
possible loss of our clients and customers or clients and customers of the acquired businesses. While we anticipate that we will be able to achieve our stated objectives, we can
provide no assurance that one or more of these factors will not negatively impact our results of operations.

In regards to future acquisitions, we cannot predict whether suitable acquisition candidates can be acquired on acceptable terms or whether any acquired products, technologies
or businesses will contribute to our revenues or earnings to any material extent. Significant acquisitions typically result in the incurrence of contingent liabilities or debt, or

additional amortization expense related to acquired intangible assets, and thus, could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our failure to successfully implement a project we have undertaken to replace major portions of our existing sales and distribution systems could negatively impact our
business.
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During 2005, we will continue to expand our use of the SAP software platform with the planned installation of the SAP sales and distribution module. Once implemented, we
expect the new system to reduce redundancy while standardizing systems and processes and reduce our costs. This is a significant information systems project with wide-reaching
impacts on our internal operations and business. We can provide no assurance that the amount of this investment will not exceed our expectations and result in materially increased
levels of expense. There is also no assurance that this initiative will achieve the expected cost savings or result in a positive return on our investment. Additionally, if the new system
does not operate as intended, or is not implemented as planned, there could be disruptions in our business which could adversely affect our results.

Forecasts involving future results reflect various assumptions that may prove to be incorrect.

From time to time, our representatives make predictions or forecasts regarding our future results, including, but not limited to, forecasts regarding estimated revenues, earnings
or earnings per share. Any forecast regarding our future performance reflects various assumptions which are subject to significant uncertainties, and, as a matter of course, may
prove to be incorrect. Further, the achievement of any forecast depends on numerous factors which are beyond our control. As a result, we cannot assure you that our performance
will be consistent with any management forecasts or that the variation from such forecasts will not be material and adverse. You are cautioned not to base your entire analysis of our
business and prospects upon isolated predictions, and are encouraged to use the entire available mix of historical and forward-looking information made available by us, and other
information affecting us and our products and services, including the factors discussed here.

In addition, independent analysts periodically publish reports regarding our projected future performance. The methodologies we employ in arriving at our own internal
projections and the approaches taken by independent analysts in making their estimates are likely different in many significant respects. We expressly disclaim any responsibility to
advise analysts or the public markets of our views regarding the current accuracy of the published estimates of independent analysts. If you are relying on these estimates, you
should pursue your own investigation and analysis of their accuracy and the reasonableness of the assumptions on which they are based.

We may be unable to protect our rights in intellectual property.

Despite our efforts to protect our intellectual property, third parties may infringe or misappropriate our intellectual property or otherwise independently develop substantially
equivalent products and services. In addition, designs licensed from third parties account for an increasing portion of our revenues, and there can be no guarantee that such licenses
will be available to us indefinitely or on terms that would allow us to continue to be profitable with those products. The loss of intellectual property protection or the inability to
secure or enforce intellectual property protection could harm our business and ability to compete. We rely on a combination of trademark and copyright laws, trade secret protection
and confidentiality and license agreements to protect our trademarks, software and know-how. We may be required to spend significant resources to protect our trade secrets and
monitor and police our intellectual property rights.

We are dependent upon third party providers for certain significant information technology needs.

‘We have entered into agreements with third party providers for the provision of information technology services, including software development and support services, and
personal computer, telecommunications, network server and help desk services. In the event that one or more of these providers is not able to provide adequate information
technology services, we would be adversely affected. Although we believe that information technology services are available from numerous sources, a failure to perform by one or
more of our service providers could cause a disruption in our business while we obtain an alternative source of supply.

Legislation relating to consumer privacy protection could harm our business.

We are subject to regulations implementing the privacy and information security requirements of the federal financial modernization law known as the Gramm-Leach-Bliley

Act and other federal regulation and state law on the same subject. These laws and regulations require us to develop and implement policies to protect the security and
confidentiality of consumers’ nonpublic personal information and to disclose these
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policies to consumers before a customer relationship is established and annually thereafter. These regulations could have the effect of foreclosing future business initiatives.

More restrictive legislation or regulations have been introduced in the past and could be introduced in the future in Congress and the states. We are unable to predict whether
more restrictive legislation or regulations will be adopted in the future. Any future legislation or regulations could have a negative impact on our business, results of operations or
prospects.

Laws and regulations may be adopted in the future with respect to the Internet, e-commerce or marketing practices generally relating to consumer privacy. Such laws or
regulations may impede the growth of the Internet and/or use of other sales or marketing vehicles. As an example, new privacy laws could decrease traffic to our websites, decrease
telemarketing opportunities and decrease the demand for our products and services. Additionally, the applicability to the Internet of existing laws governing property ownership,
taxation, libel and personal privacy is uncertain and may remain uncertain for a considerable length of time.

We may be subject to sales and other taxes which could have adverse effects on our business.

In accordance with current federal, state and local tax laws, and the constitutional limitations thereon, we currently collect sales, use or other similar taxes in state and local
jurisdictions where our direct-to-consumer businesses have a physical presence. One or more state or local jurisdictions may seek to impose sales tax collection obligations on us
and other out-of-state companies which engage in remote or online commerce. Further, tax law and the interpretation of constitutional limitations thereon is subject to change. In
addition, any new operations of these businesses in states where they do not currently have a physical presence could subject shipments of goods by these businesses into such states
to sales tax under current or future laws. If one or more state or local jurisdictions successfully asserts that we must collect sales or other taxes beyond our current practices, it could
have a material, adverse affect on our business.

We may be subject to environmental risks.

Our check printing facilities are subject to many existing and proposed federal and state regulations designed to protect the environment. In some instances, we owned and
operated our check printing facilities before the environmental regulations came into existence. We have sold former check printing facilities to third parties and in some instances
have agreed to indemnify the buyer of the facility for certain environmental liabilities. We have obtained insurance coverage related to environmental issues at certain of these
facilities. We believe that, based on current information, we will not be required to incur additional material and uninsured expense with respect to these sites, but unforeseen
conditions could result in additional exposure at lesser levels.



47

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We are exposed to changes in interest rates primarily as a result of the borrowing activities used to support our capital structure, maintain liquidity and fund business
operations. We do not enter into financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes. During 2004, we utilized commercial paper to pay off the bridge financing agreement
used to finance the NEBS acquisition, as well as to fund working capital requirements. On October 1, 2004, we refinanced a portion of our commercial paper debt with fixed rate,
long-term debt. In addition, we have various lines of credit available and capital lease obligations which are due through 2009. The nature and amount of debt outstanding can be
expected to vary as a result of future business requirements, market conditions and other factors. As of December 31, 2004, our total debt was comprised of the following (dollars in
thousands):

Weighted-
average
Carrying interest
amount Fair value") rate

Long-term notes maturing October 2007 $ 324815 $ 318923 3.50%
Long-term notes maturing December 2012 298,494 295,629 5.00%
Long-term notes maturing October 2014 274,399 263,508 5.13%
Commercial paper 264,000 264,000 2.45%
Long-term notes maturing September 2006 50,000 49,397 2.75%
Long-term notes maturing November 2005 25,000 24,839 2.26%
Capital lease obligations maturing through September 2009 7,499 7,499 10.33%
Total debt $ 1,244207 $ 1,233,795 3.98%

() Based on quoted market rates as of December 31, 2004, except for our capital lease obligations which are shown at carrying value.

Based on the outstanding variable rate debt in our portfolio, a one percentage point increase in interest rates would have resulted in additional interest expense of $4.4 million
for 2004, $1.6 million for 2003 and $1.5 million for 2002.

As a result of the acquisition of NEBS in June 2004, we are now exposed to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Investments in and loans and advances to foreign

subsidiaries and branches, as well as the operations of these businesses, are denominated in foreign currencies. The effect of exchange rate changes is expected to have a minimal
impact on our results of operations and liquidity, as NEBS foreign operations represent a relatively small portion of our business.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Deluxe Corporation:

‘We have completed an integrated audit of Deluxe Corporation’s 2004 consolidated financial statements and of its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2004 and audits of its 2003 and 2002 consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Our
opinions, based on our audits, are presented below.

Consolidated financial statements
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders’ (deficit) equity and

cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Deluxe Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.



These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation,” as of January 1, 2004.

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A, that the Company
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on management’s assessment and on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. An audit of internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and
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performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and
(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management has excluded New England Business Service, Inc. from its assessment of
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 because it was acquired by the Company in a purchase business combination during 2004. We have also excluded
New England Business Service, Inc. from our audit of internal control over financial reporting. New England Business Service, Inc. is a wholly-owned subsidiary whose total assets
and total revenues represent 64.3% and 23.2%, respectively, of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2004.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 16, 2005
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DELUXE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in thousands, except share par value)

December 31,
2004 2003



Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 15492 $ 2,968
Restricted cash 517 —
Trade accounts receivable-net of allowances for uncollectible accounts 110,529 37,066
Inventories and supplies 38,890 18,652
Deferred income taxes 13,531 258
Current assets of discontinued operations 22,641 —
Other current assets 38,786 19,984
Total current assets 240,386 78,928
Long-term Investments 47,529 42,510
Property, Plant, and Equipment-net of accumulated depreciation 158,162 123,615
Assets Held for Sale 7,719 —
Intangibles-net of accumulated amortization 297,184 78,161
Goodwill 580,740 82,237
Non-Current Assets of Discontinued Operations 6,964 —
Other Non-Current Assets 160,395 157,509
Total assets $1,499,079 $ 562,960
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 72984 § 46,694
Accrued liabilities 202,979 126,821
Short-term debt 264,000 213,250
Long-term debt due within one year 26,359 1,074
Current liabilities of discontinued operations 4,876 —
Total current liabilities 571,198 387,839
Long-Term Debt 953,848 380,620
Deferred Income Taxes 82,489 42,654
Non-Current Liabilities of Discontinued Operations 3,490 —
Other Non-Current Liabilities 66,545 49,930
Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 9 and 12)
Shareholders’ Deficit:
Common shares $1 par value (authorized: 500,000,000 shares;
issued: 2004 — 50,265,695; 2003 — 50,173,067) 50,266 50,173
Additional paid-in capital 20,761 —
Accumulated deficit (235,651) (345,950)
Unearned compensation — 41)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax (13,867) (2,265)
Total shareholders’ deficit (178,491) (298,083)
Total liabilities and shareholders’ deficit $1,499,079 $ 562,960
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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DELUXE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)
Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Revenue $1,567,015 $1,242,141  $1,283,983
Cost of goods sold 535,949 425,965 435,794
Gross Profit 1,031,066 816,176 848,189
Selling, general and administrative expense 683,184 492,511 502,961
Asset impairment and net disposition (gains) losses (30) 4,744 297
Operating Income 347,912 318,921 344,931
Other income (expense) 442 (669) 195



Income Before Interest and Taxes

Interest expense
Interest income

Income Before Income Taxes
Provision for income taxes
Income From Continuing Operations
Discontinued Operations:
Loss from operations
Income tax benefit
Loss From Discontinued Operations
Net Income
Basic Earnings per Share:
Income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Basic Earnings per Share
Diluted Earnings per Share:
Income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations

Diluted Earnings per Share

Cash Dividends per Share

348,354 318,252 345,126
(32.851) (19,241) (5,079)
1,370 369 675
316,873 299,380 340,722
118,225 106,908 126,448
198,648 192,472 214,274
(1,098) — —

441 — —

(657) — —

$ 197991 $ 192472 214,274
$ 39 $ 353 3.41
(0.01) — —

$ 395 S 353 3.41
$ 393 $ 349 336
(0.01) — —

$ 392 $ 349 336
$ 148 § 1.48 1.48

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

DELUXE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Dollars in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Net Income $197,991 $192,472 $214,274
Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income, Net of Tax:
Loss on derivative instruments:
Loss on derivative instruments arising during the year (14,803) — (2,496)
Less reclassification of loss on derivative
instruments from other comprehensive income to net
income 771 221 10
Unrealized gains on securities:
Unrealized holding gains arising during the year 161 — —
Less reclassification adjustments for gains included in
net income (51) — —
Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment 2,320 — —
Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income (11,602) 221 (2,486)
Comprehensive Income $186,389  $192,693  $211,788

Related Tax Benefit (Expense) of Other Comprehensive
(Loss) Income Included in Above Amounts:




Loss on derivative instruments:

Loss on derivative instruments arising during the year $ 8762 $ — $ 1,530
Less reclassification of loss on derivative
instruments from other comprehensive income to net
income (456) (123) (6)
Unrealized gains on securities:
Unrealized holding gains arising during the year (108) — —
Less reclassification adjustments for gains included in
net income 34 — —
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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DELUXE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' (DEFICIT) EQUITY
(Dollars and shares in thousands)
Retained Accumulated Total
Common shares Additional earnings other shareholders’
Number Par paid-in (accumulated Unearned comprehensive equity
of shares value capital deficit) compensation loss (deficit)
Balance, December 31, 2001 64,102 $ 64,102 $ — $ 14,563 $ (60) $ — $ 78,605
Net income — — — 214,274 — — 214,274
Cash dividends — — — (92,940) — — (92,940)
Common shares issued 1,255 1,255 30,295 — — — 31,550
Tax benefit of stock options — — 8,648 — — — 8,648
Common shares repurchased (3,898) (3,898) (38,388) (130,517) (172,803)
Other common shares retired (13) (13) (555) — — — (568)
Stock-based compensation and
related amortization — — — — 36 — 36
Loss on derivatives, net of tax — — — — — (2,486) (2,486)
Balance, December 31, 2002 61,446 61,446 — 5,380 (24) (2,486) 64,316
Net income — — — 192,472 — — 192,472
Cash dividends — — — (80,453) — — (80,453)
Common shares issued 1,041 1,041 22,869 — — — 23,910
Tax benefit of stock options — — 6,139 — — — 6,139
Common shares repurchased (12,239) (12,239) (32,655) (463,349) — — (508,243)
Other common shares retired (75) (75) (3,006) — — — (3,081)
Stock-based compensation and
related amortization — — 6,653 — 17) — 6,636
Loss on derivatives, net of tax — — — — — 221 221
Balance, December 31, 2003 50,173 50,173 — (345,950) (41) (2,265) (298,083)
Net income — — — 197,991 — — 197,991
Cash dividends — — — (74,302) — — (74,302)
Common shares issued 760 760 18,163 — — — 18,923
Tax benefit of stock options — — 3,398 — — — 3,398
Common shares repurchased (634) (634) (11,496) (13,390) — — (25,520)
Other common shares retired (36) (36) (1,508) — — — (1,544)
Fair value of employee
stock-based compensation 3 3 12,204 — 41 — 12,248
Loss on derivatives, net of tax — — — — — (14,032) (14,032)
Translation adjustment — — — — — 2,320 2,320
Unrealized gain on securities,
net of tax — — — — — 110 110
Balance, December 31, 2004 50,266 $ 50,266 $ 20,761 $ (235,651) $ — $  (13,867) $ (178,491)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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DELUXE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW SHEETS

(Dollars in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2002

2004
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income $ 197,991 $192,472 $ 214,274
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
by operating activities of continuing operations:
Loss from discontinued operations 657 — —
Depreciation 27,330 22,773 23,953
Amortization of intangibles 66,526 37,309 34,252
Amortization of contract acquisition costs 34,528 25,586 15,161
Employee stock-based compensation expense 12,248 954 3,102
Deferred income taxes (2,654) (7,494) 11,104
Other non-cash items, net 12,719 15,214 10,128
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of
acquisition and discontinued operations:
Trade accounts receivable (15,295) (2,883) 4,778
Inventories and supplies 3,980 1,482 1,976
Other current assets (61) 1,487 (5,766)
Contract acquisition payments (15,778) (47,728) (34,890)
Deferred advertising costs 2,748 (11,786) 4,670
Other non-current assets (4,695) (10,346) (9,808)
Accounts payable 1,338 (10,095) 7,828
Accrued and other non-current liabilities (13,991) (25,478) (23,623)
Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations 307,591 181,467 257,139
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Payments for acquisition, net of cash acquired (624,859) — —
Increase in restricted cash (517) — —
Purchases of capital assets (43,817) (22,034) (40,708)
Other (1,644) (2,849) (3,441)
Net cash used by investing activities of continuing operations (670,837) (24,883) (44,149)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Net borrowings (payments) of short-term debt 50,750 213,250 (150,000)
Proceeds from long-term debt, net of debt issuance costs 595,536 74,800 295,722
Payments on long-term debt (167,050) (1,743) (1,723)
Settlement of interest rate lock agreements (23,564) — (4,026)
Change in book overdrafts (3,693) (1,068) (2,805)
Payments for common shares repurchased (26,637)  (507,126)  (172,803)
Proceeds from issuing shares under employee plans 18,923 23,869 30,869
Cash dividends paid to shareholders (74,302) (80,453) (92,940)
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities of continuing
operations 369,963 (278,471) (97,706)
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash 1,155 — —
Net Cash Provided by Discontinued Operations 4,652 — —
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 12,524 (121,887) 115,284
Cash and Cash Equivalents:
Beginning of Year 2,968 124,855 9,571
End of Year $ 15492 § 2,968 $ 124855

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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DELUXE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1: Significant accounting policies



Consolidation— The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Deluxe Corporation and all majority owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts,
transactions and profits have been eliminated.

Use of estimates — We have prepared the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. In this process, it is necessary for us to make certain assumptions and related estimates affecting the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and related
notes. These estimates and assumptions are developed based upon all information available using our best efforts. However, actual results can differ from assumed and estimated
amounts.

Foreign currency translation — The financial statements of our foreign subsidiaries are measured in the respective subsidiaries’ functional currencies and are translated into
U.S. dollars. Assets and liabilities are translated using the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Revenue and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates
during the year. The resulting translation gains and losses are reflected in accumulated other comprehensive loss in the shareholders’ deficit section of our consolidated balance
sheets. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are recorded in other income and expense in our consolidated statements of income.

Cash and cash equivalents — We consider all cash on hand, money market funds and other highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash
and cash equivalents. The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents approximate fair value. As a result of our cash management
system, checks issued but not presented to the banks for payment may create negative book cash balances. Such negative balances are included in accounts payable and totaled $8.0
million as of December 31, 2004 and $8.8 million as of December 31, 2003.

Restricted cash — Restricted cash relates to the acquisition of New England Business Service, Inc. (NEBS) in June 2004 (see Note 4). Upon acquisition, we were required to
place on deposit the funds needed to pay shareholders who did not tender their shares of NEBS common stock under our tender offer. These shareholders must present their stock
certificates in order to receive their portion of the funds. The funds must remain on deposit for a period of nine months, after which time the funds will be returned to us, and
thereafter, any remaining unclaimed funds will be remitted to the appropriate governmental authority under applicable escheat laws.

Trade accounts receivable — Trade accounts receivable are initially recorded at fair value upon the sale of goods or services to customers. They are stated net of allowances for
uncollectible accounts which represent estimated losses resulting from the inability of customers to make the required payments. When determining the allowances for uncollectible
accounts, we take several factors into consideration including the overall composition of accounts receivable aging, our prior history of accounts receivable write-offs, the type of
customer and our day-to-day knowledge of specific customers. Changes in the allowances for uncollectible accounts are recorded as bad debt expense and are included in selling,
general and administrative (SG&A) expense in our consolidated statements of income.

Inventories — Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Beginning July 1, 2004, approximate cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method for all
inventories. Prior to July 1, 2004, we accounted for a portion of our inventories using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method. This change resulted in a decrease in cost of goods sold of
$2.2 million, primarily in our Financial Services segment. This equates to an increase in net income of $1.4 million, or $0.03 per diluted share. The effect of this accounting change
on prior periods was immaterial, as was the effect on the current year. As such, we did
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not restate prior period financial statements to reflect this change. We consider the FIFO method to be preferable. The recently acquired NEBS business (see Note 4) also utilized
the FIFO method, and now we have a consistent accounting methodology across the company. Additionally, the effect on net income of utilizing the FIFO method is not
significantly different than the results that would be obtained using the LIFO method. As of December 31, 2003, $8.2 million of total inventories was accounted for under the LIFO
method, and LIFO inventories were $2.7 million less than replacement cost.

Supplies — Supplies are stated at the lower of cost or market and consist of items not used directly in the production of goods, such as maintenance and janitorial supplies
utilized in the production area. Cost is determined using the FIFO method.

Cash held for customers — As part of our Canadian payroll services business, we collect funds from our clients for the payment of payroll and taxes. We hold these funds
temporarily until payments are remitted to the clients” employees and the appropriate taxing authorities. These funds are reported as cash held for customers and are included in
other current assets in our consolidated balance sheets. These amounts totaled $9.8 million as of December 31, 2004. The corresponding liability for these obligations is included in
accrued liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet.

Long-term investments — Long-term investments consist primarily of cash surrender values of life insurance contracts. The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated
balance sheets for these investments approximate fair value. Additionally, at December 31, 2004, long-term investments included $3.4 million of investments acquired upon the
acquisition of NEBS (see Note 4). These investments consist primarily of domestic mutual funds. They are classified as available for sale and are carried at fair value, based on
quoted market prices. Unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, are reported in accumulated other comprehensive loss in the shareholders’ deficit section of our consolidated balance
sheets. Realized gains and losses and permanent declines in value are included in other income and expense in the consolidated statements of income. The cost of securities sold is
determined using the average cost method.

Property, plant and equipment — Property, plant and equipment, including leasehold and other improvements that extend an asset’s useful life or productive capabilities, are
stated at historical cost. Buildings are assigned 40-year lives and machinery and equipment are generally assigned lives ranging from three to 11 years, with a weighted-average life
of 8.7 years as of December 31, 2004. Buildings, machinery and equipment are generally depreciated using accelerated methods. Leasehold and building improvements are
depreciated on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the property or the life of the lease, whichever is shorter. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred.
Gains or losses resulting from the disposition of property, plant and equipment are included in asset impairment and net disposition (gains) losses in the consolidated statements of
income.

Intangibles — Intangible assets are stated at historical cost. Amortization expense is generally determined on the straight-line basis over periods ranging from six months to 15
years, with a weighted-average life of 6.1 years as of December 31, 2004. Additionally, certain trade name assets acquired as part of the acquisition of NEBS (see Note 4) have been
assigned indefinite lives. As such, these assets are not amortized, but are subject to impairment testing on at least an annual basis. Gains or losses resulting from the disposition of
intangibles are included in asset impairment and net disposition (gains) losses in the consolidated statements of income.

We capitalize costs of software developed or obtained for internal use, including website development costs, once the preliminary project stage has been completed,
management commits to funding the project and it is probable that the project will be completed and the software will be used to perform the function intended. Capitalized costs
include only (1) external direct costs of materials and services consumed in developing or obtaining internal-use software, (2) payroll and payroll-related costs for employees who
are directly associated with and who devote time to the internal-use software project, and (3) interest costs incurred, when material, while developing internal-use software. Costs
incurred in populating websites with information about the company or products are expensed as incurred.
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Capitalization of costs ceases when the project is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. The carrying value of internal-use software is reviewed in accordance with
our policy on impairment of long-lived assets and amortizable intangibles.

During the first quarter of 2004, we revised the estimated useful lives for certain of our software and production assets, as we expected that the assets would be replaced or
retired sooner than originally anticipated. The weighted-average useful life for these assets was shortened from 8.0 years to 6.8 years. This change in accounting estimate resulted in
increased depreciation and amortization expense of $8.4 million in 2004. This equates to a decrease in net income of $5.3 million, or $0.10 per diluted share.

Impairment of long-lived assets and amortizable intangibles — We evaluate the recoverability of property, plant, equipment and amortizable intangibles not held for sale
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable. Such circumstances could include, but are not limited to, (1) a
significant decrease in the market value of an asset, (2) a significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used or in its physical condition, or (3) an
accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount originally expected for the acquisition or construction of an asset. We measure the carrying amount of the asset against
the estimated undiscounted future cash flows associated with it. Should the sum of the expected future net cash flows be less than the carrying value of the asset being evaluated, an
impairment loss would be recognized. The impairment loss would be calculated as the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. The
estimate of fair value is based on various valuation techniques, including the discounted value of estimated future cash flows.

We evaluate the recoverability of property, plant, equipment and intangibles held for sale by comparing the asset’s carrying amount with its fair value less costs to sell. Should
the fair value less costs to sell be less than the carrying value of the long-lived asset, an impairment loss would be recognized. The impairment loss would be calculated as the
amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset less costs to sell.

The evaluation of asset impairment requires us to make assumptions about future cash flows over the life of the asset being evaluated. These assumptions require significant
judgment and actual results may differ from assumed and estimated amounts.

Impairment of non-amortizable intangibles and goodwill — In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets, we evaluate the carrying value of non-amortizable intangibles and goodwill during the third quarter of each year and between annual evaluations if events occur or
circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying amount. Such circumstances could include, but are not limited to,
(1) a significant adverse change in legal factors or in business climate, (2) unanticipated competition, or (3) an adverse action or assessment by a regulator.

We measure the carrying amount of a non-amortizable intangible asset against its estimated fair value. Should the estimated fair value be less than the carrying value of the
asset being evaluated, an impairment loss would be recognized. The impairment loss would be calculated as the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds the fair
value of the asset. The estimate of fair value is based on various valuation techniques, including the discounted value of estimated future cash flows.

When evaluating whether goodwill is impaired, we compare the fair value of the reporting unit to which the goodwill is assigned to its carrying amount. If the carrying amount
of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, then the amount of the impairment loss must be measured. The impairment loss would be calculated by comparing the implied fair value of
reporting unit goodwill to its carrying amount. In calculating the implied fair value of goodwill, the fair value of the reporting unit is allocated to all of the other assets and liabilities
of that unit based on their fair values. The excess of the fair value of a reporting unit over the amount assigned to its other assets and liabilities is the implied fair value of goodwill.
An
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impairment loss would be recognized when the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value. Our evaluations of goodwill performed during 2004, 2003 and 2002
resulted in no impairment losses.

Contract acquisition costs — We record contract acquisition costs when we sign or renew certain contracts with our financial institution clients. These costs consist of cash
payments or accruals related to amounts paid or owed to financial institution clients by our Financial Services segment. Contract acquisition costs are generally amortized as
reductions of revenue on the straight-line basis over the related contract term. Currently, these amounts are being amortized over periods ranging from two to eight years, with a
weighted-average life of 4.9 years as of December 31, 2004. Whenever events or changes occur that impact the related contract, including significant declines in the anticipated
profitability, we evaluate the carrying value of the contract acquisition costs to determine if impairment has occurred. Contract acquisition costs consist of balances relating to
numerous financial institutions. Should a financial institution cancel a contract prior to the agreement’s termination date, or should the volume of orders realized through a financial
institution fall below contractually-specified minimums, we generally have a contractual right to a refund of the remaining unamortized contract acquisition costs. These costs are
included in other non-current assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

Advertising costs — Deferred advertising costs include materials, printing, labor and postage costs related primarily to direct response advertising programs of our Direct
Checks and Small Business Services segments. These costs are amortized as SG&A expense over periods (not exceeding 18 months) that correspond to the estimated revenue
streams of the individual advertisements. The actual revenue streams are analyzed at least annually to monitor the propriety of the amortization periods. Judgment is required in
estimating the future revenue streams, especially with regard to check re-orders which can span an extended period of time. Significant changes in the actual revenue streams would
require the amortization periods to be modified, thus impacting our results of operations during the period in which the change occurred and in subsequent periods. For our Direct
Checks segment, approximately 70% of the costs of individual advertisements are currently expensed within six months of the advertisement. The majority of the deferred
advertising costs of our Small Business Services segment are fully amortized within six months of the advertisement. Deferred advertising costs are included in other non-current
assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

During the first quarter of 2003, we reviewed our various marketing programs and the related revenues generated from these programs. As a result of this review, we modified
the estimated revenue streams over which our deferred advertising costs are amortized. We shortened the amortization periods from an average of 18 months to a maximum of 18
months, and we revised our pattern of amortization to reflect the fact that due to the promotional strategies of our Direct Checks segment, a larger proportion of revenues are
generated from reorders than from initial orders. Additionally, the decline in check usage and Direct Checks promotional strategies for multi-box orders resulted in a lengthening of
the check reorder cycle. The net impact of these changes in accounting estimates resulted in a decrease in SG&A expense of approximately $7 million during 2003. This equates to
a $4.5 million increase in net income, or $0.08 per diluted share. During 2004 and 2002, no material revisions were made to the amortization of deferred advertising costs.



Major non-direct response advertising projects are expensed the first time the advertising takes place, while other costs of non-direct response advertising are expensed as
incurred. Catalogs provided to financial institution clients of the Financial Services segment are accounted for as prepaid assets until they are shipped to financial institutions. The
total amount of advertising expense for continuing operations was $118.1 million in 2004, $76.4 million in 2003 and $78.2 million in 2002.

Restructuring accruals — Over the past several years, we have recorded restructuring accruals as a result of facility closings and cost management efforts. The acquisition of
NEBS has also resulted in restructuring accruals as we combine the two companies and exit certain activities. The primary component of these charges has been employee
termination benefits paid under our ongoing severance benefit plan. We record charges for these employee termination benefits when it is probable that a liability has been incurred
and the amount of the liability is reasonably estimable. As such, judgment is involved in determining when
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it is appropriate to record restructuring accruals. Additionally, we are required to make estimates and assumptions in calculating the restructuring accruals, as many times employees
choose to voluntarily leave the company prior to their termination date or they secure another position within the company. In these situations, the employees do not receive
termination benefits. To the extent our assumptions and estimates differ from actual employee behavior, subsequent adjustments to restructuring accruals have been and will be
required. Restructuring accruals are included in accrued liabilities and other non-current liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets.

Deferred income taxes — Deferred income taxes result from temporary differences between the financial reporting basis of assets and liabilities and their respective tax
reporting bases. Current deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted in the consolidated balance sheets, as are long-term deferred tax assets and liabilities. Future tax benefits are
recognized to the extent that realization of such benefits is more likely than not.

Derivative financial instruments — We have used derivative financial instruments to hedge interest rate exposures related to the issuance of long-term debt (see Note 12). We do
not use derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

We recognize all derivative financial instruments in the consolidated financial statements at fair value regardless of the purpose or intent for holding the instrument. Changes in
the fair value of derivative financial instruments are recognized periodically either in income or in shareholders’ deficit as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss,
depending on whether the derivative financial instrument qualifies for hedge accounting, and if so, whether it qualifies as a fair value hedge or a cash flow hedge. Generally,
changes in fair values of derivatives accounted for as fair value hedges are recorded in income along with the portion of the change in the fair value of the hedged items that relate
to the hedged risk. Changes in fair values of derivatives accounted for as cash flow hedges, to the extent they are effective as hedges, are recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive loss net of taxes. Changes in fair values of derivatives not qualifying as hedges are reported in income.

Revenue recognition — Revenue is generally recognized when products are shipped or as services are performed. Revenue includes amounts billed to customers for shipping
and handling and pass-through costs, such as marketing materials for which our financial institution clients reimburse us. Costs incurred for shipping and handling and pass-through
costs are reflected in cost of goods sold. While we do provide our customers with a right of return, revenue is not deferred. Rather, a reserve for sales returns is recorded in
accordance with SFAS No. 48, Revenue Recognition When Right of Return Exists, based on significant historical experience. Our level of sales returns has not been significant
historically.

At times, a financial institution client may terminate its contract with us prior to the end of the contract term. In many of these cases, the financial institution is contractually
required to remit a contract buyout payment. Such payments are recorded as revenue when the termination agreement is executed, provided that we have no further service or
contractual obligations and collection of the funds is assured.

Revenue is presented in the consolidated statements of income net of rebates, discounts and amortization of contract acquisition costs. These revenue reductions are discussed
in our sales incentives and contract acquisition costs accounting policies. Additionally, reported revenue for our Financial Services segment does not reflect the full retail price paid

by end-consumers to their financial institutions. Revenue reflects the amounts paid to us by our financial institution clients.

Sales incentives — We enter into contractual agreements with financial institution clients for rebates on certain products we sell. We record these amounts as reductions of
revenue in the consolidated statements of income and as accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets when the related revenue is recorded.

At times we may also sell products at discounted prices or provide free products to customers when they purchase a specified product. Discounts are recorded as reductions of
revenue when the related
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revenue is recorded. The cost of free products is recorded as cost of goods sold when the revenue for the related purchase is recorded.

Employee stock-based compensation — On January 1, 2004, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. We
are reporting this change in accounting principle using the modified prospective method of adoption described in SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation —
Transition and Disclosure. Beginning in 2004, our results of operations reflect compensation expense for all employee stock-based compensation, including the unvested portion of
stock options granted prior to 2004. This method results in the same amount of compensation expense which would have been recognized had the fair value recognition provisions
of SFAS No. 123 been applied from its original effective date. Prior to 2004, we accounted for our employee stock-based compensation in accordance with Accounting Principles
Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Under this method of accounting, no compensation expense was recognized for stock options or for our
employee stock purchase plan. In accordance with the modified prospective method of transition, results for prior years have not been restated to reflect this change in accounting
principle. For 2003 and 2002, the pro forma net income and earnings per share information presented below was determined as if we had accounted for our employee stock-based
compensation under the fair value method of SFAS No. 123.

The fair value of options is estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. During 2003, we modified the method used to determine the
assumptions used in valuing options by utilizing only historical data subsequent to the spin-off of our former eFunds segment in December 2000. Prior to 2003, we did not have
enough historical information subsequent to the eFunds spin-off to provide a statistically valid sample of observations. The following weighted-average assumptions were used in
valuing options issued:

2004 2003 2002



Risk-free interest rate (%) 3.6

Dividend yield (%) 4.0
Expected volatility (%) 22.0
Weighted-average option life (years) 55

2.9 4.8
43 6.0
244 26.2
6.0 6.0
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The weighted-average fair value of options granted was $6.64 per share in 2004, $6.06 per share in 2003 and $7.42 per share in 2002. The estimated fair value of the options is

recognized as expense on the straight-line basis over the options’ vesting periods. Options generally vest one-third each year over three years. The following table illustrates the
effect on net income and earnings per share as if the fair value method had been applied to all outstanding and unvested awards in 2003 and 2002. The information presented for

2004 reflects our actual results of operations.

Actual Pro Forma
(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002
Net income, as reported $ 197,991 $ 192,472 $ 214,274
Add employee stock-based compensation included in
net income:
Stock options and employee stock purchase plan 6,924 — 303
Performance shares 447 — —
Restricted stock and restricted stock units 4,877 954 2,799
Total 12,248 954 3,102
Tax benefit (4,569) (340) (1,151)
Employee stock-based compensation included in net
income, net of tax 7,679 614 1,951
Deduct fair value employee stock-based compensation,
net of tax (7,679) (5,077) (5,239)
Pro forma net income $ 197,991 $ 188,009 $ 210,986
Earnings per share:
Basic — as reported 3.95 3.53 341
pro forma 3.95 345 3.36
Diluted — as reported 3.92 3.49 3.36
pro forma 3.92 342 3.32

Earnings per share — Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share is based on

the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the year, adjusted to give effect to common stock equivalents such as stock options and restricted stock units
issued under our stock incentive plan and shares contingently issuable under our performance share and officers’ annual incentive compensation programs (see Note 10).

Comprehensive income — Comprehensive income includes charges and credits to shareholders’ equity that are not the result of transactions with shareholders. Our total
comprehensive income consists of net income, gains and losses on derivative instruments, unrealized gains and losses on securities and foreign currency translation adjustments.
The gains and losses on derivative instruments, the unrealized gains and losses on securities and the foreign currency translation adjustments are reflected as accumulated other
comprehensive loss in our consolidated balance sheets and statements of shareholders’ deficit. Accumulated other comprehensive loss was comprised of the following as of

December 31 (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Unrealized loss on derivatives (16,297) $ (2,265) $ (2,486)
Unrealized gain on securities 110 — —
Translation adjustment 2,320 — —
Total (13,867) $ (2,265) $ (2,486)
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Recently adopted accounting pronouncements — In May 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. FAS 106-2,
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003. This FSP outlines the appropriate accounting
treatment for the effects of the new Medicare law, including the required financial statement disclosures, and supersedes the previous guidance issued by the FASB in January 2004.
The new Medicare law introduced a prescription drug benefit under Medicare, as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that provide a benefit that
is at least actuarially equivalent to the Medicare plan. Our retiree medical plans do provide prescription drug coverage which is at least actuarially equivalent to the Medicare plan.
Effective April 1, 2004, we elected to adopt the accounting treatment required by FSP No. FAS 106-2 utilizing the retroactive application method. As a result, our post-retirement
benefit expense for the last three quarters of 2004 reflects the impact of the new Medicare law. This impact is discussed in Note 11.

In November 2004, the FASB ratified a consensus reached by the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) regarding Issue No. 03-13, Applying the Conditions in Paragraph 42 of
FASB Statement No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets, in Determining Whether to Report Discontinued Operations. This issue provides
additional guidance concerning situations when the disposal of a component of a business should be reported as discontinued operations in a company’s financial statements. We
applied the guidance contained in this issue when analyzing the components of our business reported as discontinued operations in our 2004 consolidated financial statements (see
Note 5).

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 109-1, Application of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production
Activities Provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004. This FSP states that the tax deduction provided for under the new law should be recorded as a special deduction and
not as a reduction in the tax rate. Thus, the tax benefit of the deduction is recognized in the periods the deduction is reported on the tax return. Deferred tax assets and liabilities do
not reflect the deductions to be taken in future years. Since the deduction is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2004, there was no impact on our 2004
provision for income taxes.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 109-2, Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs
Creation Act of 2004. This FSP allows additional time for companies to determine how the new law affects a company’s accounting for deferred tax liabilities on unremitted foreign
earnings. The new law provides for a special one-time deduction of 85% of certain foreign earnings that are repatriated and which meet certain requirements. We are currently
evaluating whether any of the earnings of our Canadian operations will be repatriated in accordance with the terms of this law. The maximum amount of earnings that could be
repatriated is approximately $34 million, which would result in tax expense of approximately $3.5 million. We expect our evaluation to be completed in the second quarter of 2005.

Accounting pronouncements not yet adopted — In December 2004, the FASB issued a revision to SFAS No. 123. The new statement is referred to as SFAS No. 123(R) and is
entitled Share-Based Payment. The new statement requires companies to recognize expense for stock-based compensation in the statement of income and is effective for us on July
1,2005. We do not expect the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) to result in a significant change in the compensation expense we currently recognize in our statements of income
under SFAS No. 123.
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Note 2: Supplementary balance sheet and cash flow information

Trade accounts receivable — Net trade accounts receivable was comprised of the following at December 31 (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003
Trade accounts receivable $ 115,728 $ 38,947
Allowances for uncollectible accounts (5,199) (1,881)
Trade accounts receivable — net $ 110,529 $ 37,066

Changes in the allowances for uncollectible accounts for continuing operations were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Balance, December 31, 2001 $ 1,428
Bad debt expense 3,029
Write-offs, net of recoveries (2,607)

Balance, December 31, 2002 1,850
Bad debt expense 3,130
Write-offs, net of recoveries (3,099)

Balance, December 31, 2003 1,881
Bad debt expense 6,921
Write-offs, net of recoveries (3,603)

Balance, December 31, 2004 $ 5,199

Inventories and supplies — Inventories and supplies were comprised of the following at December 31 (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003
Raw materials $ 12,377 $ 2,550
Semi-finished goods 6,321 5,623

Finished goods 11,732 975



Total inventories 30,430 9,148
Supplies 8,460 9,504

Inventories and supplies $ 38,890 $ 18,652

Other current assets — Other current assets were comprised of the following at December 31 (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003
Prepayment to voluntary employee beneficiary
association trust $ 16,230 $ 12,657
Cash held for customers 9,759 —
Other 12,797 7,327
Other current assets $ 38,786 $ 19,984
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Property, plant and equipment — Property, plant and equipment was comprised of the following at December 31 (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003
Land and land improvements $ 35,290 $ 31,999
Buildings and building improvements 129,111 113,447
Machinery and equipment 287,238 273,739
Total 451,639 419,185
Accumulated depreciation (293,477) (295,570)
Property, plant and equipment — net $ 158,162 $ 123,615

Assets held for sale — Assets held for sale include four Financial Services check printing facilities and one Small Business Services printing facility which we closed during
2004, as well as one Small Business Services facility which was closed prior to our acquisition of NEBS (see Note 4). We are actively seeking buyers for these properties and expect
to dispose of them within one year from the date they were closed. Based on market research and appraisal information, we believe the fair values of the assets less costs to sell
equal or exceed the carrying values of the assets. As such, no impairment loss has been recognized for these assets.

Assets held for sale were comprised of the following as of December 31, 2004 (dollars in thousands):

Land and land improvements $ 2,341
Buildings and building improvements 13,601
Machinery and equipment 1,364
Total 17,306
Accumulated depreciation (9,587)
Assets held for sale — net $ 7,719

Intangibles— Intangibles were comprised of the following at December 31 (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003
Gross Net Gross Net
carrying Accumulated carrying carrying Accumulated carrying
amount amortization amount amount amortization amount
Indefinite lives:
Trade names $ 59,400 $ $ 59,400 $ — 3 — $ —
Amortizable intangibles:
Internal-use software 266,814 (180,005) 86,809 244,848 (169,286) 75,562
Customer lists 108,950 (19,431) 89,519 5,050 (2,765) 2,285
Distributor contracts 30,900 (3,323) 27,577 — — —
Trade names 30,200 (2,105) 28,095 — — —

Other 7,185 (1,401) 5,784 877 (563) 314




Amortizable intangibles 444,049 (206,265) 237,784 250,775 (172,614)

78,161

Intangibles $ 503,449 $ (206,265) $ 297,184 § 250,775 $ (172,614) §

78,161
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Total amortization of intangibles for continuing operations was $66.5 million in 2004, $37.3 million in 2003 and $34.3 million in 2002. Based on the intangibles in service as
of December 31, 2004, estimated amortization expense for each of the next five years ending December 31 is as follows (dollars in thousands):

2005 $ 73,269
2006 47,783
2007 33,830
2008 23,950
2009 13,069

In conjunction with the acquisition of NEBS (see Note 4), we acquired certain intangible assets. In addition to these intangibles, we also acquired internal-use software in the

normal course of business. The following intangible assets were acquired during the years indicated (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Weighted- ‘Weighted- Weighted-
average average average
amortization amortization amortization
Amount period Amount period Amount period
Indefinite lives:
Trade names $ 59,400 — S — — S — —
Amortizable intangibles:
Customer lists 103,900 6 years — — — —
Distributor contracts 30,900 9 years — — — —
Internal-use software —
NEBS acquisition 23,171 4 years — — — —
Internal-use software —
other 32,917 3 years 11,114 3 years 26,388 3 years
Trade names 30,200 7 years — — — —
Other 6,308 11 years 11 3 years 165 3 years
Amortizable intangibles 227,396 6 years 11,125 3 years 26,553 3 years
Intangibles $ 286,796 $ 11,125 $ 26,553

Goodwill — Goodwill includes $82.2 million related to our Direct Checks segment as a result of the acquisition of Designer Checks in 2000. This portion of goodwill is
deductible for tax purposes. The remainder relates to our acquisition of NEBS in June 2004 (see Note 4) and is allocated to our Small Business Services segment. Changes in

goodwill were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Balance, December 31, 2003 and 2002 $ 82,237
Acquisition of NEBS (see Note 4) 498,503

Balance, December 31, 2004 $ 580,740
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Other non-current assets — Other non-current assets as of December 31 were comprised of the following (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003
Contract acquisition costs (net of accumulated amortization
of $43,199 and $41,608, respectively) $ 83,825 $ 96,085
Deferred advertising costs 31,455 29,044
Prepaid post-retirement asset 22,089 19,839
Other 23,026 12,541
Other non-current assets $ 160,395 $ 157,509

Changes in contract acquisition costs were as follows (dollars in thousands):



Balance, December 31, 2002 $ 55,259

Cash payments 47,728
Change in accruals 18,684
Amortization (25,586)
Balance, December 31, 2003 96,085
Cash payments 15,778
Change in accruals 6,490
Amortization (34,528)
Balance, December 31, 2004 $ 83,825

Based on the contact acquisition costs balance as of December 31, 2004, estimated amortization for each of the next five years ending December 31 is as follows (dollars in
thousands):

2005 $27,523
2006 25,107
2007 15,673
2008 11,349
2009 4,033

Accrued liabilities — Accrued liabilities as of December 31 were comprised of the following (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003

Employee profit sharing and pension $§ 45343 $§ 22,075
Rebates 29,504 21,253
Income taxes 22,281 25,372
Accrued wages, including vacation 16,528 8,906
Restructuring due within one year (see Note 6) 12,647 10,748
Other 76,676 38,467

Accrued liabilities $ 202,979 $ 126,821

Interest and income taxes paid — Cash payments for interest and income taxes for continuing operations were as follows for the years ended December 31 (dollars in
thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Interest paid $ 28,395 $ 19,180 $ 4,162
Income taxes paid 108,435 110,508 116,500

Note 3: Earnings per share

The following table reflects the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations (dollars and shares in thousands, except per share amounts):

2004 2003 2002

Earnings per share — basic:

Income from continuing operations $198,648 $192,472 $214,274

Weighted-average shares outstanding 50,126 54,523 62,823
Earnings per share from continuing operations — basic $ 39 § 353 § 341
Earnings per share — diluted:

Income from continuing operations $198,648  $192,472 $214,274

Weighted-average shares outstanding 50,126 54,523 62,823

Dilutive impact of stock options 370 693 888

Shares contingently issuable 53 12 36

Weighted-average shares and potential dilutive shares

outstanding 50,549 55,228 63,747

Earnings per share from continuing operations — diluted $ 393 § 349 § 336

During 2004, options to purchase a weighted-average of 1.8 million shares were outstanding but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share. During
2003 and 2002, options to purchase a weighted-average of 1.2 million shares were excluded from the computation. These options were excluded from the calculation of diluted



earnings per share because their effect would have been antidilutive.

Note 4: Acquisition of New England Business Service, Inc.

On June 25, 2004, we acquired all of the outstanding common stock of NEBS for $44 per share and agreed to redeem all outstanding NEBS stock options for $44 per option
share less the option exercise price. As of December 31, 2004, substantially all of the direct costs of the acquisition have been paid. The total purchase price for the acquisition was
comprised of the following (dollars in thousands):

Cash payments for NEBS common stock $ 585,351
Cash payments to redeem NEBS stock options 44,087
Direct costs of the acquisition 10,351

Total purchase price $ 639,789
Amount paid through December 31, 2004 $ 638,890

Cash acquired from NEBS (14,031)

Payments for acquisition through December 31,
2004, net of cash acquired $ 624,859

NEBS is a leading provider of products and services to small businesses. Its offerings include checks, forms, packaging supplies, embossed foil anniversary seals, promotional
products and other printed material which are marketed through direct response marketing, financial institution referrals, independent distributors, sales representatives and the
Internet. We believe NEBS is a strategic fit, as we both serve small business customers, and the acquisition expands our product offerings, customer base and non-check revenue.
NEBS results of operations are included in our Small Business Services segment, except for those portions which are reported as discontinued operations (see Note 5).
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To finance the acquisition, we utilized $475.0 million of an $800.0 million bridge financing agreement, as well as commercial paper. During the third quarter of 2004, we
utilized commercial paper to pay-off the bridge financing agreement and subsequently canceled this agreement. On October 1, 2004, we issued $600.0 million of long-term debt.
The net proceeds from this debt of $595.5 million were utilized to pay outstanding commercial paper. Further details concerning the long-term debt issued can be found in Note 12.

NEBS operating results are included in our consolidated results of operations from the acquisition date. In the fourth quarter of 2004, we finalized our allocation of the
purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. This allocation is reflected in our consolidated balance
sheet as of December 31, 2004.

The purchase price allocation resulted in goodwill of $498.5 million. We believe that the NEBS acquisition resulted in the recognition of goodwill primarily because of its
industry position, the potential to introduce products across multiple channels and the ability to realize cost synergies. The following illustrates our allocation of the purchase price
to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed (dollars in thousands):

Cash and cash equivalents $ 14,681
Trade accounts receivable 71,563
Inventories and supplies 38,293
Deferred income taxes 26,928
Other current assets 14,483
Long-term investments 2,974
Property, plant and equipment 59,236
Assets held for sale 2,981
Intangibles 253,871
Goodwill 498,503
Other non-current assets 8,420
Accounts payable (30,124)
Accrued liabilities (92,164)
Long-term debt due within one year (10,417)
Long-term debt (155,203)
Deferred income taxes (56,960)
Other non-current liabilities (7,276)
Total purchase price $ 639,789
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Subsequent to the initial allocation of the purchase price in June 2004, we decreased the amount assigned to goodwill by $17.4 million. This was primarily the result of a $39.5
million increase in the fair value assigned to identifiable intangible assets and a $17.4 million increase in the fair value assigned to property, plant and equipment, partially offset by
a $22.9 million increase in non-current deferred income tax liabilities and a $19.1 million increase in restructuring accruals.

Information concerning the intangible assets acquired as part of this acquisition can be found in Note 2. Amortizable trade names and software are being amortized on the
straight-line basis. The other amortizable intangible assets are being amortized using accelerated methods. During 2004, we recorded amortization of NEBS intangibles of $25.7
million in continuing operations.

The following unaudited, pro forma financial information illustrates our estimated results of operations as if the acquisition of NEBS had occurred as of the beginning of each
period presented (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003
Revenue $ 1,889,482 $ 1,916,213
Net income 183,351 171,224
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 3.66 $ 3.14
Diluted 3.63 3.10

NEBS 2003 results of operations included goodwill and asset impairment charges of $13.2 million related to their apparel business. These charges are reflected in the above
pro forma results of operations. The pro forma results of operations are presented for comparative purposes only. They do not represent the results which would have been reported
had the acquisition occurred on the dates assumed and are not necessarily indicative of future operating results.

Note 5: Discontinued operations
During the fourth quarter of 2004, we disposed of substantially all of the operations of NEBS European businesses. This disposal reflects our intention to focus on our North
American operations and was completed on December 31, 2004. Net proceeds from the sale were $0.8 million, subject to subsequent adjustment based on an audit of the
companies’ December 31, 2004 balance sheets. No gain or loss was recognized on this disposition as the assets and liabilities were recorded at fair value on the acquisition date.
Also during the fourth quarter of 2004, we announced the planned sale of NEBS apparel business, PremiumWear. This sale will allow us to focus our resources on the many

critical initiatives underway within Small Business Services. We anticipate that this sale will be completed in 2005. The results of operations of these businesses are reflected as
discontinued operations in our 2004 consolidated financial statements.
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The major classes of assets and liabilities of discontinued operations as of December 31, 2004 were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3
Trade accounts receivable 5,640
Inventories and supplies 12,645
Deferred income taxes 2,442
Other current assets 1,911
Current assets of discontinued operations 22,641
Property, plant and equipment 2,514
Deferred income taxes 4,450
Non-current assets of discontinued operations 6,964
Accounts payable (1,373)
Accrued liabilities (3:493)
Long-term debt due within one year (10)
Current liabilities of discontinued operations (4,876)
Long-term debt 4)
Other non-current liabilities (3,486)
Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations (3,490)
Net assets of discontinued operations $ 21,239

Revenue and loss from discontinued operations for 2004 were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Revenue $ 28,789
Pre-tax loss $ (1,098)
Income tax benefit 441
Net loss from discontinued operations $ (657)

Note 6: Restructuring accruals



2004 restructuring charges — During 2004, we recorded restructuring charges of $5.7 million for employee severance related to the closing of our Financial Services check
printing facility located in Dallas, Texas and our Direct Checks check printing facility located in Anniston, Alabama, as well as reductions in various functional areas primarily
within our Direct Checks and Financial Services segments. The closure of the Dallas facility was primarily due to the loss of a major financial institution client whose contract
expired at the end of 2004. The other reductions were a result of the continuing decline in check usage, as well as increased productivity. Both the Dallas and Anniston facilities
were closed during the fourth quarter of 2004. We expect the other employee reductions to be substantially completed during the first half of 2005. The restructuring charges
included estimated severance benefits for 483 employees. The related severance payments are being funded by cash from operations. Also during 2004, we reversed $1.3 million of
previously recorded restructuring accruals due to fewer employees receiving severance benefits than originally estimated. These restructuring charges and reversals are reflected as
cost of goods sold of $2.0 million and SG&A expense of $2.4 million in our 2004 consolidated statement of income.

2003 restructuring charges — During 2003, we recorded restructuring charges of $11.8 million for employee severance related to the closing of three of our Financial Services
check printing facilities and other reductions in employees within Financial Services and our corporate support group. We were able to close the three check printing facilities

because of the expertise we have developed in logistics, productivity and inventory management, as well as the decline in check usage. The other employee reductions were the
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result of our ongoing cost management efforts. All three check printing facilities were closed during 2004, and the other employee reductions were also substantially completed
during 2004. In total, 573 employees received a total of $10.7 million in severance payments, which were funded by cash from operations. During 2003, we also reversed $0.4
million of previously established restructuring accruals due to fewer employees receiving severance benefits than originally estimated. These restructuring charges and reversals are
reflected in our 2003 consolidated statement of income as cost of goods sold of $5.0 million and SG&A expense of $6.4 million.

2002 restructuring charges — During 2002, we recorded restructuring charges of $1.5 million for employee severance related primarily to manufacturing employees within our
Financial Services segment and various functional areas within our Direct Checks segment. These reductions were the result of our ongoing cost management efforts and were
completed during 2003. In total, 121 employees received $1.5 million in severance payments. During 2002, we also reversed $0.2 million of previously established restructuring
accruals. These restructuring charges and reversals are reflected in our 2002 consolidated statement of income as cost of goods sold of $0.6 million and SG&A expense of $0.7
million.

Acquisition-related restructuring — As a result of the NEBS acquisition on June 25, 2004 (see Note 4), we assumed restructuring accruals of $1.3 million related to NEBS
facility closings which were completed prior to the acquisition. Employee severance payments related to these facility closings were completed by the end of 2004, utilizing cash
from operations. Additionally, we recorded restructuring accruals of $30.2 million related to NEBS activities which are being exited as we combine the two companies. The
restructuring accruals include severance benefits and $2.8 million due under noncancelable operating leases on facilities which have been or will be vacated as we consolidate
operations. The severance accruals include payments due 884 employees. This includes employees in the Tucker, Georgia printing facility which was closed during the fourth
quarter of 2004, the Los Angeles, California facility which we plan to close by the end of 2005 and the Athens, Ohio facility which we will begin closing in 2005 and will be
completely closed by mid-2006. Additionally, the accruals include employees in various functional areas throughout the organization resulting from our shared services approach to
manufacturing and certain SG&A functions. The severance accruals also include amounts due to certain NEBS executives under change of control provisions included in their
employment agreements, as we eliminate redundancies between the two companies. Restructuring payments are expected to be substantially completed by the end of 2006, utilizing
cash from operations. As these accruals were included in the liabilities recorded upon acquisition, the related charges are not reflected in our consolidated statements of income.

Restructuring accruals of $16.9 million as of December 31, 2004 and $10.7 million as of December 31, 2003 are reflected in accrued liabilities and other non-current liabilities
in our consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2004, 668 employees remained to be severed under our current initiatives.
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Changes in the restructuring accruals were as follows (dollars in thousands):

2001/2002 2003 2004 NEBS pre- actl:ﬁgtsion
initiatives initiatives initiatives acquisition related Total
Balance, December 31, 2001 $3231 ¢ — $§ — % — 3 — $ 3231
Restructuring charges 1,487 — — — — 1,487
Restructuring reversals (216) — — — — (216)
Severance paid (3,347) — — — — (3,347)
Balance, December 31, 2002 1,155 — — — — 1,155
Restructuring charges — 11,794 — — — 11,794
Restructuring reversals (241) (200) — — — (441)
Severance paid 914) (846) — — — (1,760)
Balance, December 31, 2003 — 10,748 — — — 10,748
Restructuring charges — 180 5,515 — — 5,695
NEBS acquisition — — — 1,321 30,244 31,565
Restructuring reversals — (1,120) (134) — — (1,254)

Severance paid —(9,804)  (3,030)  (1,321)  (15,688)  (29,843)




Balance, December 31, 2004 $ — $ 4 $ 2,351 $ — $ 14,556 $ 16,911

The number of employees affected by the above initiatives was as follows:

NEBS
2001/2002 2003 2004 acquisition
initiatives initiatives initiatives related Total
Balance, December 31, 2001 163 — — — 163
Restructuring charges 121 — — — 121
Restructuring reversals a7 — — — 17)
Severance paid (198) — — — (198)
Balance, December 31, 2002 69 — — — 69
Restructuring charges — 635 — — 635
Restructuring reversals 4) (20) — — (24)
Severance paid (65) (82) — — (147)
Balance, December 31, 2003 — 533 — — 533
Restructuring charges — — 483 — 483
NEBS acquisition — — — 884 884
Restructuring reversals — 42) (18) — (60)
Severance paid — (488) (425) (259) (1,172)
Balance, December 31, 2004 — 3 40 625 668

On a cumulative basis through December 31, 2004, the status of our restructuring accruals was as follows (dollars in thousands):

NEBS
2001/2002 2003 2004 NEBS pre- acquisition
initiatives initiatives initiatives acquisition related Total
Original restructuring charge $ 5,651 $ 11,974 $ 5,515 $ 1,321 $ 30,244 $ 54,705
Restructuring reversals (457) (1,320) (134) — — (1,911)
Severance paid (5,194) (10,650) (3,030) (1,321) (15,688) (35,883)
Balance, December 31, 2004 $ — 8 4 $ 2351 $ —  $1455 $16911

We also incurred other costs related to facility closures, including equipment moves, training and travel. These costs were expensed as incurred, primarily as cost of goods sold,
and totaled $2.1 million. Of this amount, $1.8 million was expensed in 2004 and $0.3 million was expensed in 2003.
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Note 7: Asset impairment and net disposition (gains) losses

Asset impairment and net disposition (gains) losses for continuing operations were comprised of the following (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Asset impairment losses $ — $ 5,289 $ —
Recognition of deferred gain on sale-leaseback
transaction (591) (559) (888)
Asset dispositions 561 14 1,185
Asset impairment and net disposition (gains) losses $ 300 $ 4744 $ 297

During 2003, we recorded asset impairment losses of $5.3 million, primarily in the Financial Services segment. The impaired assets consisted of both manufacturing
technologies and software. We had been intending to implement the manufacturing technologies during 2003. However, having already realized many efficiencies in our
manufacturing function as a result of other initiatives, including the implementation of lean manufacturing, the incremental benefits expected from these technologies no longer
warranted their implementation. The impaired software was intended to replace several of our existing systems and bring various areas of the company onto one platform. However,
based on our continuing evaluation of investment initiatives, we determined that the costs to implement the system and the timeline for implementation did not result in an adequate
return on our investment. The majority of the impaired assets had no alternative uses and could not be sold to third parties. Thus, these assets were written down to a carrying value
of zero. Certain related hardware was sold to third parties and was written down to their fair value less costs to sell. Of the total asset impairment losses, $3.6 million related to
property, plant and equipment and $1.7 million related to intangible assets.

During 1999, we entered into a sale/leaseback transaction with an unaffiliated third party. We sold five facilities located in Shoreview, Minnesota and entered into leases for
three of these facilities for periods ranging from five to ten years. Two of the leases were operating leases and one was a capital lease. The result of this sale was a $17.1 million



gain, of which $10.6 million was deferred and is being recognized in income over the lease terms in the case of the operating leases and over the life of the capital asset in the case
of the capital lease.

Note 8: Derivative financial instruments

During 2004, we entered into $450.0 million of forward starting interest rate swaps to hedge, or lock-in, the interest rate on a portion of the $600.0 million debt we issued in
October 2004 (see Note 12). The termination of the lock agreements yielded a deferred pre-tax loss of $23.6 million. This loss is reflected, net of tax, in accumulated other
comprehensive loss in our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004 and is being reclassified ratably to our statements of income as an increase to interest expense over
the term of the related debt.

During 2002, we entered into two forward rate lock agreements to effectively hedge the annual interest rate on $150.0 million of the $300.0 million notes issued in December
2002 (see Note 12). Upon issuance of the notes, the lock agreements were terminated, yielding a deferred pre-tax loss of $4.0 million, which is reflected in accumulated other
comprehensive loss in our consolidated balance sheets and is being reclassified ratably to our statements of income as an increase to interest expense over the ten-year term of the
notes.
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Note 9: Provision for income taxes

The components of the provision for income taxes for continuing operations were as follows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002

Current tax provision:
Federal $ 115,182 $ 99,009 $ 92,587
State 14,552 15,393 13,072
Total 129,734 114,402 105,659
Deferred tax (benefit) provision (11,509) (7,854) 8,561
Valuation allowance — 360 12,228
Provision for income taxes $ 118,225 $ 106,908 $ 126,448

The effective tax rate on pre-tax income from continuing operations differed from the U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 35% as follows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Income tax at federal statutory rate $ 110,906 $ 104,783 $ 119,253
State income taxes net of federal income tax benefit 7,480 9,164 9,371
Valuation allowance — 360 12,228
Resolution of tax contingencies (125) (7,300) (12,853)
Other (36) 99) (1,551)
Provision for income taxes $ 118,225 $ 106,908 $ 126,448

We have established reserves for income tax contingencies. We establish reserves when, despite our belief that the tax return positions are fully supportable, certain positions
are likely to be challenged and we may ultimately not prevail in defending those positions. We adjust these reserves in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the closing
of a tax audit. Our effective tax rate includes the impact of reserve provisions and changes to reserves that are considered appropriate, as well as related interest. Our reserves for
contingent tax liabilities totaled $17.6 million as of December 31, 2004 and $16.3 million as of December 31, 2003, and are included in accrued liabilities in our consolidated
balance sheets. These reserves relate to various tax years subject to audit by taxing authorities. We believe that our current tax reserves are adequate, and reflect the most probable
outcome of known tax contingencies. However, the ultimate outcome may differ from our estimates and assumptions and could impact the provision for income taxes reflected in
our consolidated statements of income. Unfavorable settlement of any particular issue would require the use of cash. Favorable resolution could result in reduced income tax
expense in our consolidated statements of income in the future.

During 2003, we reversed $7.3 million of previously established income tax reserves. A prior year federal audit period was closed due to the expiration of the statute of
limitations, and we reached agreements with two states to favorably settle proposed income tax audit assessments. As a result, the related reserves were no longer required. Also
during 2003, we recorded a $0.4 million charge for a valuation allowance related to our deferred tax asset for capital loss carryforwards which expired in 2003.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) completed its review of our income tax returns for 1996 through 1998. As a result, we reversed $12.9
million of previously established income tax reserves. Certain IRS rules were clarified in a manner favorable to us, and the related reserves were no longer required. Substantially
offsetting these reversals in 2002 was a $12.2 million charge for a valuation allowance relating to our deferred tax asset for capital loss carryforwards. At December 31, 2002, we
had capital loss carryforwards of approximately $33.0 million which expired in 2003. By the fourth quarter of 2002, the predominance of negative evidence indicated that it was
more likely than not that the tax benefits associated with a majority of the capital loss carryforwards would not be realized as certain tax planning strategies upon which we intended
to rely were no longer considered to be prudent or feasible.
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Tax effected temporary differences which gave rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31 were as follows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003
Deferred tax Deferred tax Deferred tax Deferred tax
assets liabilities assets liabilities
Intangible assets $ — $ 70,890 $ — $ 26,168
Property, plant and equipment — 11,860 — 6,405
Deferred advertising costs — 11,638 — 10,490
Prepaid services — 10,153 — 10,353
Goodwill — 8,185 — 4,266
Employee benefit plans 12,093 — 3,603 —
Miscellaneous reserves and accruals 11,624 — 6,901 —
Inventories 4,753 — 3,316 —
All other 16,168 870 3,247 1,781
Total deferred taxes $ 44,638 $ 113,596 $ 17,067 $ 59,463

As of December 31, 2004, we had state net operating loss carryforwards of $47.8 million, excluding discontinued operations (see Note 5). These loss carryforwards expire at
various dates up to 2024. We also had Canadian operating loss carryforwards of $1.0 million which expire at various dates between 2006 and 2009.

Note 10: Employee benefit and stock-based compensation plans

Stock purchase plan — Our current employee stock purchase plan became effective on February 1, 2002, with the first purchase occurring on July 31, 2002. Under the plan,
eligible employees may purchase Deluxe common stock at 85% of the lower of its fair market value at the beginning or end of each six-month purchase period. On January 1, 2004,
we adopted the fair value method of accounting for employee stock-based compensation. As a result, compensation expense of $0.7 million was recognized in 2004 related to our
stock purchase plan. Prior to 2004, in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, we did not recognize compensation expense for the
difference between the employees’ purchase price and the fair value of the stock. During 2004, 100,241 shares were issued at a price of $33.88. During 2003, 119,260 shares were
issued at prices of $32.38 and $34.26. During 2002, 60,520 shares were issued at a price of $33.06.

Through January 31, 2002, we maintained a non-qualified employee stock purchase plan that allowed eligible employees to purchase Deluxe common stock at 75% of its fair
market value on the first business day following each three-month purchase period. Compensation expense was recognized for the difference between the employees’ purchase price
and the fair value of the stock and was $0.3 million in 2002. Under this plan, we issued 26,788 shares at a price of $34.00 in 2002.

Stock incentive plan — Under our stock incentive plan, stock-based awards may be issued to employees via a broad range of methods, including non-qualified or incentive stock
options, restricted stock and restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights and other awards based on the value of Deluxe common stock. During 2004, we implemented changes to
our long-term compensation strategy. Rather than using stock options as the exclusive form of long-term incentive, we are now utilizing a combination of stock options,
performance shares and restricted stock, as authorized under this plan. The plan reserved 8.5 million shares of common stock for issuance, with 4.8 million of these shares still
available for issuance as of December 31, 2004.

All options granted under the plan allow for the purchase of shares of common stock at prices equal to their market value at the date of grant. Options become exercisable in
varying amounts generally
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beginning one year after the date of grant, with one-third vesting each year over three years. In the case of qualified retirement, death, disability or involuntary termination, options
vest immediately. Employees forfeit unvested options when they voluntarily terminate their employment with the company. Terms vary, but generally options may be exercised up
to seven years following the date of grant. On January 1, 2004, we adopted the fair value method of accounting for employee stock-based compensation. As a result, compensation
expense of $6.3 million was recognized in 2004 related to stock options. Compensation expense is recorded over the three-year vesting period. Prior to 2004, in accordance with
APB Opinion No. 25, we did not recognize compensation expense for stock options.

Information regarding options issued under the current and all previous plans is as follows:

‘Weighted-
average exercise
Number of shares price

Outstanding at December 31, 2001 3,548,854 $ 23.05
Granted 1,251,349 47.64
Exercised (1,150,888) 24.21
Canceled (118,300) 29.46
Outstanding at December 31, 2002 3,531,015 31.17
Granted 1,375,650 38.58
Exercised (858,764) 23.03
Canceled (200,716) 26.83
Outstanding at December 31, 2003 3,847,185 35.87
Granted 199,126 42.35
Exercised (538,972) 28.81
Canceled (256,843) 42.51

Outstanding at December 31, 2004 3,250,496 36.84



Options for the purchase of 1,955,950 shares were exercisable at December 31, 2004 at a weighted-average exercise price of $33.80, 1,471,102 shares were exercisable at
December 31, 2003 at a weighted-average exercise price of $30.33 and 1,528,341 shares were exercisable at December 31, 2002 at a weighted-average exercise price of $24.17.

For options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2004, the exercise price ranges and average remaining lives were as follows:

Options outstanding Options exercisable

‘Weighted- ‘Weighted-

Weighted- average average

Number average exercise Number exercise

Range of exercise prices outstanding remaining life price exercisable price

$16.00 to $32.99 933,712 3.7 years $ 21.74 933,712 $ 21.74
$33.00 to $44.99 1,292,185 5.3 years 39.17 324,780 38.70
$45.00 to $47.67 1,024,599 4.1 years 47.67 697,458 47.67
Total 3,250,496 4.5 years 36.84 1,955,950 33.80

Under our 2004 performance share grant, the level of shares earned is contingent upon attaining specific performance targets over a three-year period. The fair value of the
performance shares granted is equal to the market price of our stock at the date of grant. Compensation expense is recorded over the three-year performance period based on our
estimate of the number of shares which will be earned by the award recipients. Compensation expense of $0.4 million was recognized for these awards during 2004.

We also utilize restricted stock and restricted units when compensating employees. In addition to those awards made under our stock incentive plan, officers may elect to
receive a portion of their
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compensation in the form of restricted stock. Compensation expense for these awards is recorded over the applicable service period. We issued 70,819 restricted shares and
restricted stock units at a weighted-average fair value of $42.12 in 2004, 70,536 restricted shares and restricted stock units at a weighted-average fair value of $39.49 in 2003 and
61,785 restricted shares and restricted stock units at a weighted-average fair value of $45.52 in 2002. These awards generally vest over periods ranging from one to three years.
Compensation expense recognized for these issuances was $4.9 million in 2004, $1.0 million in 2003 and $2.8 million in 2002.

Profit sharing, defined contribution and 401 (k) plans — We maintain a profit sharing plan, defined contribution pension plans and plans established under section 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code to provide retirement benefits for certain employees. These plans cover substantially all full-time and some part-time employees with at least 15 months of
service. We also provide cash bonus programs which cover all employees.

Contributions to the profit sharing and defined contribution plans are made solely by Deluxe and are remitted to the plans’ respective trustees. Benefits provided by the plans
are paid from accumulated funds of the trusts. In 2004, 2003 and 2002, contributions to the defined contribution pension plan equaled 4% of eligible compensation. Contributions to
the profit sharing plan vary based on the company’s performance. Under the 401(k) plans, employees could contribute up to the lesser of $13,000 or 50% of eligible wages during
2004. In addition, employees 50 years of age or older were able to make additional contributions of up to $3,000 during 2004. During 2004 we sponsored two 401(k) plans and an
employee savings plan which covers our Canadian employees. We match 100% of the first 1% of wages contributed and 50% of the next 4% of wages contributed by employees
participating in the Deluxe 401(k) plan. We matched at least 50% of the first 3% of wages contributed by employees participating in the NEBS 401(k) and the Canadian employee
savings plans. During 2005, the Deluxe and NEBS 401(k) plans will be merged. All employee and employer contributions are remitted to the plans’ respective trustees and benefits
provided by the plans are paid from accumulated funds of the trusts. Payments made under the cash bonus programs vary based on the company’s performance and are paid in cash
directly to employees.

Employees are provided a broad range of investment options to choose from in investing their profit sharing, defined contribution and 401(k) plan funds. Investing in Deluxe
common stock is not one of these options, although funds selected by employees may at times hold Deluxe common stock.

Expense recognized in the consolidated statements of income for these plans was as follows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Profit sharing/cash bonus plans $ 28,709 $ 12,102 $ 30,548
Defined contribution pension plan 8,066 8,228 8,925
401(k) plan 7,880 4,922 4,933

Deferred compensation plan — We have a non-qualified deferred compensation plan that allows eligible employees to defer a portion of their compensation. Participants can
elect to defer up to a maximum of 100 percent of their base salary plus up to 50 percent of their bonus for the year. The compensation deferred under this plan is credited with
earnings or losses measured by the mirrored rate of return on investments elected by plan participants. Each participant is fully vested in all deferred compensation and earnings. A
participant may elect to receive deferred amounts in one payment or in monthly installments upon termination of employment or disability. Our total liability under this plan was
$15.4 million as of December 31, 2004 and $9.0 million as of December 31, 2003. These amounts are reflected in accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheets. We fund this liability through investments in company-owned life insurance policies, as well as debt and equity securities. These investments are
included in long-term investments in the consolidated balance sheets and totaled $17.7 million as of December 31, 2004 and $13.8 million as of December 31, 2003.
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Voluntary employee beneficiary association trust — We have formed a voluntary employee beneficiary association (VEBA) trust to fund employee and retiree medical and
severance costs. Contributions to the VEBA trust are tax deductible, subject to limitations contained in the Internal Revenue Code. VEBA assets primarily consist of fixed income
investments. We made contributions to the VEBA trust of $40.5 million in 2004, $32.0 million in 2003 and $25.5 million in 2002. The excess of assets in our VEBA trust over the
amount of incurred but not reported claims was $16.2 million as of December 31, 2004 and $12.7 million as of December 31, 2003. This amount is reflected in other current assets
in our consolidated balance sheets.

Note 11: Pension and other post-retirement benefits

We have historically provided certain health care benefits for a large number of retired employees. Employees included in the plan become eligible for benefits if they attain
the appropriate years of service and age while working for Deluxe. During 2002, we eliminated retiree health care benefits for all new employees hired after December 31, 2001.
During the fourth quarter of 2003, we amended our retiree health care plan to further limit the number of employees eligible for benefits under the plan. In order to receive the
current level of benefits, employees must reach 20 years of service and 75 points (total of age and years of service) prior to January 1, 2006. Employees reaching 20 years of service
and 75 points between January 1, 2006 and December 31, 2008 are eligible for the current level of benefits; however, their premiums will not be reduced once they become eligible
for Medicare as is currently the case. Employees reaching 20 years of service and 75 points after December 31, 2008 must pay the full cost of coverage if they elect to participate in
our health care plan. As a result of this plan change, we recognized a curtailment gain of $4.0 million during 2003. This gain is reflected as a reduction of cost of goods sold of $1.4
million and a reduction of SG&A expense of $2.6 million in our 2003 consolidated statement of income.

In addition to the changes in employee eligibility, we also enacted certain other plan amendments in 2003. These amendments encompassed such changes as increasing
prescription drug plan co-payments, increasing deductibles and offering new consumer-driven insurance plans.

In December 2003, a law was enacted which introduced a prescription drug benefit under Medicare, as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans
that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to the Medicare plan. Our retiree medical plan does provide prescription drug coverage which is at least actuarially
equivalent to the Medicare plan. Effective April 1, 2004, we began reflecting the impact of this new law in our post-retirement benefit expense, utilizing the retroactive application
method outlined in FSP No. FAS 106-2, Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003. In
accordance with this accounting guidance, we completed a re-measurement of our plan assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2003. The federal subsidy provided for under the
new Medicare law resulted in a $9.5 million reduction in our accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2003 and resulted in a $1.0 million reduction in our
post-retirement benefit expense in 2004.

NEBS also sponsors a plan which provides post-retirement health and dental care benefits for officers and health and insurance benefits for certain employees of two NEBS
subsidiaries, Safeguard Business Systems, Inc. and PremiumWear, Inc. As of the date of acquisition, the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation for these plans was $2.7

million.

In addition to our post-retirement benefit plans, NEBS has a supplemental executive retirement plan (SERP) and a pension plan which covers certain Canadian employees. As
of the date of our acquisition of NEBS (see Note 4), the projected benefit obligation for these plans was $14.2 million.
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Obligations and funded status — The following table summarizes the change in benefit obligation and plan assets during 2004 and 2003 (dollars in thousands):

Post-
retirement
medical plans Pension plans
Benefit obligation, December 31, 2002 $ 118,888 $ —
Service cost 2,556 —
Interest cost 7,796 —
Actuarial losses — net 26,367 —
Plan amendments (11,500) —
Effect of curtailment (22,692) —
Benefits paid from the VEBA trust (see Note 10) (10,234) —
Benefit obligation, December 31, 2003 111,181 —
Service cost 786 139
Interest cost 6,012 457
Actuarial losses — net 15,418 20
Acquisition of NEBS (see Note 4) 2,743 14,231
Benefits paid from the VEBA trust (see Note 10)
and company funds (9,267) (3,124)
Translation adjustment — 401
Benefit obligation, December 31, 2004 $ 126,873 $ 12,124
Fair value of plan assets, December 31, 2002 $ 51,318 $ —
Actual return on plan assets 15,883 —
Fair value of plan assets, December 31, 2003 67,201 —
Actual return (loss) on plan assets 9,315 (15)
Acquisition of NEBS (see Note 4) — 2,454
Company contributions — 4,022
Benefits and expenses paid — (3,182)
Translation adjustment — 297

Fair value of plan assets, December 31, 2004 $ 76,516 $ 3,576




Plan assets of our post-retirement medical plans do not include the assets of the VEBA trust discussed in Note 10. Plan assets consist only of those assets invested in a trust
established under section 401(h) of the Internal Revenue Code. These assets can be used only to pay retiree medical benefits, whereas the assets of the VEBA trust may be used to
pay medical and severance benefits for both active and retired employees.
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The funded status of our plans as of December 31 was as follows (dollars in thousands):

Post-retirement medical plans Pension plans
2004 2003 2004
Benefit obligation $ 126,873 $ 111,181 $ 12,124
Less:
Fair value of plan assets (debt and
equity securities) 76,516 67,201 3,576
Unrecognized prior service benefit (20,901) (23,551) —
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 92,505 87,370 185
Fourth quarter contributions 47 — 3,414
Translation adjustment — — 13
(Prepaid) accrued benefit cost $  (21,294) $ (19,839 $ 4,936

Of the $21.3 million prepaid benefit cost as of December 31, 2004, a liability of $0.8 million relates to the PremiumWear apparel business. As this business is reported as
discontinued operations (see Note 5), this liability is included in non-current liabilities of discontinued operations in our consolidated balance sheet.

The unrecognized prior service benefit for our post-retirement medical plans resulted from the 2003 curtailment and other plan amendments. These changes resulted in a
reduction of the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation. This reduction is first used to reduce any existing unrecognized prior service cost, then to reduce any remaining
unrecognized transition obligation. The excess is the unrecognized prior service benefit, which will be amortized on the straight-line basis over the average remaining service period
of employees expected to receive benefits under the plan, which is currently nine years.

The unrecognized net actuarial loss of our post-retirement medical plans results from experience different from that assumed or from changes in assumptions. As of December
31,2004, $31.5 million of the unrecognized net actuarial loss resulted from changes in the discount rate assumption. This amount was $30.2 million as of December 31, 2003. As of
December 31, 2004, $28.8 million of the unrecognized net actuarial loss resulted from changes in our assumed health care cost trend rate. This amount was $18.6 million as of
December 31, 2003. Also as of December 31, 2004, $21.0 million of the unrecognized net actuarial loss resulted from differences between our expected long-term rate of return on
plan assets and the actual return on plan assets. This amount was $23.9 million as of December 31, 2003. Because this assumption takes a long-term view of investment returns,
there may be differences between the expected rate of return and the actual rate of return on plan assets in the short-term. The remainder of the net actuarial loss amount primarily
related to differences between our assumed medical costs and actual experience and changes in the employee population.
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Net pension and post-retirement benefit expense — Net pension and post-retirement benefit expense for the years ended December 31 consisted of the following components
(dollars in thousands):

Pension
Post-retirement benefit plans plans
2004 2003 2002 2004
Service cost $ 786 $ 2,556 $ 1,876 $ 139
Interest cost 6,012 7,796 6,650 457
Expected return on plan assets (6,376) (4,490) (5,588) (88)
Amortization of transition obligation — 419 421 —
Amortization of prior service (benefit)
cost (2,617) 362 362 —
Recognized amortization of net
actuarial losses 7,345 4,082 1,917 —
Total periodic benefit expense 5,150 10,725 5,638 508
Curtailment gain (33) (4,000) — —
Net periodic benefit expense $ 5117 $ 6,725 $ 5,638 $ 508

Actuarial assumptions — A September 30 measurement date is used for the calculations related to our pension and post-retirement benefit plans.



In measuring benefit obligations as of December 31, the following assumptions were used:

2004 2003

Discount rate 5.75% 6.00%

In measuring net periodic benefit expense for the years ended December 31, the following assumptions were used:

Pension

Post-retirement benefit plans plans

2004 2003 2002 2004
Discount rate 6.00% 6.75% 7.25% 6.00%
Expected return on plan assets 8.75% 8.75% 9.50% 6.00%

In determining the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, we first study historical markets. We then use this data to estimate future returns assuming that long-term
historical relationships between equity and fixed income investments are consistent with the widely accepted capital market principle that assets with higher volatility generate a
greater return over the long run. We evaluate current market factors such as inflation and interest rates before we determine long-term capital market assumptions. We also review
historical returns to check for reasonableness and appropriateness.

In measuring benefit obligations and net periodic benefit expense for our post-retirement medical plans, the following assumptions for health care cost trend rates were used:

2004 2003 2002
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 10.75% 9.25% 10.25%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to
decline (the ultimate trend rate) 5.25% 5.25% 5.00%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2011 2009 2008
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Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for health care plans. A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend
rates would have the following effects (dollars in thousands):

One-
One- percentage-
percentage- point
point increase decrease
Effect on total of service and interest cost $ 914 $ 864
Effect on benefit obligation 15,896 14,126
Plan assets — The allocation of plan assets by asset category as of December 31 was as follows:
Post-retirement medical Pension
plans plans
2004 2003 2004
Equity securities 85% 83% 57%
Debt securities 15% 17% 39%
Cash and cash equivalents — — 4%
Total 100% 100% 100%

Our original post-retirement health care plan and the defined benefit component of the Canadian pension plan have assets that are intended to meet long-term obligations that
extend for several decades. In order to meet these obligations, we employ a total return investment approach using a mix of equity and fixed income investments to maximize the
long-term return for both of these plans within a prudent level of risk. Risk tolerance is established through careful consideration of plan liabilities, plan funded status and current
corporate financial condition. Given the modest size of the defined benefit component of the Canadian pension plan, a pooled balance fund is utilized for the investment of these
assets.

Because of the long-term benefit payments horizon, we have set a target allocation for our post-retirement health care which is biased toward equities securities. For the U.S.
plan, our target is 80% equity securities and 20% fixed income securities. Within equity securities, we target the following allocation: 30% large capitalization equities, 20% small
capitalization equities, 15% mid-capitalization equities and 15% international equities. When available within each of these equity groups, the assets are split equally among growth
and value investments. A similar target allocation applies to the defined benefit component of our Canadian pension plan. Within this plan, the following allocation ranges are
targeted by the investment manager: 20% to 45% Canadian equities, 25% to 50% Canadian fixed income securities, 15% to 35% global equities, and 0% to 20% cash and cash
equivalents.

The investment of the assets of the defined benefit component of the Canadian pension plan conforms to the Statement of Investment Policies & Procedures for the Canadian
pension plan. The pension committee that oversees the Canadian pension plan reviews and conforms the policy annually. The target allocations were determined by modeling the
risk/return trade-offs among asset classes utilizing assumptions about expected annual return, expected volatility/standard deviation of returns and expected correlations with all
other asset classes. Plan assets are not invested in real estate, private equity or hedge funds and are not leveraged beyond the market value of the underlying investments. Investment
risk is measured and monitored on an ongoing basis through quarterly investment portfolio reviews, annual liability measurements and periodic asset/liability studies.



Cash flows — We are not contractually obligated to make contributions to post-retirement medical plan assets, and we do not anticipate making any such contributions during
2004. However, we do anticipate that we will pay benefits of $9.1 million during 2005 utilizing the assets of the VEBA trust (see Note 10).

Prior to our acquisition of NEBS, the SERP was unfunded and the Canadian pension plan was partially funded. During 2004, we fully funded the SERP obligation with
investments in company-owned
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life insurance policies. The cash surrender value of these policies is included in long-term investments in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004 and totaled $6.0
million. Also during 2004, we made cash contributions of $6.7 million to pay benefits under the SERP plan, and we funded $0.7 million to the Canadian pension plan. We plan to
contribute additional cash of $1.0 million to these plans during 2005.

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid during the years indicated (dollars in thousands):

Post-retirement medical plans Pension plans
Gross benefit Medicare subsidy Net benefit Gross benefit
payments expected payments payments

2005 $ 9,120 $ — $ 9,120 $ 597
2006 9,735 837 8,898 453
2007 10,382 893 9,489 475
2008 10,505 903 9,602 470
2009 10,717 922 9,795 477
2010 - 2014 54,737 4,706 50,031 2,576
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Note 12: Debt, other commitments and contingencies

Debt — Debt outstanding as of December 31 was as follows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003

3.5% senior, unsecured notes due October 1, 2007, net of discount $ 324815 §$ —
5.0% senior, unsecured notes due December 15, 2012, net of discount 298,494 298,304
5.125% senior, unsecured notes due October 1, 2014, net of discount 274,399 —
2.75% senior, unsecured notes due September 15, 2006 50,000 50,000
Variable rate senior, unsecured notes due November 4, 2005 — 25,000
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations 6,140 7,316
Long-term portion of debt 953,848 380,620
Commercial paper 264,000 213,250
Variable rate senior, unsecured notes due November 4, 2005 25,000 —
Capital lease obligations due within one year 1,359 1,074
Total debt $1,244207 $ 594,944

In October 2004, we issued $325.0 million of 3.5% senior, unsecured notes maturing on October 1, 2007 and $275.0 million of 5.125% senior, unsecured notes maturing on
October 1, 2014. The notes were issued via a private placement under Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 1933. These notes were subsequently registered with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) via a registration statement which became effective on November 23, 2004. Interest payments are due each April and October. Principal redemptions
on the three-year notes may not be made prior to their stated maturity. The notes include covenants that place restrictions on the issuance of additional debt that would be senior to
the notes and the execution of certain sale-leaseback agreements. The notes were issued at a discount from par value. The resulting discount of $0.8 million is being amortized
ratably as an increase to interest expense over the terms of the notes. Proceeds from the offering, net of offering costs, were $595.5 million. These proceeds were used to pay off
commercial paper borrowings used for the acquisition of NEBS (see Note 4). The fair market value of these notes was $582.4 million as of December 31, 2004, based on quoted
market prices.

In December 2002, we issued $300.0 million of 5.0% senior, unsecured notes maturing on December 15, 2012. These notes were issued under our shelf registration statement
covering up to $300.0 million in medium-term notes, thereby exhausting that registration statement. Interest payments are due each June and December. Principal redemptions may
be made at our election prior to their stated maturity. The notes include covenants that place restrictions on the issuance of additional debt that would be senior to the notes and the
execution of certain sale-leaseback agreements. The notes were issued at 99.369% of par value. The resulting discount of $1.9 million is being amortized ratably as an increase to



interest expense over the ten-year term of the notes. Proceeds from the offering, net of offering costs, were $295.7 million. These proceeds were used for general corporate

purposes, including funding share repurchases, capital asset purchases and working capital. The fair value of these notes was $295.6 million at December 31, 2004, based on quoted
market prices.

In September 2003, we issued $50.0 million of 2.75% senior, unsecured notes maturing on September 15, 2006. The notes were issued under a shelf registration statement
which became effective on July 8, 2003 and allows for the issuance of debt securities, from time to time, up to an aggregate of $500.0 million. Interest payments are due each March
and September. Principal redemptions may be made at our election prior to their stated maturity. The notes include covenants that place restrictions on the issuance of additional
debt that would be senior to the notes and the execution of certain sale-leaseback agreements. Proceeds from the offering, net of offering costs, were $49.8 million. These proceeds
were used for general corporate purposes, including funding share repurchases, capital asset purchases and working capital. The fair value of these notes was $49.4 million at
December 31, 2004, based on quoted market prices.
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In November 2003, we issued $25.0 million of variable rate, senior, unsecured notes maturing on November 4, 2005. The notes were issued under the July 8, 2003 shelf
registration statement. Interest payments are due each February, May, August and November at an annual interest rate equal to the 3-month London InterBank Offered Rate
(LIBOR) plus .05%. This interest rate is reset on a quarterly basis. Principal redemptions may be made at our election prior to their stated maturity. The notes include covenants that
place restrictions on the issuance of additional debt that would be senior to the notes and the execution of certain sale-leaseback agreements. Proceeds from the offering were $25.0
million. These proceeds were used for general corporate purposes, including funding share repurchases, capital asset purchases and working capital. The fair value of these notes
was estimated to be $24.8 million at December 31, 2004, based on a broker quote.

Our capital lease obligations bear interest at rates of 7.2% to 10.4% and are due through 2009. We have also entered into operating leases on certain facilities and equipment.
Future minimum lease payments under our capital obligations and noncancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2004 were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Operating
Capital leases leases

2005 $ 2,067 $ 10,571
2006 1,938 7,520
2007 2,008 2,373
2008 2,004 1,055
2009 1,503 504
2010 and thereafter — 277

Total minimum lease payments 9,520 $ 22,300
Less portion representing interest (2,021)

Present value of minimum lease payments 7,499
Less current portion (1,359)

Long-term portion of obligation $ 6,140

Total future minimum lease payments under capital and noncancelable operating leases have not been reduced by minimum sublease rentals due in the future under
noncancelable subleases. As of December 31, 2004, minimum sub-lease rentals related to capital leases were $5.0 million and $3.0 million was related to operating leases.

The composition of rental expense for continuing operations for the years ended December 31 was as follows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Minimum rentals $ 14,786 $ 8,832 $ 10,195
Sublease rentals (1,647) (1,397) (1,321)
Net rental expense $ 13,139 $ 7,435 $ 8,874
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Depreciation of the assets under capital leases is included in depreciation expense in the consolidated statements of cash flows. The balance of leased assets as of December 31
was as follows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003

Buildings and building improvements $ 11,574 $ 11,574



Machinery and equipment 734 —

Total 12,308 11,574
Accumulated depreciation (7,100) (5,653)
Net assets under capital leases $ 5,208 $ 5,921

As of December 31, 2004, we had a $500.0 million commercial paper program in place. The daily average amount of commercial paper outstanding during 2004 was $344.7
million at a weighted-average interest rate of 1.59%. As of December 31, 2004, $264.0 million was outstanding at a weighted-average interest rate of 2.45%. The daily average
amount of commercial paper outstanding during 2003 was $149.4 million at a weighted-average interest rate of 1.15%. As of December 31, 2003, $213.3 million was outstanding at
a weighted-average interest rate of 1.11%.

During 2004, we also utilized a bridge financing agreement to initially fund a portion of the NEBS acquisition. The daily average amount outstanding under this bridge
financing agreement during 2004 was $62.3 million at a weighted-average interest rate of 2.07%. During the third quarter of 2004, we utilized commercial paper borrowings to pay-
off the bridge financing agreement. This agreement was terminated during the fourth quarter of 2004.

We also have committed lines of credit which primarily support our commercial paper program. We have a 364-day line of credit for $100.0 million which expires in July 2005
and carries a commitment fee of ten basis points (.10%). We also have two five-year lines of credit. One five-year line of credit is for $175.0 million and expires in August 2007.
The other line of credit is for $225.0 million and expires in July 2009. Both five-year lines of credit carry commitment fees of 12.5 basis points (.125%). The credit agreements
governing the lines of credit contain customary covenants regarding the ratio of earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) to interest expense and levels of subsidiary indebtedness.
No amounts were drawn on these lines of credit during 2004 or during 2003, and no amounts were outstanding under these lines of credit as of December 31, 2004.

To the extent not needed to support outstanding commercial paper or letters of credit, we may borrow funds under our committed lines of credit. As of December 31, 2004,
$232.0 million was available under our committed lines of credit for borrowing or for support of additional commercial paper, as follows (dollars in thousands):

Total available Expiration date
364-day line of credit $ 100,000 July 2005
Five year line of credit 175,000 August 2007
Five year line of credit 225,000 July 2009
Total committed lines of credit 500,000
Commercial paper outstanding (264,000)
Letters of credit outstanding (3,989)
Net available for borrowing as of
December 31, 2004 $ 232,011
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We also have an uncommitted bank line of credit for $50.0 million available at variable interest rates. No amounts were drawn on this line of credit during 2004 or during
2003, and no amounts were outstanding under this line of credit as of December 31, 2004.

Absent certain defined events of default under our committed credit facilities, there are no significant contractual restrictions on our ability to pay cash dividends.

Indemnifications — In the normal course of business we periodically enter into agreements that incorporate general indemnification language. These indemnifications
encompass such items as intellectual property rights, governmental regulations and/or employment-related matters. Performance under these indemnities would generally be
triggered by a breach of terms of the contract or by a third-party claim. There have historically been no material losses related to such indemnifications, and we do not expect any
material adverse claims in the future.

Environmental matters — We are currently involved in environmental compliance, investigation and remediation activities at some of our current and former sites, primarily
check printing facilities of our Financial Services segment which have been sold over the past several years. Remediation costs are accrued on an undiscounted basis when the
obligations are either known or considered probable and can be reasonably estimated. Remediation or testing costs that result directly from the sale of an asset, and which we would
not have otherwise incurred, are considered direct costs of the sale of the asset. As such, they are included in our assessment of the carrying value of the asset.

Accruals for environmental matters were $7.8 million as of December 31, 2004 and $7.7 million as of December 31, 2003, and primarily related to facilities which have been
sold. These accruals are included in accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. Accrued costs consist of direct costs of the remediation
activities, primarily fees which will be paid to outside engineering and consulting firms. Although recorded accruals include our best estimates, our total costs cannot be predicted
with certainty due to various factors such as the extent of corrective action that may be required, evolving environmental laws and regulations and advances in environmental
technology. Where the available information is sufficient to estimate the amount of the liability, that estimate is used. Where the information is only sufficient to establish a range of
probable liability and no point within the range is more likely than any other, the lower end of the range is used. We do not believe that the range of possible outcomes could have a
material effect on our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

As of December 31, 2004, all costs included in our environmental accruals are covered by an environmental insurance policy which we purchased during 2002. As such, we do
not anticipate any significant net cash outlays with regard to environmental matters. The insurance policy covers pre-existing conditions from third-party claims and cost overruns
for 30 years at owned, leased and divested sites, as well as any new conditions discovered at currently owned or leased sites for ten years. The policy is limited to total costs
incurred of $22.9 million. We consider the realization of recovery under the insurance policy to be probable based on the insurance contract in place with a reputable and
financially-sound insurance company. As we expect all costs included in our environmental accruals to be reimbursed by the insurance company and our environmental accruals
include our best estimates of these costs, we have recorded receivables from the insurance company within other current assets and other non-current assets in amounts equal to our
environmental accruals.



Litigation — We are a party to legal actions and claims arising in the ordinary course of business and have recorded SG&A expense within the appropriate business segment
when the expected outcome of these matters is either known or considered probable and can be reasonably estimated. Our accruals do not include related legal and other costs
expected to be incurred in defense of legal actions. Based upon information presently available, we believe that our accruals for these routine actions and claims are adequate.
Although recorded accruals include our best estimates, we cannot predict the resolution of these matters with certainty. We believe, however, that it is unlikely that any identified
matters, either individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on our annual results of operations, financial position or liquidity.
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Note 13: Common stock purchase rights

On February 5, 1988, we declared a distribution to shareholders of record on February 22, 1988, of one common stock purchase right for each outstanding share of common
stock. These rights were governed by the terms and conditions of a rights agreement entered into as of February 12, 1988. That agreement was amended and restated as of January
31, 1997 and further amended as of January 21, 2000 (Restated Agreement).

Pursuant to the Restated Agreement, upon the occurrence of certain events, each right will entitle the holder to purchase one share of common stock at an exercise price of
$150. In certain circumstances described in the Restated Agreement, if (i) any person becomes the beneficial owner of 15% or more of the company’s common stock, (ii) the
company is acquired in a merger or other business combination or (iii) upon the occurrence of other events, each right will entitle its holder to purchase a number of shares of
common stock of the company, or the acquirer or the surviving entity if the company is not the surviving corporation in such a transaction. The number of shares purchasable will
be equal to the exercise price of the right divided by 50% of the then-current market price of one share of common stock of the company, or other surviving entity (i.e., at a 50%
discount), subject to adjustments provided in the Restated Agreement. The rights expire January 31, 2007, and may be redeemed by the company at a price of $.01 per right at any
time prior to the occurrence of the circumstances described above.

Note 14: Shareholders’ deficit

We are in a shareholders’ deficit position primarily as a result of the required accounting treatment for our share repurchase programs. Share repurchases are reflected as
reductions of shareholders’ equity in the consolidated balance sheets. Under the laws of Minnesota, our state of incorporation, shares which we repurchase are considered to be
authorized and unissued shares. Thus, share repurchases are not presented as a separate treasury stock caption in our consolidated balance sheets, but are recorded as direct
reductions of additional paid-in capital and retained earnings.

In January 2001, our board of directors approved a plan to purchase up to 14 million shares of our common stock. These repurchases were completed in June 2002 at a cost of
$463.8 million. In August 2002, our board of directors approved the repurchase of an additional 12 million shares. These repurchases were completed in September 2003 at a cost of
$503.2 million. In August 2003, the board authorized the repurchase of up to 10 million additional shares of our common stock. Through December 31, 2004, 2.1 million of these
additional shares had been repurchased at a cost of $85.0 million.

Note 15: Business segment information

We operate three business segments: Small Business Services, Financial Services and Direct Checks. Our Small Business Services segment consists of the newly acquired
NEBS business (see Note 4), as well as our former Business Services segment. Small Business Services sells checks, forms and related products to small businesses and home
offices through direct response marketing, financial institution referrals, sales representatives, independent distributors and the Internet. Financial Services sells checks, related
products and check merchandising services to financial institutions. Direct Checks sells checks and related products directly to consumers through direct mail and the Internet. All
three segments operate primarily in the United States. Small Business Services also has operations in Canada. No single customer accounted for more than 10% of revenue in 2004,
2003 or 2002.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 1. Corporate expenses are allocated to our segments based on segment revenues. No corporate

expenses have been allocated to the NEBS portion of our Small Business Services segment, as NEBS operations have not yet been integrated into our corporate functions. The
corporate allocation includes
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expenses for various support activities such as executive management, human resources and finance and includes depreciation and amortization expense related to corporate assets.
The corresponding corporate asset balances are not allocated to the segments. Corporate assets consist primarily of cash, deferred tax assets, investments and internal-use software
related to corporate activities.

We are an integrated enterprise, characterized by substantial intersegment cooperation, cost allocations and the sharing of assets. Therefore, we do not represent that these
segments, if operated independently, would report the operating income and other financial information shown.

The following is our segment information for the years ended December 31 (dollars in thousands):

Reportable business segments

Small

Business Financial Direct
Services Services Checks Corporate Consolidated
Revenue from external customers: 2004 $ 616,345 $ 665,373 $ 285297 $ — $1,567,015
2003 238,625 699,250 304,266 — 1,242,141
2002 210,726 762,391 310,866 — 1,283,983
Operating income: 2004 101,910 159,986 86,016 — 347912
2003 74,123 146,711 98,087 — 318,921

2002 65,319 189,151 90,461 — 344,931



Depreciation and amortization expense: 2004 40,303 43,753 9,800 — 93,856

2003 5,588 46,028 8,466 — 60,082
2002 4,402 46,151 7,652 — 58,205
Total assets: 2004 995,460 224,637 135,739 143,243 1,499,079

2003 33,513 273,098 147,308 109,041 562,960
2002 36,542 282,617 140,023 209,791 668,973

Capital purchases: 2004 2,914 7,923 2,689 30,291 43,817
2003 1,749 10,697 3,323 6,265 22,034
2002 4,979 29,401 3,496 2,332 40,708

Revenue by product was as follows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Checks and related services $ 1,187,178 $ 1,108,880 $ 1,144,605
Other printed products 116,632 21,276 20,262
Accessories and promotional products 263,205 111,985 119,116
Total revenue $ 1,567,015 $ 1,242,141 $ 1,283,983

‘We had no international operations in 2003 or 2002. The following information for 2004 is classified based on the geographic location of our subsidiaries (dollars in
thousands):

Revenue from external customers:

United States $ 1,536,717
Foreign 30,298

Total revenue $ 1,567,015

Long-lived assets:

United States $ 1,239,471

Foreign 19,222

Total long-lived assets $ 1,258,693
DELUXE CORPORATION

SUMMARIZED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

2004 Quarter Ended
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
Revenue $ 308,832 $ 309,068 $  472,1990) $ 476,916
Gross profit 201,946 206,444 310,436(1) 312,240
Net income 47,662 45,988 57,505(1) 46,836
Earnings per share:
Basic 0.95 0.92 L.15(1) 0.93
Diluted 0.94 0.91 1.14(1) 0.92
Cash dividends per share 0.37 0.37 0.37 0.37
2003 Quarter Ended
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
Revenue $ 317,199 $ 309,556 § 314,869 $ 300,517
Gross profit 207,375 202,838 208,895 197,068
Net income 49,979 44,893 58,182(2) 39,418(3)
Earnings per share:
Basic 0.84 0.81 1.1002) 0.78(3)
Diluted 0.83 0.80 1.0902) 0.77@3)

Cash dividends per share 0.37 0.37 0.37 0.37



(1) 2004 third quarter results include revenue of $7.7 million from a contract buy-out, as well as a reduction in cost of goods sold of $2.2 million related to a change from the last-in, first-out method to the first-in, first-out method of
accounting for a portion of our inventories.

(2) 2003 third quarter results include the reversal of $7.3 million of previously established income tax reserves.

(3) 2003 fourth quarter results include asset impairment charges of $4.7 million related to manufacturing technologies and software investments and restructuring charges of $9.0 million related to the planned closing of two
Financial Services check printing facilities and reductions in other employees within Financial Services and our corporate support group. Results also include a curtailment gain of $4.0 million resulting from changes made to our
retiree health care plan.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Disclosure Controls and Procedures — As of the end of the period covered by this report (the Evaluation Date), we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with
the participation of management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls

and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the 1934 Act). Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and the
Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the Evaluation Date, our disclosure controls and
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procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the 1934 Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in applicable rules and forms.

Management s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting — The management of Deluxe Corporation is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate
internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004. In making this assessment, it used the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control — Integrated Framework. Based on this assessment we have concluded that, as of

December 31, 2004, our internal control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears herein.

Management has excluded New England Business Service, Inc. (NEBS) from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 because we

acquired NEBS in a purchase business combination during 2004. NEBS is a wholly-owned subsidiary whose total assets and total revenues represent 64.3% and 23.2%,
respectively, of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Item 9B. Other Information.

No change in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with our assessment during the quarter ended December 31, 2004, has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 will include NEBS.
PART III

Except where otherwise noted, the information required by Items 10 through 14 is incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement, to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission within 120 days of our fiscal year-end, with the exception of the executive officers section of Item 10, which is included in Part I, Item 1 of this report.

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.

See Part I, Item 1 of this report “Executive Officers of the Registrant.” The sections of the proxy statement entitled “Item 1: Election of Directors,” “Board Structure and
Governance—Audit Committee Expertise; Complaint Handling Procedures,” “Board Structure and Governance—Meetings and Committees of the Board of Directors—Audit
Committee,” “Stock Ownership and Reporting—Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” and "Board Structure and Governance—Code of Ethics and Business
Conduct” are incorporated by reference to this report.
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The full text of our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct (Code of Ethics) is posted on the Investor Relations page of our website at www.deluxe.com under the “Corporate
Governance” caption. We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 10 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of the Code of Ethics that



applies to the Company’s principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller or persons performing similar functions by posting such
information on our website at the address and location specified above.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The sections of the proxy statement entitled “Compensation of Executive Officers—Summary Compensation Table,” “Compensation of Executive Officers—Stock Options,”
“Compensation of Executive Officers—Long-Term Incentive Awards,” “Board Structure and Governance—Director Compensation” and “Compensation of Executive Officers—
Retention Agreements, Severance Agreements and Change of Control Arrangements” are incorporated by reference to this report.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The section of the proxy statement entitled “Stock Ownership and Reporting—Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” is incorporated by
reference to this report.

The following table provides information concerning all of our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2004:

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of
securities
‘Weighted- remaining
Number of average available for future
securities to be exercise issuance under
issued upon price of equity
exercise of di p ion
outstanding options, plans (excluding
options, warrants warrants securities reflected
Plan category and rights and rights in the first column)
Equity compensation plans
approved by shareholders 3,291,401(1) $  36.38(1) 9,483,303(2)
Equity compensation plans not
approved by shareholders None None None
Total 3,291,401 $ 3638 9,483,303

(1) Includes awards granted under our 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, and our previous stock incentive plan, adopted in 1994. The number
of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights includes outstanding stock options of 3,250,496 and restricted
stock unit awards of 40,905.

(2) Includes 4,719,979 shares reserved for issuance under our Amended and Restated 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Of this total, 3,282,967
shares remain available, in the aggregate, for grants of restricted stock, restricted stock units and performance awards under our 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.
Not applicable.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The sections of the proxy statement entitled “Fiscal Year 2004 Audit and Independent Auditors—Fees Paid to Independent Auditors” and “Fiscal Year 2004 Audit and
Independent Auditors—Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Independent Auditor Fees and Services” are incorporated by reference to this report.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Financial Statements and Schedules

The financial statements are set forth under Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Financial statement schedules have been omitted since they are either not required or
not applicable, or the required information is shown in the consolidated financial statements or notes.

(b) Exhibit Listing



The following exhibits are filed as part of or are incorporated in this report by reference:

Exhibit Number

1.1

2.1

3.1

32

4.1

42

43

Description

Purchase Agreement, dated September 28, 2004, by and among us and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. and Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC, as
representatives of the several initial purchasers listed in Schedule 1 of the Purchase Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on October 4, 2004)

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 17, 2004, by and among us, Hudson Acquisition Corporation and New England Business
Service, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit (d)(1) to the Deluxe Corporation Schedule TO-T filed with the Commission on May 25,
2004)

Articles of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1990)
Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1999)

Amended and Restated Rights Agreement, dated as of January 31, 1997, by and between us and Norwest Bank Minnesota, National Association,
as Rights Agent, which includes as Exhibit A thereto, the form of Rights Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No.
1 on Form 8-A/A-1 (File No. 001-07945) filed with the Commission on February 7, 1997)

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Rights Agreement, entered into as of January 21, 2000, between us and Norwest Bank Minnesota,
National Association as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2000)

First Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 4, 2002, by and between us and Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, N.A. (formerly, Norwest
Bank Minnesota, National Association), as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
December 5, 2002)

Method of Filing

*
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4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

10.1

10.2

Indenture, dated as of April 30, 2003, by and between us and Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, N.A. (formerly Norwest Bank Minnesota, National
Association), as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-104858) filed
with the Commission on April 30, 2003)

Credit Agreement dated as of August 19, 2002, among us, Bank One, N.A. as administrative agent, The Bank of New York as syndication agent,
Wachovia Bank, N.A. as documentation agent and the other financial institutions party thereto, related to a $175,000,000 5-year revolving credit
agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002)

Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of July 22, 2004 among us, Bank One, NA as administrative agent, Credit Suisse First Boston as
Syndication Agent, The Bank of New York, the Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi, Ltd., and Wachovia Bank, National Association as documentation
agents and the other financial institutions party thereto, related to a $100,000,000 364-day revolving credit agreement (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.8 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004)

Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of July 22, 2004 among us, Bank One, NA as administrative agent, Credit Suisse First Boston as
Syndication Agent, The Bank of New York, the Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi, Ltd., and Wachovia Bank, National Association as documentation
agents and the other financial institutions party thereto, related to a $225,000,000 5-year revolving credit agreement (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.9 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004)

Form of Officer's Certificate and Company Order authorizing the 2007 Notes, series B (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-120381) filed with the Commission on November 12, 2004)

Specimen of 3 1/2% senior notes due 2007, series B (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4
(Registration No. 333-120381) filed with the Commission on November 12, 2004)

Form of Officer's Certificate and Company Order authorizing the 2014 Notes, series B (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-120381) filed with the Commission on November 12, 2004)

Specimen of 5 1/8% notes due 2014, series B (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.10 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration
No. 333-120381) filed with the Commission on November 12, 2004)

Deluxe Corporation 2004 Annual Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2004)**

Deluxe Corporation 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, as Amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended June 30, 2002)**
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10.3

10.4

Amended and Restated 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2001)**

Deluxe Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan (2001 Restatement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001)**



10.5

First Amendment of the Deluxe Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan (2001 Restatement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the
Form S-8 filed January 7, 2002)**

10.6 Second Amendment to the Deluxe Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan (2001 Restatement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to *
the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002)**
10.7 Deluxe Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan Trust (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Form S-8 filed January 7, 2002)** *
10.8 Deluxe Corporation Executive Deferred Compensation Plan for Employee Retention and Other Eligible Arrangements (incorporated by *
reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000)**
10.9 Deluxe Corporation Supplemental Benefit Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit (10)(B) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year *
ended December 31, 1995)**
10.10 First Amendment to the Deluxe Corporation Supplemental Benefit Plan (2001 Restatement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the *
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001)**
10.11 Description of modification to the Deluxe Corporation Non-Employee Director Retirement and Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by *
reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997)**
10.12 Description of Non-employee Director Compensation Arrangements, effective as of January 1, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 *
to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on January 3, 2005)**
10.13 Form of Severance Agreement entered into between Deluxe and the following executive officers: Ronald E. Eilers, Anthony C. Scarfone, *
Richard L. Schulte, Douglas J. Treff, Warner F. Schlais, Guy C. Feltz, Katherine L. Miller, Stuart Alexander and Luann Widener (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000)**
10.14 Severance Agreement entered into effective March 1, 2001 between Deluxe and Lawrence J. Mosner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit *
10.18 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000)**
96
10.15 Executive Retention Agreement between Deluxe and Lawrence J. Mosner dated April 2, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the *
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001)**
10.16 Transition Agreement between Deluxe and Lawrence J. Mosner dated March 7, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current *
Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 10, 2005)**
10.17 Form of Executive Retention Agreement entered into between Deluxe and the following executive officers: Lawrence J. Mosner, Ronald E. *
Eilers, Anthony C. Scarfone, Richard L. Schulte, Douglas J. Treff, Warner F. Schlais, Guy C. Feltz and Luann Widener (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000)**
10.18 Form of Agreement for Awards Payable in Restricted Stock Units (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K *
filed with the Commission on January 28, 2005)**
10.19 Form of Non-employee Director Non-qualified Stock Option Agreement** Filed
herewith
10.20 Form of Non-employee Director Restricted Stock Award Agreement** Filed
herewith
10.21 Form of Non-qualified Stock Option Agreement** Filed
herewith
10.22 Form of Performance Award Agreement** Filed
herewith
10.23 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement** Filed
herewith
12.1 Statement re: Computation of Ratios Filed
herewith
21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant Filed
herewith
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Filed
herewith
24.1 Power of Attorney Filed
herewith
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31.1 CEO Certification of Periodic Report pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Filed

herewith
31.2 CFO Certification of Periodic Report pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Filed
herewith
32.1 CEO and CFO Certification of Periodic Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Furnished
herewith
*Incorporated by reference
**Denotes compensatory plan or management contract
Note to recipients of Form 10-K: Copies of exhibits will be furnished upon written request and payment of reasonable expenses in furnishing such copies.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

DELUXE CORPORATION
Date: March 16, 2005 By: /s/ Lawrence J. Mosner

Lawrence J. Mosner
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities
indicated on March 16, 2005.

Signature Title

By /s/ Lawrence J. Mosner Chief Executive Officer

Lawrence J. Mosner (Principal Executive Officer)

By /s/ Douglas J. Treff Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Douglas J. Treff (Principal Financial Officer)

By /s/ Katherine L. Miller Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer
Katherine L. Miller (Principal Accounting Officer)
-

Ronald E. Eilers Director

-

T. Michael Glenn Director

-

Charles A. Haggerty Director

-

Isaiah Harris, Jr Director

*

William A. Hawkins, I1I Director



*

Cheryl Mayberry McKissack Director
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sk
Stephen P. Nachtsheim Director
sk
Mary Ann O’Dwyer Director
L3
Martyn R. Redgrave Director
sk
Robert C. Salipante Director
*By: /s/ Lawrence J. Mosner
Lawrence J. Mosner
Attorney-in-Fact
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Act 0f 2002



32.1

CEO and CFO Certification of Periodic Report pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101



Exhibit 10.19

DELUXE
CORPORATION DIRECTOR NON-QUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
GRANTED TO
GRANT # OF DELUXE CORP OPTION PRICE SOCIAL
DATE COMMON SHARES PER SHARE SECURITY #
EXPIRATION DATE
GRANT

Deluxe Corporation (“Deluxe”) hereby grants to you the right to purchase the above stated number of shares of its common stock, par value $1.00 per share, at the price stated
above.

DURATION AND EXERCISABILITY

You may not exercise any portion of this Option prior to one year from the date of grant set forth above (the “Grant Date”), and the Option expires seven years after the Grant Date
(the “Expiration Date”). Commencing one year after the Grant Date you may exercise this Option in cumulative installments of 33-1/3 percent on and after the first, second, and
third anniversaries of the Grant Date. This entire Option will vest earlier and become exercisable upon your Qualified Retirement, Disability or Death, your termination without
Cause or, subject to the limitations provided herein, upon a Change of Control. “Qualified Retirement,” “Disability,” “Cause” and “Change of Control” are hereinafter defined.

RETIREMENT, DISABILITY, DEATH OR TERMINATION

Upon your Qualified Retirement, you will have three years from the date of your retirement to exercise this Option. If you die while serving as a Director, the representative of your
estate or your heirs will have one year from the date of your death to exercise this Option. If your service as a Director terminates due to Disability, you will have one year from the
date of your termination to exercise this Option. If your service as a Director is terminated without Cause by Deluxe or an Affiliate (as hereinafter defined), you will have three
months from the date of your termination to exercise this Option. If you resign or otherwise voluntarily terminate from service as a Director with Deluxe or an Affiliate, you will
have three months from the date of your termination to exercise this Option, to the extent the Option had vested as of your termination date. In no case, however, may this Option be
exercised after the Expiration Date. If your service as a Director with Deluxe or its Affiliates is terminated for Cause, the entire unexercised portion of this Option will be canceled
as of your last date of service.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This Option Agreement does not guarantee your continued service as a Director or, subject to the provisions of any other written agreement between you and Deluxe or its
Affiliates, alter the right of Deluxe or its Affiliates to terminate your service as a Director at any time. You have no rights in the shares subject to this Option until such shares are
received upon exercise of this Option. This Option is issued pursuant to the Deluxe Corporation 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (the “Plan”), and is subject to its terms. In
the event of any conflict between the provisions of the Plan and this Option Agreement, the provisions of the Plan shall prevail. Please refer to additional terms and conditions on
the attachment to this Option Agreement.

By your acceptance of this option award, you acknowledge receipt of a copy of the Prospectus for the Plan and your agreement to the terms and conditions of the Plan and this
Option Agreement.

DELUXE CORPORATION

By

Lawrence J. Mosner
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

RETAIN THIS DOCUMENT FOR YOUR RECORDS

NQSO DIR 2000-10 Ver. 3/04

ATTACHMENT TO
DIRECTOR NON-QUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

For the purposes hereof the terms used herein shall have the following meanings:

“Qualified Retirement” shall mean any voluntary or mandatory termination of service as a member of the Board of Directors of Deluxe Corporation on or after your
seventy-second (72"d) birthday or the twelfth anniversary of your initial election to the Board, or as otherwise mandated by the then current retirement, term limit or similar policies

of the Corporate Governance Committee of Deluxe’s Board of Directors.

“Disability” shall mean your permanent disability as defined by the provisions of the long term disability plan of Deluxe.

“Cause” shall mean:



1) You have breached your obligations of confidentiality to Deluxe or any of its Affiliates;

(i) You have otherwise failed to perform your duties and do not cure such failure within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice thereof;

(iit) You commit an act, or omit to take action, in bad faith which results in material detriment to Deluxe or any of its Affiliates;

(iv) You have had excessive absences unrelated to illness;

W) You have committed fraud, misappropriation, embezzlement or other act of dishonesty in connection with Deluxe or any of its Affiliates or its or their
businesses;

(vi) You have been convicted or have pleaded guilty or nolo contendere to criminal misconduct constituting a felony or a gross misdemeanor, which gross
misdemeanor involves a breach of ethics, moral turpitude, or immoral or other conduct reflecting adversely upon the reputation or interest of Deluxe or its
Affiliates;

(vii) Your use of narcotics, liquor or illicit drugs has had a detrimental effect on your performance of responsibilities; or
(viii) You are in material default under any agreement between you and Deluxe or any of its Affiliates following any applicable notice and cure period.

A “Change of Control” shall be deemed to have occurred if the conditions set forth in any one of the following paragraphs shall have been satisfied:

I any Person is or becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of Deluxe representing 20% or more of the combined voting power of
Deluxe’s then outstanding securities excluding, at the time of their original acquisition, from the calculation of securities beneficially owned by such Person,
any securities acquired directly from Deluxe or its Affiliates or in connection with a transaction described in clause (a) of paragraph IIT below; or

(I1) individuals who at the Grant Date constitute the Board and any new director (other than a director whose initial assumption of office is in connection with an
actual or threatened election contest, including but not limited to a consent solicitation, relating to the election of directors of Deluxe) whose appointment or
election by the Board or nomination for election by Deluxe’s shareholders was approved or recommended by a vote of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the directors
then still in office who either were directors at the Grant Date or whose appointment, election or nomination for election was previously so approved or
recommended, cease for any reason to constitute a majority thereof; or
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(1) there is consummated a merger or consolidation of Deluxe or any Affiliate with any other company, other than (a) a merger or consolidation which would
result in the voting securities of Deluxe outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted
into voting securities of the surviving entity or any parent thereof), in combination with the ownership of any trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under
an employee benefit plan of Deluxe or any Affiliate, at least 65% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of Deluxe or such surviving entity or
parent thereof outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation, or (b) a merger or consolidation effected to implement a recapitalization of Deluxe
(or similar transaction) in which no Person is or becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly of securities of Deluxe representing 20% or more of the
combined voting power of Deluxe’s then outstanding securities; or

(Iv) the shareholders of Deluxe approve a plan of complete liquidation of Deluxe or there is consummated an agreement for the sale or disposition by Deluxe of all
or substantially all Deluxe’s assets, other than a sale or disposition by Deluxe of all or substantially all of Deluxe’s assets to an entity, at least 65% of the
combined voting power of the voting securities of which are owned by shareholders of Deluxe in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of
Deluxe immediately prior to such sale.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a “Change in Control” shall not be deemed to have occurred by virtue of the consummation of any transaction or series of integrated
transactions immediately following which the record holders of the common stock of Deluxe immediately prior to such transaction or series of transactions continue to have
substantially the same proportionate ownership in an entity which owns all or substantially all of the assets of Deluxe immediately following such transaction or series of
transactions.

“Person” shall have the meaning defined in Sections 3(a)(9) and 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except that such term shall not include (i)
Deluxe or any of its subsidiaries, (ii) a trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of Deluxe or any of its Affiliates, (iii) an underwriter temporarily
holding securities pursuant to an offering of such securities, or (iv) a corporation owned, directly or indirectly, by the shareholders of Deluxe in substantially the same proportions as
their ownership of stock of Deluxe.

“Beneficial Owner” shall have the meaning defined in Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“Affiliate” shall mean a company controlled directly or indirectly by Deluxe, where “control” shall mean the right, either directly or indirectly, to elect a majority of the
directors thereof without the consent or acquiescence of any third party.

In the event that Deluxe is a party to a transaction which is otherwise intended to qualify for “pooling of interests” accounting treatment then (i) the Change of Control
provisions contained in this Option Agreement shall, to the extent practicable, be interpreted so as to permit such accounting treatment, and (ii) to the extent that the application of
clause (i) of this paragraph does not preserve the availability of such accounting treatment, then, Deluxe may modify or limit the effect of the provisions of this Option Agreement
relating to Change of Control to the extent necessary to qualify the transaction as a “pooling transaction” and provide you with benefits as nearly equivalent as possible to those you
would have received absent such modification or limitation, provided, however, to the extent that any of the Change of Control provisions of this Option Agreement would
disqualify the transaction as a “pooling” transaction and cannot otherwise be modified or limited, such provisions shall be null and void as of the date hereof. All determinations
under this paragraph shall be made by the accounting firm whose opinion with respect to “pooling of interests” is required as a condition to the consummation of such transaction.
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DELUXE
CORPORATION AGREEMENT AS TO AWARD OF RESTRICTED COMMON STOCK
AWARDED TO
AWARD NUMBER OF RESTRICTED COST OF SOCIAL
DATE STOCK SHARES AWARD SECURITY #
AWARD

Deluxe Corporation hereby awards to you the above stated number of restricted shares of its common stock, $1.00 par value per share.

RESTRICTIONS

This Award will be revoked, and the restricted shares subject hereto will be forfeited to Deluxe, if you cease to serve as a Director of Deluxe for any reason other than your
mandatory retirement prior to the lapse of the restrictions applicable to your shares. In the event of your mandatory retirement as a Director, all of the shares of restricted stock
awarded hereunder shall immediately vest in full. The restricted shares subject to this Award may not be sold, assigned, pledged or otherwise transferred prior to the lapse of the
restrictions thereon.

LAPSE OF RESTRICTIONS
The restrictions on your shares will lapse in installments of 33-1/3 percent following each of the next three annual meetings of the shareholders of Deluxe succeeding the Award
Date, provided that you continue as a Director of Deluxe following each such meeting.

ISSUANCE OF STATEMENTS

Upon the lapse of restrictions hereunder, shares of unrestricted common stock shall be credited to a book entry account maintained by Deluxe Corporation’s transfer agent on your
behalf. A statement reflecting your ownership of such unrestricted shares will be issued to you. If you prefer to receive certificates representing unrestricted shares, such certificates
will be issued upon written request to Deluxe Corporate Treasury.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

You will receive dividends on your restricted shares during the period that the restrictions imposed by this Agreement are in effect and you will have the right to vote the shares
subject hereto. This Award is issued pursuant to the Deluxe Corporation Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, (the “Plan”), and is subject to its terms. In the event of any conflict
between the provisions of the Plan and this Award Agreement, the provisions of the Plan shall prevail.

DELUXE CORPORATION

By

Lawrence J. Mosner
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

RETAIN THIS DOCUMENT FOR YOUR RECORDS
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GRANTED TO
GRANT # OF DELUXE CORP OPTION PRICE SOCIAL
DATE COMMON SHARES PER SHARE SECURITY #
EXPIRATION DATE
GRANT

Deluxe Corporation (“Deluxe”) hereby grants to you the right to purchase the above stated number of shares of its common stock, par value $1.00 per share, at the price stated
above.

DURATION AND EXERCISABILITY

You may not exercise any portion of this Option prior to one year from the date of grant set forth above (the “Grant Date”), and the Option expires seven years after the Grant Date
(the “Expiration Date””). Commencing one year after the Grant Date you may exercise this Option in cumulative installments of 33-1/3 percent on and after the first, second, and
third anniversaries of the Grant Date. This entire Option will vest earlier and become exercisable upon your Qualified Retirement, Disability or Death, your termination without
Cause or, subject to the limitations provided herein, upon a Change of Control. “Qualified Retirement,” “Disability,” “Cause” and “Change of Control” are hereinafter defined.

RETIREMENT, DISABILITY, DEATH OR TERMINATION

Upon your Qualified Retirement, you will have three years from the date of your retirement to exercise this Option. If you die while employed, the representative of your estate or
your heirs will have one year from the date of your death to exercise this Option. If your employment terminates due to Disability, you will have one year from the date of your
termination to exercise this Option. If your employment is terminated without Cause by Deluxe or an Affiliate (as hereinafter defined), you will have three months from the date of
your termination to exercise this Option. If you resign or otherwise voluntarily terminate your employment with Deluxe or an Affiliate, you will have three months from the date of
your termination to exercise this Option, to the extent the Option had vested as of your termination date. In no case, however, may this Option be exercised after the Expiration
Date. If your employment with Deluxe or its Affiliates is terminated for Cause, the entire unexercised portion of this Option will be canceled as of your last date of employment.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This Option Agreement does not guarantee your continued employment or, subject to the provisions of any other written agreement between you and Deluxe or its Affiliates, alter
the right of Deluxe or its Affiliates to terminate your employment at any time. You have no rights in the shares subject to this Option until such shares are received upon exercise of
this Option. This Option is issued pursuant to the Deluxe Corporation 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (the “Plan”), and is subject to its terms. In the event of any conflict
between the provisions of the Plan and this Option Agreement, the provisions of the Plan shall prevail. Please refer to additional terms and conditions on the attachment to this
Option Agreement.

By your acceptance of this option award, you acknowledge receipt of a copy of the Prospectus for the Plan and your agreement to the terms and conditions of the Plan and this
Option Agreement.

DELUXE CORPORATION
By /s/ Lawrence J. Mosner

Lawrence J. Mosner
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

RETAIN THIS DOCUMENT FOR YOUR RECORDS
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For the purposes hereof the terms used herein shall have the following meanings:

“Qualified Retirement” shall mean any voluntary termination of employment on or after the date on which the sum of your age and years of employment with Deluxe and/or its
Affiliates equals at least seventy-five (75), provided you have at least twenty (20) years of employment with Deluxe and/or its Affiliates, or any other termination of employment
that the Compensation Committee of Deluxe’s Board of Directors shall determine qualifies as a qualified retirement.

“Disability” shall mean your permanent disability as defined by the provisions of the long term disability plan of Deluxe or any Affiliate by which you are employed at the time of
such disability. In the event that any such Affiliate does not have a long term disability plan in effect at such time, you shall be deemed disabled for the purposes hereof if you would
have qualified for long term disability payments under Deluxe’s long term disability plan had you then been an employee of Deluxe.

“Cause” shall mean:

1) You have breached your obligations of confidentiality to Deluxe or any of its Affiliates;

(ii) You have otherwise failed to perform your employment duties and do not cure such failure within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice thereof;



(iii) You commit an act, or omit to take action, in bad faith which results in material detriment to Deluxe or any of its Affiliates;

@iv) You have had excessive absences unrelated to illness or vacation (“excessive” shall be defined in accordance with local employment customs);

) You have committed fraud, misappropriation, embezzlement or other act of dishonesty in connection with Deluxe or any of its Affiliates or its or their businesses;

(vi) You have been convicted or have pleaded guilty or nolo contendere to criminal misconduct constituting a felony or a gross misdemeanor, which gross
misdemeanor involves a breach of ethics, moral turpitude, or immoral or other conduct reflecting adversely upon the reputation or interest of Deluxe or its
Affiliates;

(vii) Your use of narcotics, liquor or illicit drugs has had a detrimental effect on your performance of employment responsibilities; or

(viii) You are in material default under any agreement between you and Deluxe or any of its Affiliates following any applicable notice and cure period.

A “Change of Control” shall be deemed to have occurred if the conditions set forth in any one of the following paragraphs shall have been satisfied:
1) any Person is or becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of Deluxe representing 20% or more of the combined voting power of Deluxe's
then outstanding securities excluding, at the time of their original acquisition, from the calculation of securities beneficially owned by such Person, any securities

acquired directly from Deluxe or its Affiliates or in connection with a transaction described in clause (a) of paragraph III below; or
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n individuals who at the Grant Date constitute the Board and any new director (other than a director whose initial assumption of office is in connection with an
actual or threatened election contest, including but not limited to a consent solicitation, relating to the election of directors of Deluxe) whose appointment or
election by the Board or nomination for election by Deluxe's shareholders was approved or recommended by a vote of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the directors
then still in office who either were directors at the Grant Date or whose appointment, election or nomination for election was previously so approved or
recommended, cease for any reason to constitute a majority thereof; or

(1) there is consummated a merger or consolidation of Deluxe or any Affiliate with any other company, other than (a) a merger or consolidation which would result
in the voting securities of Deluxe outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into
voting securities of the surviving entity or any parent thereof), in combination with the ownership of any trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under an
employee benefit plan of Deluxe or any Affiliate, at least 65% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of Deluxe or such surviving entity or parent
thereof outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation, or (b) a merger or consolidation effected to implement a recapitalization of Deluxe (or
similar transaction) in which no Person is or becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly of securities of Deluxe representing 20% or more of the
combined voting power of Deluxe's then outstanding securities; or

av) the shareholders of Deluxe approve a plan of complete liquidation of Deluxe or there is consummated an agreement for the sale or disposition by Deluxe of all or
substantially all Deluxe’s assets, other than a sale or disposition by Deluxe of all or substantially all of Deluxe's assets to an entity, at least 65% of the combined
voting power of the voting securities of which are owned by shareholders of Deluxe in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of Deluxe
immediately prior to such sale.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a “Change in Control” shall not be deemed to have occurred by virtue of the consummation of any transaction or series of integrated transactions
immediately following which the record holders of the common stock of Deluxe immediately prior to such transaction or series of transactions continue to have substantially the
same proportionate ownership in an entity which owns all or substantially all of the assets of Deluxe immediately following such transaction or series of transactions.

“Person” shall have the meaning defined in Sections 3(a)(9) and 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except that such term shall not include (i) Deluxe or any
of its subsidiaries, (ii) a trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of Deluxe or any of its Affiliates, (iii) an underwriter temporarily holding
securities pursuant to an offering of such securities, or (iv) a corporation owned, directly or indirectly, by the shareholders of Deluxe in substantially the same proportions as their
ownership of stock of Deluxe.

“Beneficial Owner” shall have the meaning defined in Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“Affiliate” shall mean a company controlled directly or indirectly by Deluxe, where “control” shall mean the right, either directly or indirectly, to elect a majority of the directors
thereof without the consent or acquiescence of any third party.

In the event that Deluxe is a party to a transaction which is otherwise intended to qualify for “pooling of interests” accounting treatment then (i) the Change of Control provisions
contained in this Option Agreement shall, to the extent practicable, be interpreted so as to permit such accounting treatment, and (ii) to the extent that the application of clause (i) of
this paragraph does not preserve the availability of such accounting treatment, then, Deluxe may modify or limit the effect of the provisions of this Option Agreement relating to
Change of Control to the extent necessary to qualify the transaction as a “pooling transaction” and provide you with benefits as nearly equivalent as possible to those you would
have received absent such modification or limitation, provided, however, to the extent that any of the Change of Control provisions of this Option Agreement would disqualify the
transaction as a “pooling” transaction and cannot otherwise be modified or limited, such provisions shall be null and void as of the date hereof. All determinations under this
paragraph shall be made by the accounting firm whose opinion with respect to “pooling of interests” is required as a condition to the consummation of such transaction.
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DELUXE
CORPORATION PERFORMANCE AWARD AGREEMENT
AWARD NUMER OF PERFORMANCE SOCIAL SECURITY
AWARDED TO DATE AWARD SHARES NUMBER

10.

11.

The Award. Deluxe Corporation, a Minnesota corporation (“Deluxe”) hereby grants to you as of the above Award Date the right to receive the above number of Performance
Award Shares (the “Performance Shares”) on the terms and conditions contained in this Performance Award Agreement (this “Agreement”) and in the Deluxe Corporation
2000 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (the “Plan”).

Performance Period. The performance period for purposes of determining whether the Performance Shares will be paid shall be the three-year period commencing on
January 1 of the year in which this Award was granted (the ‘“Performance Period”).

Performance Goals. The performance goals for purposes of determining whether the Performance Shares will be paid are set forth in the attached Performance Goals
Schedule.

Payment. The Performance Shares shall be paid if and to the extent that the Threshold, Target or Maximum performance level of the performance goals is achieved, as set
forth in the attached Performance Goals Schedule and as determined by the Compensation Committee of Deluxe’s Board of Directors (the “Committee”) in its sole discretion
after the end of the Performance Period.

Form and Timing of Payment. Any Performance Shares payable pursuant to this Agreement shall be paid in shares of common stock, par value $1.00 per share, of Deluxe
(the “Shares”), with one Share issued for each Performance Share earned. Payment of the Performance Shares shall be made as soon as practicable after the Committee
determines, in its sole discretion after the end of the Performance Period, whether and to what extent the performance goals have been achieved.

Dividend Equivalents. You shall be entitled to receive a cash payment after the end of the Performance Period equal to the amount of cash dividends that would have been
paid during the Performance Period on the number of Shares earned and paid pursuant to Section 5 of this Agreement, less any applicable tax withholding amounts.

Restrictions on Transfer. The Performance Shares, and the right to receive the Shares and any dividend equivalent payments, may not be sold, assigned, transferred or
pledged, other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution, and any such attempted transfer shall be void.

Forfeiture. In the event your employment is terminated during the Performance Period, the Performance Shares and your rights to the Shares shall be immediately and
irrevocably forfeited, unless your termination occurs on or after the one-year anniversary of commencement of the Performance Period and is by reason of (a) involuntary
termination without Cause, (b) death, (c) Disability, or (d) Qualified Retirement (as those capitalized terms are defined in the Addendum to this Agreement).

In the event your employment is terminated on or after the one-year anniversary of commencement of the Performance Period and prior to the end of the Performance Period
by reason of involuntary termination without Cause, death, Disability or Qualified Retirement, you or your estate shall be entitled to receive a pro-rata payout of the
Performance Shares after the end of the Performance Period to the extent that the Threshold, Target or Maximum performance level of the performance goals is achieved, as
set forth in the attached Performance Goals Schedule and as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion. In the event of a Change in Control (as defined in the
Addendum to this Agreement) prior to the end of the Performance Period, you shall be entitled to receive a pro-rata payment of the Performance Shares for the portion of the
Performance Period up until the date of the Change in Control, based on an assumption that the performance goals have been achieved at Target level, as set forth in the
attached Performance Goals Schedule, and such payment shall be made promptly following the Change in Control.

No Rights as Shareholder. You shall not have any rights of a shareholder of Deluxe common stock unless and until the Shares are actually issued to you after the end of the
Performance Period as provided in this Agreement.

Income Taxes. You are liable for any federal and state income or other taxes applicable upon the receipt of the Shares or subsequent disposition of the Shares, and you
acknowledge that you should consult with your own tax advisor regarding the applicable tax consequences. Upon issuance of the Shares by Deluxe, you shall promptly pay to
Deluxe in cash, or in previously acquired shares of Deluxe common stock having a fair market value equal to the amount of, all applicable taxes required by Deluxe to be
withheld or collected upon such issuance of the Shares. In the alternative, prior to the end of the Performance Period, you may direct Deluxe to withhold from the Shares the
number of Shares having a fair market value equal to the amount of all applicable taxes required by Deluxe to be withheld upon issuance of the Shares.

Terms and Conditions. This Agreement does not guarantee your continued employment or alter the right of Deluxe or its affiliates to terminate your employment at any
time. This Award is granted pursuant to the Plan and is subject to its terms. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Agreement and the Plan, the provisions
of the Plan shall govern.

DELUXE CORPORATION

By

ADDENDUM TO
PERFORMANCE AWARD AGREEMENT

For the purposes hereof the terms used herein shall have the following meanings:

“Qualified Retirement” shall mean any termination of employment that the Compensation Committee of Deluxe’s Board of Directors approves as a qualified retirement.

“Disability” shall mean your permanent disability as defined by the provisions of the long term disability plan of Deluxe or any Affiliate by which you are employed at the time of
such disability. In the event that any such Affiliate does not have a long term disability plan in effect at such time, you shall be deemed disabled for the purposes hereof if you would
have qualified for long term disability payments under Deluxe’s long term disability plan had you then been an employee of Deluxe.



“Cause” shall mean:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

You have breached your obligations of confidentiality to Deluxe or any of its Affiliates;

You have otherwise failed to perform your employment duties and do not cure such failure within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice thereof;
You commit an act, or omit to take action, in bad faith which results in material detriment to Deluxe or any of its Affiliates;

You have had excessive absences unrelated to illness or vacation (“excessive” shall be defined in accordance with local employment customs);

You have committed fraud, misappropriation, embezzlement or other act of dishonesty in connection with Deluxe or any of its Affiliates or its or their
businesses;

You have been convicted or have pleaded guilty or nolo contendere to criminal misconduct constituting a felony or a gross misdemeanor, which gross
misdemeanor involves a breach of ethics, moral turpitude, or immoral or other conduct reflecting adversely upon the reputation or interest of Deluxe or its
Affiliates;

Your use of narcotics, liquor or illicit drugs has had a detrimental effect on your performance of employment responsibilities; or

You are in material default under any agreement between you and Deluxe or any of its Affiliates following any applicable notice and cure period.

A “Change of Control” shall be deemed to have occurred if the conditions set forth in any one of the following paragraphs shall have been satisfied:

@

)
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any Person is or becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of Deluxe representing 20% or more of the combined voting power of
Deluxe’s then outstanding securities excluding, at the time of their original acquisition, from the calculation of securities beneficially owned by such Person,
any securities acquired directly from Deluxe or its Affiliates or in connection with a transaction described in clause (a) of paragraph IIT below; or

individuals who at the Grant Date constitute the Board and any new director (other than a director whose initial assumption of office is in connection with an
actual or threatened election contest, including but not limited to a consent solicitation, relating to the election of directors of Deluxe) whose appointment or
election by the Board or nomination for election by Deluxe’s shareholders was approved or recommended by a vote of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the directors
then still in office who either were directors at the Grant Date or whose appointment, election or nomination for election was previously so approved or
recommended, cease for any reason to constitute a majority thereof; or

(1)

av)
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there is consummated a merger or consolidation of Deluxe or any Affiliate with any other company, other than (a) a merger or consolidation which would
result in the voting securities of Deluxe outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted
into voting securities of the surviving entity or any parent thereof), in combination with the ownership of any trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under
an employee benefit plan of Deluxe or any Affiliate, at least 65% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of Deluxe or such surviving entity or
parent thereof outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation, or (b) a merger or consolidation effected to implement a recapitalization of Deluxe
(or similar transaction) in which no Person is or becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly of securities of Deluxe representing 20% or more of the
combined voting power of Deluxe’s then outstanding securities; or

the shareholders of Deluxe approve a plan of complete liquidation of Deluxe or there is consummated an agreement for the sale or disposition by Deluxe of all
or substantially all Deluxe’s assets, other than a sale or disposition by Deluxe of all or substantially all of Deluxe’s assets to an entity, at least 65% of the
combined voting power of the voting securities of which are owned by shareholders of Deluxe in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of
Deluxe immediately prior to such sale.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a “Change in Control” shall not be deemed to have occurred by virtue of the consummation of any transaction or series of integrated transactions
immediately following which the record holders of the common stock of Deluxe immediately prior to such transaction or series of transactions continue to have substantially the
same proportionate ownership in an entity which owns all or substantially all of the assets of Deluxe immediately following such transaction or series of transactions.

“Person” shall have the meaning defined in Sections 3(a)(9) and 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except that such term shall not include (i) Deluxe or any
of its subsidiaries, (ii) a trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of Deluxe or any of its Affiliates, (iii) an underwriter temporarily holding
securities pursuant to an offering of such securities, or (iv) a corporation owned, directly or indirectly, by the shareholders of Deluxe in substantially the same proportions as their
ownership of stock of Deluxe.

“Beneficial Owner” shall have the meaning defined in Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“Affiliate” shall mean a company controlled directly or indirectly by Deluxe, where “control” shall mean the right, either directly or indirectly, to elect a majority of the directors
thereof without the consent or acquiescence of any third party.
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DELUXE
CORPORATION RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD AGREEMENT
AWARD NUMER OF SHARES OF MARKET PRICE ON SOCIAL SECURITY
AWARDED TO DATE RESTRICTED STOCK DATE OF AWARD NUMBER

The Award. Deluxe Corporation, a Minnesota corporation (“Deluxe”), hereby grants to you as of the above Award Date the above number of restricted shares of Deluxe
common stock, par value $1.00 per share (the “Shares”) on the terms and conditions contained in this Restricted Stock Award Agreement (this “Agreement”) and the Deluxe
Corporation 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (the “Plan”).

Restricted Period. The Shares are subject to the restrictions contained in this Agreement and the Plan for a period (the “Restricted Period”) commencing on the Award Date
and ending on the third anniversary of the Award Date, subject to the provisions of Section 4 below.

Restrictions. The Shares shall be subject to the following restrictions during the Restricted Period:

(a)  The Shares shall be subject to forfeiture to Deluxe as provided in this Agreement and the Plan.

(b) The Shares may not be sold, assigned, transferred or pledged during the Restricted Period. You may not transfer the right to receive the Shares, other than by will or the
laws of descent and distribution, and any such attempted transfer shall be void.

(c) The Shares will be issued in your name, either by book-entry registration or issuance of a stock certificate, which certificate will be held by Deluxe. If any certificate is
issued, the certificate will bear an appropriate legend referring to the restrictions applicable to the Shares.

(d) Any stock dividends or other non-cash distributions paid on the Shares during the Restricted Period shall be held by Deluxe until the end of the Restricted Period, at
which time Deluxe will pay you all such dividends and other distributions, less any applicable tax withholding amounts. If the Shares are forfeited as described in
Section 4 of this Agreement, then all rights to such payments shall also be forfeited.

Forfeiture/Acceleration. In the event your employment is terminated prior to the third anniversary of the Award Date, your rights to all of the Shares shall be immediately
and irrevocably forfeited, unless your termination is by reason of (a) involuntary termination without Cause, (b) death, (c) Disability, or (d) Qualified Retirement (as those
capitalized terms are defined in the Addendum to this Agreement).

In the event your employment is terminated by reason of death, Disability or Qualified Retirement prior to the third anniversary of the Award Date, the restrictions with respect
to all of the Shares shall lapse and the Shares shall become non-forfeitable and transferable as of the date of such termination. In the event your employment is terminated
during the Restricted Period by reason of involuntary termination without Cause, a pro-rata portion of the Shares shall vest and become non-forfeitable and transferable as of
the date of such termination. In the event of a Change in Control (as defined in the Addendum to this Agreement) during the Restricted Period, a pro-rata portion of the Shares
shall vest and become non-forfeitable and transferable as of the date of the Change in Control.

Rights. Upon issuance of the Shares, you shall, subject to the restrictions of this Agreement and the Plan, have all of the rights of a shareholder with respect to the Shares,
including the right to vote the Shares and receive any cash dividends and any other distributions thereon, unless and until the Shares are forfeited. Cash dividends will be paid
to you at the time such dividends are paid on shares of Deluxe common stock, less any applicable tax withholding amounts, and may, at Deluxe’s discretion, be paid through
its normal payroll process.

Income Taxes. You are liable for any federal and state income or other taxes applicable upon the grant of the Restricted Stock if you make an election under Section 83(b) of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, within 30 days of the date of grant, or upon the lapse of the restrictions on the Shares, and the subsequent disposition of the
Shares, and you acknowledge that you should consult with your own tax advisor regarding the applicable tax consequences. Upon the lapse of the restrictions on the Shares,
you shall promptly pay to Deluxe in cash, or in previously acquired shares of Deluxe common stock having a fair market value equal to the amount of, all applicable taxes
required by Deluxe to be withheld or collected upon the lapse of the restrictions on the Shares. In the alternative, prior to the end of the Restricted Period, you may direct
Deluxe to withhold from the Shares the number of Shares having a fair market value equal to the amount of all applicable taxes required by Deluxe to be withheld upon the
lapse of the restrictions on the Shares.

Terms and Conditions. This Agreement does not guarantee your continued employment or alter the right of Deluxe or its affiliates to terminate your employment at any
time. This Award is granted pursuant to the Plan and is subject to its terms. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Agreement and the Plan, the provisions
of the Plan shall govern.

DELUXE CORPORATION

By

ADDENDUM TO
RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD AGREEMENT

For the purposes hereof the terms used herein shall have the following meanings:

“Qualified Retirement” shall mean any termination of employment that the Compensation Committee of Deluxe’s Board of Directors approves as a qualified retirement.

“Disability” shall mean your permanent disability as defined by the provisions of the long term disability plan of Deluxe or any Affiliate by which you are employed at the time of
such disability. In the event that any such Affiliate does not have a long term disability plan in effect at such time, you shall be deemed disabled for the purposes hereof if you would

have qualified for long term disability payments under Deluxe’s long term disability plan had you then been an employee of Deluxe.

“Cause” shall mean:

@) You have breached your obligations of confidentiality to Deluxe or any of its Affiliates;



(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

You have otherwise failed to perform your employment duties and do not cure such failure within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice thereof;
You commit an act, or omit to take action, in bad faith which results in material detriment to Deluxe or any of its Affiliates;
You have had excessive absences unrelated to illness or vacation (“excessive” shall be defined in accordance with local employment customs);

You have committed fraud, misappropriation, embezzlement or other act of dishonesty in connection with Deluxe or any of its Affiliates or its or their
businesses;

You have been convicted or have pleaded guilty or nolo contendere to criminal misconduct constituting a felony or a gross misdemeanor, which gross
misdemeanor involves a breach of ethics, moral turpitude, or immoral or other conduct reflecting adversely upon the reputation or interest of Deluxe or its
Affiliates;

Your use of narcotics, liquor or illicit drugs has had a detrimental effect on your performance of employment responsibilities; or

You are in material default under any agreement between you and Deluxe or any of its Affiliates following any applicable notice and cure period.

A “Change of Control” shall be deemed to have occurred if the conditions set forth in any one of the following paragraphs shall have been satisfied:
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any Person is or becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of Deluxe representing 20% or more of the combined voting power of
Deluxe’s then outstanding securities excluding, at the time of their original acquisition, from the calculation of securities beneficially owned by such Person,
any securities acquired directly from Deluxe or its Affiliates or in connection with a transaction described in clause (a) of paragraph IIT below; or

individuals who at the Grant Date constitute the Board and any new director (other than a director whose initial assumption of office is in connection with an
actual or threatened election contest, including but not limited to a consent solicitation, relating to the election of directors of Deluxe) whose appointment or
election by the Board or nomination for election by Deluxe’s shareholders was approved or recommended by a vote of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the directors
then still in office who either were directors at the Grant Date or whose appointment, election or nomination for election was previously so approved or
recommended, cease for any reason to constitute a majority thereof; or

(1)

av)

ADDENDUM TO
RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD AGREEMENT

there is consummated a merger or consolidation of Deluxe or any Affiliate with any other company, other than (a) a merger or consolidation which would
result in the voting securities of Deluxe outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted
into voting securities of the surviving entity or any parent thereof), in combination with the ownership of any trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under
an employee benefit plan of Deluxe or any Affiliate, at least 65% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of Deluxe or such surviving entity or
parent thereof outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation, or (b) a merger or consolidation effected to implement a recapitalization of Deluxe
(or similar transaction) in which no Person is or becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly of securities of Deluxe representing 20% or more of the
combined voting power of Deluxe’s then outstanding securities; or

the shareholders of Deluxe approve a plan of complete liquidation of Deluxe or there is consummated an agreement for the sale or disposition by Deluxe of all
or substantially all Deluxe’s assets, other than a sale or disposition by Deluxe of all or substantially all of Deluxe’s assets to an entity, at least 65% of the
combined voting power of the voting securities of which are owned by shareholders of Deluxe in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of
Deluxe immediately prior to such sale.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a “Change in Control” shall not be deemed to have occurred by virtue of the consummation of any transaction or series of integrated transactions
immediately following which the record holders of the common stock of Deluxe immediately prior to such transaction or series of transactions continue to have substantially the
same proportionate ownership in an entity which owns all or substantially all of the assets of Deluxe immediately following such transaction or series of transactions.

“Person” shall have the meaning defined in Sections 3(a)(9) and 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except that such term shall not include (i) Deluxe or any
of its subsidiaries, (ii) a trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of Deluxe or any of its Affiliates, (iii) an underwriter temporarily holding
securities pursuant to an offering of such securities, or (iv) a corporation owned, directly or indirectly, by the shareholders of Deluxe in substantially the same proportions as their
ownership of stock of Deluxe.

“Beneficial Owner” shall have the meaning defined in Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“Affiliate” shall mean a company controlled directly or indirectly by Deluxe, where “control” shall mean the right, either directly or indirectly, to elect a majority of the directors
thereof without the consent or acquiescence of any third party.
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Exhibit 12.1

Deluxe Corporation
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Earnings:
Income from continuing operations before

income taxes $ 316,873 $ 299,380 $ 340,722 $ 297,534 $ 273,429 $ 322,582
Interest expense (excluding capitalized interest) 32,851 19,241 5,079 5,691 11,900 8,852
Portion of rent expense under long-term operating

leases representative of an interest factor 4,929 2,478 3,058 3,540 3,520 7,728
Total earnings $ 354,653 $ 321,099 $ 348,859 $ 306,765 $ 288,849 $ 339,162
Fixed charges:
Interest expense (including capitalized interest) $ 33,299 $ 19,241 $ 5,139 $ 5,691 $ 11,900 $ 9,925
Portion of rent expense under long-term operating

leases representative of an interest factor 4,929 2,478 3,058 3,540 3,520 7,728
Total fixed charges $ 38,228 $ 21,719 $ 8,197 $ 9,231 $ 15,420 $ 17,653

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 9.3 14.8 42.6 33.2 18.7 19.2




Chiswick, Inc. (Massachusetts)

Designer Checks, Inc. (Alabama)

Direct Checks Unlimited, LLC (Colorado)

Deluxe Financial Services, Inc. (Minnesota)

Deluxe Financial Services Texas, L.P. (Texas)
Deluxe Mexicana S.A. de C.V. (Mexico) (50% owned)
DGBS (UK) Forms Limited (United Kingdom)
DGBS (UK) Holdings Limited (United Kingdom)
DLX Check Printers, Inc. (Minnesota)

DLX Check Texas, Inc. (Minnesota)

McBee Systems, Inc. (Colorado)

NEBS Business Products Limited (Canada)

NEBS Business Stationery Limited (United Kingdom)
NEBS Capital (Canada)

NEBS Payroll Service Limited (Canada)

New England Business Services, Inc. (Delaware)
Paper Payment Services, LLC (Minnesota)

Plaid Moon, Inc. (Minnesota)

PremiumWear, Inc. (Delaware)

PPS Holding Company, Inc. (Minnesota)

PPS Services 1, Inc. (Minnesota)

PPS Services 2, Inc. (Minnesota)

Rapidforms, Inc. (New Jersey)

Russell & Miller, Inc. (Delaware)

Safeguard Business Systems, Inc. (Delaware)
Safeguard Business Systems Limited (Canada)
Shirlite Limited (United Kingdom)

Sigma Afterprint Services Limited (United Kingdom)
Stephen Fossler Company (Delaware)

VeriPack, Inc. (Delaware)

DELUXE CORPORATION SUBSIDIARIES
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in each Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 33-53585, 333-03265, 333-95739, 333-
52452, 333-52454 and 333-89532) and on Form S-3 (No. 333-104858) of Deluxe Corporation of our report dated March 16, 2005 relating to
the financial statements, management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 16, 2005




Exhibit 24.1

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each of the undersigned directors and officers of DELUXE CORPORATION, a Minnesota corporation, hereby
constitutes and appoints Lawrence J. Mosner, Douglas J. Treff and Katherine L. Miller his true and lawful
attorneys-in-fact, and each of them, with full power to act without the other, to sign the Company’s annual report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, and any and all amendments to such report, and to file the
same and any such amendment, with any exhibits, and any other documents required in connection with such
filing, with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Date
/s/ Lawrence J. Mosner 2/16/05
Lawrence J. Mosner, Director and
Principal Executive Officer
/s/ Douglas J. Treff 2/16/05
Douglas J. Treff,
Principal Financial Officer
/s/ Katherine L. Miller 2/16/05
Katherine L. Miller,
Principal Accounting Officer
/s/ Ronald E. Eilers 2/16/05
Ronald E. Eilers, Director
/s/ T. Michael Glenn 2/16/05
T. Michael Glenn, Director
/s/ Charles A. Haggerty 2/16/05
Charles A. Haggerty, Director
/s/ Isaiah Harris, Jr. 2/16/05
Isaiah Harris, Jr., Director
/s/ William A. Hawkins, III 2/16/05
William A. Hawkins, III, Director
/s/ Cheryl Mayberry McKissack 2/16/05
Cheryl Mayberry McKissack, Director
/s/ Stephen P. Nachtsheim 2/16/05
Stephen P. Nachtsheim, Director
/s/ Mary Ann O’Dwyer 2/16/05
Mary Ann O’Dwyer, Director
/s/ Martyn R. Redgrave 2/16/05

Martyn R. Redgrave, Director



/s/ Robert C. Salipante 2/16/05

Robert C. Salipante, Director




CEO CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Lawrence J. Mosner, Chief Executive Officer of Deluxe Corporation, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Deluxe Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case
of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,

process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2005 /s/ Lawrence J. Mosner

Lawrence J. Mosner
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.1




Exhibit 31.2

CFO CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Douglas J. Treff, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Deluxe Corporation, certify that:
1. Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Deluxe Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case
of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2005 /s/ Douglas J. Treff

Douglas J. Treff
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1
CEO AND CFO CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT

We, Lawrence J. Mosner, Chief Executive Officer of Deluxe Corporation (the “Company”), and Douglas J. Treff,
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2004 (the “Report”) fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C.
78m or 780(d)); and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 16, 2005 /s/ Lawrence J. Mosner

Lawrence J. Mosner
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Douglas J. Treff

Douglas J. Treff
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Deluxe Corporation and
will be retained by Deluxe Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon
request.




